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Financial Highlights
52

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—#+_fF=+—HILFE

Revenue Revenue by Business Segments
EHER (Hkgooo Fit7t) REK D BEID 2 WE DA (% BRL)
Hotel O ti P rty M: t Catering M it
[} @ogﬂéera on | ] %rc;%é lanagemen [ | éﬁ;\g% anagemen
100,000 100 — 473% PB48.1% [0.1% W@545% [ 5-0%
© © & ' ' ' 57.4%
g |5 g
80,000 — S N N a 80 —
3
o
60,000 — - e 60 — 50.9%
00
@ 52.7% 51.9%
@® 45.5%
_ 20—
40,000 1
20,000 — 20 —
,. n - - | o
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Revenue by Geographical Regions Loss Attributable to Equity Shareholders of the Company
Rit B2 M8 Dz WD EATEERREGERER (HK$'000 F 5 7T)
PRC Canad.
e WO
100 — 52.7% [ 519% | 1599% [ 455% | 142.6% (28,348)
O 2022
80 — (20,940)
1 2021
60 — 0 (78,780)
54.5% | >7-4% B 2020
47.3% 48.1%
40 40.1% (30,444)
9 2019
20 — (21,820)
1 2018
0 — 1 1 1 1 1
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 -80,000 60,000 -40,000 -20,000 0

Basic Loss per Share (including both continuing and discontinued operations)

BREXNEE (EESELERCARIELREE) (HKcents i)

(2.59) " 2022

(1.92) 1 2021
(8.52) Bl 2020
(4.00) 3 2019
@.11) 7 2018
12 10 8 6 4 2 0

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED BRERIREEERERAT



Financial Highlights

MG E

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

Note 2022 2021 % Change
B 5T —E-C —EF=— gEE O
(restated)
(&%)
Results E
HK$'000 FHET
Revenue g %5 96,055 77,700 23.6%
Loss before income tax from R BB K & 2%
continuing operations HIBR BT 1S L A
B8 (28,313) (24,728) N/A3E
Loss for the year attributable ~ AREEAR QG ER
to equity shareholders Sy
of the Company (28,348) (20,940) N/A 3 A
Assets and Liabilities EEHEE
HK$’000 FHET
Total assets wEE 137,311 181,709 (24.4%)
Total liabilities BaE 152,177 165,435 (8.0%)
Shareholders’ equity IR R = (14,866) 16,274 N/AZ 3 A
Per share data BREE
HK cents A
Basic loss HAEE (2.59) (1.92) (34.9%)
Diluted loss BaEE N/ATE A N/AZT i A N/AZR 3 A
HK$ BT
Net asset value BEFE (0.01) 0.01 N/AZ 3 AR
Financial Ratio B #5tb =
Current ratio mENLE 2 1 0.22 0.43 (48.8%)
Quick ratio EEth = 2 0.21 0.42 (50.0%)
Notes: B EE

1) Current ratio represents current assets divided by current liabilities.
2) Quick ratio represents current assets excluding inventories divided by

current liabilities.
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Corporate Information
NCIi- Ve
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Chairman’s Statement
FTERES

YEAR UNDER REVIEW

In the past year, the world was full of uncertainties. COVID-19
continued to cause travel restrictions and lockdowns in many
cities, badly affecting companies in all industries. Our hotel
operation and properties management segments were not
spared. However, with our excellent management team and staff,
Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) managed the
difficulties and resurged strongly. The steady growth of hotel
operation and new development of the mainland segment have
strengthened the confidence of the Group to become an
integrated property-related service provider and investor.
Management will continue to pursue new projects and expand
the feature through different investment methods. Upon the full
recovery of the hospitality industry, the Group will continue to
explore new opportunities of hotel operation in Canada and
properties management in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC™).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Revenue represents mainly the revenue from hotel operation
income and properties management segments, which account
for approximately 57.4% and 37.6%, respectively, of total
revenue of the Group from continuing operations for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Revenues increased by
approximately 23.6% or HK$18.4 million from approximately
HK$77.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately HK$96.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. Such increase was mainly attributed to the performance of
the hotel operation. The net loss of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$28.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2022, as compared to approximately HK$20.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

PROSPECTS

The revenue from Hotel Operation in Canada increased by
approximately 30.2% and the Hotel Operation achieved an
occupancy rate of approximately 82.8% in FY2022 (FY2021:
71.1%), which was of exceptional performance as compared with
its regional competitors. Meanwhile, the Properties Management
continues to expand its business and grow steadily in revenue.
With the recovery of the PRC economy, the market potential is
increasing, bringing us various business opportunities. Our
management team will seize the chance and explore new
business opportunities constantly to deliver stable returns to our
shareholders.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express
sincere thanks and appreciation to our Shareholders, business
partners, and dedicated management, as well as staff, for their
continued support and valuable attributions to the Group.

CHOI Yun Chor
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Segment Information

The revenue of the Group represents the revenue from operation
of a resort in Canada (the “Hotel Operation”), properties
management (the “Properties Management”) in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the management of kitchen
for, and management of delivering quality ingredients to, PRC
customers (the “Catering Management”). Revenue from
continuing operations increased by approximately HK$18.4
million or 23.6% from approximately HK$77.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (“FY2021") to approximately
HK$96.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
(“FY2022"). Such increase was mainly due to the increase in
revenue from the Hotel Operation. The revenue from Properties
Management also recorded a positive change in FY2022. The
Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$4.8 million from
its new segment, Catering Management, in FY2022.

Gross Profit

The gross profit of the Group from continuing operations
increased by approximately HK$4.2 million or 22.3% from
approximately HK$19.0 million for FY2021 to approximately
HK$23.2 million for FY2022. The increase was mainly due to the
increase in revenue, with the proportionate increase in direct
cost. The gross profit margin of the Group from continuing
operations maintained stably at approximately 24.5% for FY2021
and approximately 24.2% for FY2022.

Other Income, Gain and Losses, net

Other income, gain and losses, net from continuing operations
increased by approximately HK$2.5 million or 44.1% from
approximately HK$5.7 million for FY2021 to approximately
HK$8.3 million for FY2022. The increase was mainly due to the
recognition of gains on settlements of bonds aggregated to
approximately HK$7.8 million, and partially offset by the
decrease in the government grants of approximately HK$4.8
million, which was received in FY2021 during the COVID-19
pandemic but not in FY2022.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group from continuing
operations decreased by approximately HK$2.1 million or 6.1%
from approximately HK$33.9 million for FY2021 to approximately
HK$31.9 million for FY2022, which was mainly due to the
reduction of corporate expenses and partially offset by the
increase in staff costs in the segments of Hotel Operation,
Properties Management and Catering Management due to the
increased operation level after the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Impairment Loss Recognised under Expected
Credit Loss Model, Net of Reversal

The impairment loss recognised under expected credit loss
model, net of reversal, of the Group increased by approximately
HK$11.1 million or 187.4% from approximately HK$5.9 million
for FY2021 to approximately HK$16.9 million for FY2022. Such
increase was mainly due to the impairment loss recognised on
amount due from an associate of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$13.8 million for FY2022 (FY2021: HK$nil).
During FY2022, the management of the Group considered that
the associate is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, the amount due from an associate
has been fully impaired.

Impairment Loss Recognised on Intangible
Assets

Impairment loss recognised on intangible assets of the Group
increased by approximately HK$3.5 million or 198.0% from
approximately HK$1.7 million for FY2021 to approximately HK$5.2
million for FY2022, which was due to the fact that the Properties
Management segment has been underperformed. The Group
concluded there was indicator for further impairment and
conducted impairment assessment on intangible assets in
FY2022.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group from continuing operations
decreased by approximately HK$0.5 million or 8.9% from
approximately HK$5.2 million for FY2021 to approximately
HK$4.7 million for FY2022, which was mainly due to the
reduction from interest on bonds as a result of the settlement of
bonds amounted to HK$20 million in FY2022.

Income Tax Credit

The income tax credit of the Group reduced by approximately
HK$3.1 million or 43.2% from approximately HK$7.3 million for
FY2021 to approximately HK$4.1 million for FY2022. Income tax
credit mainly represented tax effect of temporary difference not
recognised from depreciation, loss allowance of trade and other
receivables and amortisation on intangible assets and the tax
losses of the Group available for offsetting against future profits.

Loss for the Year from Continuing Operations

As a result of the items mentioned above, the Group recorded a
net loss from continuing operations of approximately HK$24.2
million for FY2022, as compared to approximately HK$17.5
million for FY2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M AT

Loss for the Year from Discontinued Operation

The loss for the year from discontinued operation of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$4.2 million for FY2022 and
HK$3.5 million for FY2021. Such losses in both years were
mainly the result of the loss from changes in fair value of
cryptocurrency.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the items mentioned above, the Group recorded a
net loss of approximately HK$28.3 million for FY2022, as
compared to approximately HK$20.9 million for FY2021.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net current liabilities and
current ratio were approximately HK$103.2 million and 0.22
times, respectively (net current liabilities and current ratio in
2021: approximately HK$75.5 million and 0.43 times,
respectively).

Trade receivables

The net trade receivables of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$4.5 million as at 31 December 2022, as
compared to approximately HK$4.8 million as at 31 December
2021. As at 31 January 2023, being the latest practicable date
for ascertaining subsequent settlement of trade receivables of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, approximately HK$2.0 million
was settled.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$23.9 million and the allowance
for credit losses amounted to approximately HK$19.4 million,
representing approximately 81.2% of the trade receivables. The
Group considered that the loss allowance were adequate due to
(i) the credit loss allowance was made based on the experiences
of the management of the Group and past default rate of
customers; (ii) for trade receivables which is overdue for more
than 365 days, the Group has adopted expected loss rate of
approximately 96.76%. For further details of credit risk and
impairment assessment of the Group, please refer to note 6b to
the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out in
this annual report.

For all the outstanding trade receivables, including those fully
written off and fully impaired, the Group has performed the
following procedures, including but not limited to, (i) visiting the
customers physically for the collection of outstanding trade
receivables; and/or (ii) commencing legal proceeding
procedures.

For some of the customers, the Group has commenced legal
proceedings. The local governmental court in the PRC has
confirmed the legal rights of the Group in several cases. The
Group shall, through the assistance of the legal advisers and the
local governmental court in the PRC, monitor the assets of the
defendant available for settling outstanding trade receivables.

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Net Gearing Ratio

The Group recorded total deficit of approximately HK$14.9
million as at 31 December 2022. The net gearing ratio was 3.83
times as at 31 December 2021. The net gearing ratio was
measured by net debt (including secured loan, loans from
controlling shareholder, and bonds, and deducting cash and
cash equivalents) over total equity.

Charge on Assets

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s land and buildings held for
own use of approximately HK$77.9 million (2021: approximately
HK$83.9 million) were pledged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group.

Capital Structure

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group financed its
liquidity requirements through a combination of cash flow as
generated from operations, secured loan, bonds and loans from
controlling shareholder.

Capital Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has capital commitment of
approximately HK$2.2 million in relation to the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment of the Group in FY2022 (2021:
HK$0.3 million) and has capital commitment in relation to
unpaid registered capital for subsidiaries amounted to
approximately HK$14.7 million (2021: HK$16.6 million).

The Directors confirm that there were no material contingent
liabilities as at 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Hotel Operation

Revenue from Hotel Operation accounted for approximately
57.4% of the total revenue. Hotel occupancy rate increased to
82.8% in 2022 from 71.1% in 2021 due to the increasing
traveling activities in Canada during FY2022 after the COVID-19
pandemic. The revenue of the Hotel Operation was therefore
increased by approximately HK$12.8 million from approximately
HK$42.3 million in FY2021 to approximately HK$55.1 million in
FY2022.
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Properties Management

Revenue from Properties Management amounted to
approximately HK$36.2 million in FY2022, representing an
increase of 2.3% comparing to approximately HK$35.4 million in
FY2021.

Catering Management

Revenue from Catering Management amounted to approximately
HK$4.8 million, which accounted for approximately 5.0% of the
revenue of the Group from continuing operations in FY2022.

Staff and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 326
employees, including 190 based in the PRC, 8 based in Hong
Kong and 128 based in Canada. Staff costs of the Group were
approximately HK$47.6 million for FY2022, representing an
increase of approximately HK$6.9 million or 16.9% as compared
to approximately HK$40.7 million of FY2021 due to the increase
in operation level in FY2022.

Employee remuneration is determined in accordance with
prevailing industry practice and employees’ performance and
experience. Discretionary bonuses are awarded to employees
with outstanding performance with reference to the performance
of the Group. Employees are also entitled to other staff benefits
including medical insurance and mandatory provident fund.

Foreign Exchange Fluctuation and Hedge

The Group is not subject to material foreign currency exposure
since its operations in the PRC and Canada are mainly
denominated in RMB and CAD respectively and the Group’s
revenue and operating costs in the PRC and Canada are
denominated in the functional currency of the Group’s entity
generating the sales or incurring the costs. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) consider that the
currency risk is not significant. As such, no hedging instrument is
considered necessary by the board of Directors (the “Board”)
during the year. The directors will monitor the Group’s exposure
on an ongoing basis and will consider hedging the currency risk
should the need arise.

During FY2021 and FY2022, the Group did not enter into any
forward foreign currency contracts.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Use of net proceeds from the Rights Issue

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 29
May 2020, 6 July 2020 and 13 July 2020 and the prospectus of
the Company dated 17 June 2020 (the “Prospectus”),
364,292,398 ordinary shares of the Company were allotted and
issued pursuant to the rights issue (the “Rights Issue”) on the
basis of one rights share (the “Rights Share(s)”) for every two
ordinary shares (the “Share(s)”) of the Company held on the
record date at the issue price of HK$0.145 per Rights Share.
Among the 364,292,398 Rights Shares allotted and issued by the
Company pursuant to the Rights Issue, (i) 126,561,279 Rights
Shares were allotted and issued to Great Match International
Limited; (ii) 126,561,279 Rights Shares were allotted and issued
to Rich Vision Developments Limited; (iii) 19,880,000 Rights
Shares were allotted and issued to the then existing shareholders
(other than Great Match International Limited and Rich Vision
Developments Limited); and (iv) 91,289,840 Rights Shares were
allotted and issued to not less than six independent placees
procured by the placing agent, Sun International Securities
Limited.

The closing price of the Shares as at the date on which terms of
the Rights Issue were fixed, i.e. 29 May 2020, was HK$0.145 per
Share. The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue were
approximately HK$52.8 million, and the net proceeds (after
deducting the relevant expenses incurred in the Rights Issue)
were approximately HK$52.0 million. The net subscription price,
after deducting relevant expenses, is approximately HK$0.143
per Rights Share.
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As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 14
July 2021 and 30 November 2022, the Board resolved to change
the use of the unutilised net proceeds. As at the date of this
report, the Group has utilised the net proceeds as follows:

BUOARREERA S -_—F+A+NAR
TECF+—AZ+HNREMEEN E
EERAERABAMERBEFEAE - KA
HwERE  AEBCBERBEFAFRDT

Revised intended
use of unutilised
net proceeds

Intended use of
net proceeds as
stated in the

Amount of net
proceeds utilised
up to the date of

Prospectus after reallocation this report

BRI Btz BEAXRE

FiBRIE RBAMEBRIE HHEIFT 8

FHEZ R ZRIERT NEFEZ

BERZ BERZ cEERAEHE

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

BEBT BEET EX-iwm

Repayment of the Bonds EEES 10.0 134 134

Purchase of Filecoin BE X — 7.6 7.6
General working capital —REEES

— Staff costs — BIKA 31.0 20.0 20.0

— Costs of inventories for the — NEXBEEE 40 4.0 4.0

hotel operation in Canada ¥B 2 IFEKA

— Finance costs — BE R A 5.6 5.6 5.6

— Legal and professional fees — FEENEEER 1.4 1.4 1.4

52.0 52.0 52.0

As such, the net proceeds has been fully utilised as at 30 March
2023.

The Auditor’'s Report

The Company’s auditor has issued a qualified opinion on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022. The basis of the qualified opinion included (a)
limitation of scope on interest in an associate and amount due
from an associate; and (b) limitation of scope on interests in joint
ventures. Please refer to the independent auditor’s report as set
out in this annual report for further details. The Group hereby
sets forth the response to the basis of qualified opinion.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(@) Limitation of scope on interest in an associate and

amount due from an associate

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group has contacted the management of Total Blossom
Sdn Bhd (the “Associate”). However, the management of
the Associate refused to hand over the books and records
and other corporate and business documents of the
Associate to the Group. As such, the Directors were unable
to obtain from the management of the Associate sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy the Auditor as to the
existence, ownership and valuation of the investment
property of the Associate, which might have material
effects on the financial position and financial performance
of the Associate as at and for the year ended 31 December
2022. The audit evidence which was requested by the
Auditor included, inter alia, the status of the construction of
the investment property of the Associate, the books and
records of the Associate and other corporate and business
documents of the Associate (the “Required Documents”).

The Group has engaged a Malaysian legal advisers in
October 2022 to collect the Required Documents. The
Malaysian legal advisers has submitted the originating
summons to the High Court of Malaya at Shah Alam in the
State of Selangor Darul Ehsan on 1 March 2023 for the
purpose of, inter alia, retrieving the Required Documents.

The Auditor concurred with the view of the Directors and
the Audit Committee that if the Required Documents can
be retrieved successfully and the audit result is satisfactory,
the qualified opinion regarding limitation of scope of
interest in Associate and amount due from an associate will
be removed in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the financial year ending 31 December 2024.
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(b) Limitation of scope on interests in joint ventures

As disclosed in the annual report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022, in view of (i) the seized
investment properties; (ii) the loss of contact with the
management of Triple Market Limited and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Joint Ventures”) since 31 October 2021;
and (iii) the Directors were unable to obtain the books and
records of the Joint Ventures, the Directors resolved that
the Group no longer had the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of the Joint Ventures, and the
control over the Joint Ventures was lost on 31 October
2021 and derecognised the interest in the Joint Ventures
since 31 October 2021.

As per the discussion with the Auditor, they concurred with
the view of the Directors and the Audit Committee that
since the interest in the Joint Ventures was derecognized
on 31 October 2021, only comparative figures and related
disclosures in relation to the limitation of scope on interest
in the Joint Ventures will be qualified in the consolidated
financial statements for the financial year ending 31
December 2022 and the qualified opinion in relation to the
limitation of scope on interest in the Joint Ventures will be
removed in the consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ending 31 December 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES, AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

Disposal of Dragon Delight Group Limited

On 30 November 2022, the Company disposed Dragon Delight
Group Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, to an
independent third party. Upon the completion of the disposal of
Dragon Delight Group Limited, the Group will no longer engage in
investment in cryptocurrency.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Since 2022, the cryptocurrency market has demonstrated a
recession. The Company has been actively looking for
opportunities to dispose of the cryptocurrency held by the Group.
Having considered the current cryptocurrency market, the
Directors are of the view that it is in the best interest for the
Group to dispose all the cryptocurrency to avoid further
fluctuation in the market price of cryptocurrencies in hand.

The Directors applied the net proceeds from the disposal of
Dragon Delight Group Limited to the repayment of bonds of the
Group.

For more details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 30 November 2022.

commencement of Catering Management
Business

In FY2022, the Group set up a wholly-owned subsidiary,
Chongging Ailo Foods Limited* (EEE R R MAR A F) on 11
April 2022 (“Ailo Food”), aiming to deliver quality ingredients to
its customers in the PRC. The target customers of the Group
included mainly the corporates who aims to provide quality meals
to their staff, visitors or clients. The Group is responsible mainly
the management of kitchen for corporates in the PRC, as well as
the management of delivering ingredients to customers timely
and quality checking on the ingredients.

Prospects

The revenue from Hotel Operation in Canada increased by
approximately 30.2% and the Hotel Operation achieved an
occupancy rate of approximately 82.8% in FY2022 (FY2021:
71.1%), which was of exceptional performance as compared with
its regional competitors. Meanwhile, the Properties Management
continues to expand its business and grow steadily in revenue.
With the recovery of the PRC economy, the market potential is
increasing, bringing us various business opportunities. Our
management team will seize the chance and explore new
business opportunities constantly to deliver stable returns to our
shareholders.

* For identification purpose only
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overnance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving a high standard of
practices of corporate governance so as to ensure the protection
of shareholders’ interests with better transparency. Save as
disclosed below, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the then effective Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules (the “Listing
Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Model code for securities transactions by
directors

The Company has adopted Appendix 10, Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers of the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of practice for
carrying out securities transactions by the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”). The Company, having made specific
enquiries to all directors of the Company, confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required standard of dealings as
set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the overall management of the
Company is vested in its Board, which comprises seven
members, coming from diverse businesses and professional
backgrounds. The biographical details of the Directors are set out
under the section “Directors” on pages 82 to 85 of this annual
report. The Board currently comprises executive directors
Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Chairman), Mr. Chen Jian, Mr. Tai Kwok
Keung Kenny and Ms. Hung Wang Kai Grace, and independent
non-executive directors Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie, Mr. Huang
Xiangyang and Mr. Ngok Ho Wai.

The Board meets at least four times annually to review business
development and overall strategic policies.
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To facilitate the operation of the Board, the Board has
established a schedule of matters reserved for its approval. The
specific responsibilities reserved for the Board include (a) setting
the Group’s strategy and dividend policy; (b) approving budgets,
reviewing operational and financial performance; (c) approving
major investments and divestments; (d) reviewing the internal
control system of the Group; (e) ensuring appropriate
management development and succession plans in place; (f)
approving appointments of and remuneration policy for directors
and other senior executives; (g) approving corporate social
responsibility policies; and (h) ensuring effective communication
with shareholders.

For the financial reporting accountability, the Board has an
ultimate responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial
statements. In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the Board has ensured that (a) the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong have been adopted; (b)
appropriate accounting policies have been used and applied
consistently; and (c) reasonable and prudent judgments and
estimates have been made.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group incurred a
loss from continuing operations of approximately HK$24.2 million
and, as of 31 December 2022, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$103.2 million,
and the Group has net liabilities of approximately HK$14.9
million. Such conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, and thus, the Group may
not be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

The Group continues to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing its consolidated financial statements. In order to
improve the Group’s financial positions, liquidity and cash flows,
the Directors have adopted or shall adopt the following measures:

(i)  reviewing the business operations of the Group to improve
their efficiency;

(i) implementing cost saving measures to control operating
cost, administrative costs and corporate costs with a view to
reduce the working capital requirements of the Group;

(i) reviewing its existing investments and business

opportunities and actively considering to develop new
business in order to enhance the cash flow of the Group;
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(iv)  actively considering to realise other loss making investment
or terminate loss making businesses;

(v) obtaining a confirmation from Great Match International
Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company, not to
demand repayment of the amount due from the Group to
Great Match International Limited as at 31 December
2022, unless the repayment would not affect the ability of
the Group to repay other creditors in the normal course of
business; and

(vi) obtaining a loan agreement for facilities of up to
HK$50,000,000 from the Controlling Shareholder in favour
of the Group to provide continuing financial support to the
Group.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections
prepared by the management, which covering a period of not less
than twelve months from 31 December 2022, on the basis that
the Group’s aforementioned plans and measures will be
successful, the Directors believe that the Group will have
sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working capital and
other financing requirements as and when they fall due in the
next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the Directors believe that the Group will continue as
a going concern and therefore consider it is appropriate to adopt
a going concern basis in preparing its consolidated financial
statements.

Being part of good corporate governance practices, a number of
board committees have been established. These committees
include four corporate governance related committees namely
the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee as well as one ad hoc committee namely
the Independent Board Committee which is responsible for
advising the matters in relation to the continuing connected
transactions. These committees operate within specific terms of
reference as prepared by the Company and report their work and
findings to the Board regularly.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

The Nomination Committee as a whole is responsible for
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating the
relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of directors
of the Company, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of directors of the Company and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive directors of the
Company. Each of the executive directors is appointed with no
fixed term of service. The appointment may be terminated by not
less than one months’ written notice or payment in lieu of such
notice. Each of the independent non-executive directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a specific
term of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation once
every three years. And they should be re-appointed at any annual
general meeting of the Company during their term of office. The
appointment may be terminated by not less than one month’s
written notice or payment in lieu of such notice.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, one
third of the directors of the Company are subject to retirement by
rotation every year and any new director appointed to fill a causal
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/
herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting
or the first annual general meeting respectively after
appointment. The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board regularly to ensure that the Board has a
balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. Where vacancies
on the Board exist, the Nomination Committee will carry out the
selection process by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time
commitments of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs
and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An
external recruitment agency may be engaged to carry out the
recruitment and selection process where necessary. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put to
the full Board for decision.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
Mr. Choi Yun Chor and Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie standing for
re-election at the next forthcoming annual general meeting. The
Company’s circular contains detailed information of the director
standing for re-election will be despatched to shareholders for
consideration.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS EEHERER
The attendance records of the Directors at Board Meetings, Audit BE-_E-_—_F+-_A=t+—HBIFER
Committee Meetings, Remuneration Committee Meetings, NEERESSLE  BERZELSE T
Nomination Committee Meetings and General Meetings during ZEgeR REAZEgEEEMRERG2H
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below: EEEAT -
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee meeting

EXE FNEEE FHEEE REZEE RRAE

Executive directors HTEE

Ms. Yeung So Mui®® BxigLLO 171 N/A N/A N/A N/A
NEA NER TER TER

Mr. Choi Yun Chor ERMLAE 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 171
TEA TEA TER

Mr. Ng Kwai Wah Sunny ¥ REBEFLOD 171 N/A N/A N/A N/A
TEA TEA TEA TEA

Mr. Chen Jian BRfE 5 4 414 N/A N/A N/A 11
TEA TEA TEA

Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny HERLE 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11
NEA NER TER

Mr. Lin Junwei®® WEELED 171 N/A N/A N/A 01
TEA TEA TER

Ms. Hung Wang Ka Grace® MRELZLO 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A
TEA TEA TEA TEA

Independent non-executive BUFHTES

directors

Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie Remit 4/4 2/2 11 1/1 171

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee TREEY in N/A N/A N/A N/A
NEA TNEA TER TERA

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)“ B L 2/2 2/2 1/1 171 171

Mr. Huang Xiangyang® ERBEES 171 N/A N/A N/A N/A
TEA TEA TEA TEA

Mr. Ngok Ho Wai® SRS O 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A
TEA TEA TEA TERA

v RZEZZF=A=+—HEF
RZZEZ—FNATHEME
RZEZ_F+A—HEZHE
RZZEZZFNA— BB
R-ZE-—F+A-t+HhHEZET
RZEZZF+—A=1THEZE

@ resigned on 31 March 2022

@ retired on 10 June 2022

@ appointed on 1 October 2022

@ resigned on 1 September 2022
© appointed on 29 July 2022

® appointed on 30 November 2022

[}

&

53388 o

o
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four board committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Independent Board Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All board
committees should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made.

A.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ngok Ho
Wai (Committee Chairman), Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie and
Mr. Huang Xiangyang.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee are:

1. to monitor the integrity of financial reporting of the
Company;

2. to review the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group; and

3.  to review the corporate governance practices of the
Company.

There were two Audit Committee meetings held for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to discuss and review the
following matters:

1. the annual report and accounts for the year ended 31
December 2021;

2. the interim report and accounts of the Group for the
six months ended 30 June 2022;

3.  the Group’s financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems;

4. the financial reporting and relevant compliance with
external auditor; and

5. the auditor’s remuneration and recommended the
Board to re-appoint Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
as the auditor of the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2022, which is subject to the
approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference of the Audit
Committee can be viewed on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Huang
Xiangyang (Committee Chairman), Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu
Cherrie and Mr. Ngok Ho Wai.

The major responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
are:

1.  to review the remuneration packages of and assess
the performance of the directors and senior
management;

2. to approve the terms of the executive directors’
service contracts

3. to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration structure; and

4.  to review and guide the formulation of the Group’s
remuneration policy for directors and senior
management attributable to performance-driven
compensation commitment as well as market trend
and industry norms.

There was a Remuneration Committee meeting held for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to review the remuneration
packages of directors and senior management according to
the Group’s employment policy, nomination policy,
remuneration policy, and training and development policy.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee can be viewed on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Details of the remuneration to the directors on named basis
and five highest paid employees are disclosed in notes 15
and 16 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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C. Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive directors, namely, Ms. Lai
Cheuk Yu Cherrie (Committee Chairlady), Mr. Huang
Xiangyang and Mr. Ngok Ho Wai.

The major responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors;

2. to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and to ensure fair and transparent procedures
for the appointment or re-appointment of directors;

3. to propose the appointment of such candidates to the
Board for consideration; and

4. to review the qualifications of the relevant candidates
for determining the suitability to the Group on the
basis of his/her qualifications, experience and
background.

There was a Nomination Committee meeting held for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to discuss and consider the
following matters:

1. the composition of the Board with reference to certain
criteria. These criteria included qualifications
required under the Listing Rules or any other relevant
laws regarding characteristics and skills of the
directors, professional ethics and integrity,
appropriate professional knowledge and industry
experience, as well as ability to devote sufficient time
to the work of the Board and its committees and to
participate in all Board meetings and shareholders’
meetings;

2. the re-appointment of the retiring directors for
re-election at the previous general meeting;

3.  procedures for election of directors and by
shareholders; and

4.  independence of the independent non-executive
directors.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties. Latest terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee can be viewed on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties as required under the CG Code:

1.  todevelop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior
officers of the Group;

3.  toreview and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4.  to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct
applicable to employees and the directors; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board considered
the following corporate governance matters:

1. review of the compliance with the Code Provisions of the CG
Code; and

2. review of the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk
management systems of the Group through the Audit
Committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company
secretarial services provider, Red Sun Capital Limited, to provide
compliance and full range of company secretarial services to the
Group in order to assist the Group to cope with the changing
regulatory environment.

Mr. Wong Chi Kong, the representative of Red Sun Capital
Limited, was appointed as the Company Secretary.

Mr. Choi Yun Chor, the chairman and executive Director of the
Company, is the primary corporate contact person at the
Company for the Company Secretary.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,

Mr. Wong Chi Kong had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
DEVELOPMENT FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive and
formal induction to ensure that he/she has an appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group, his/
her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements, the CG Code of the Company
and the Model Code.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the
statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment to
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing
briefing and professional development for directors will be
arranged at the expenses of the Company whenever necessary.
The directors are committed to complying with Code Provision.
All directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
and provided their training records to the Company.

The Separate Roles of the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. During the year ended
31 December 2022, Ms. Yeung So Mui and Mr. Choi Yun Chor
were co-chairmen of the Company during the period from 1
January 2022 to 31 March 2022, while Mr. Choi Yun Chor was
the chairman of the Company during the period from 1 April
2022 to 31 December 2022. The Company does not maintain the
office of CEO and the duties of CEO have been taken up by other
executive director and senior management of the Company. As
such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been
taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are comparable to those in the CG Code.
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Directors’ Independence

There are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s) among members of the Board.

The directors are given access to independent professional
advice at the Group’s expense, when the directors deem it
necessary in order to carry out their responsibilities.

The Board also advocates the participation of independent
non-executive directors and non-executive directors in various
board committees to safeguard objectivity and independence.

The Company has received the confirmation letters from each of
the independent non-executive directors, confirming their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive directors are
independent.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control system to ensure adequate
control in place to safeguard the Group’s assets and
stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to
address and handle the all significant risks associate with the
business of the Group. The Board would perform annual review
on any significant change of the business environment and
establish procedures to response the risks result from significant
change of business environment. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to mitigate the potential
losses of the business.
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Management would identify the risks associate with the business
of the Group by considering both internal and external factors
and events which include political, economic, technology,
environmental, social and staff. Each of risks has been assessed
and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be
applied to each type of risks according to the assessment results,
type of risk management strategy has been listed as follow:

— Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

—  Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as
to avoid the risk;

— Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the
risk or allocate to different location or product or market;

— Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third
party.

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the
Group and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks.
The risk management and internal control system are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has engaged
an external advisory firm to undertake the internal audit function
to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group. There is
no significant deficiency and weakness on the internal control
system which has been identified by the external advisory firm for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December
2022, the risk management and internal control system and
procedures of the Group, covering all material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions were reasonably effective and adequate.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group has put in place the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information. The
Group complies with requirements of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)
and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside information to
the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours as stated in the
SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the
Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the
Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been
breached, the Group would immediately disclose the information
to the public. The Group is committed to ensure that information
contained in announcements or circulars are not false or
misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through
the omission of a material fact in view of presenting information
in a clear and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of
both positive and negative facts.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 which reflect true and fair view of the financial position of
the Company and the Group and in compliance with relevant law
and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. The Board is
responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules.

The Group appointed Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited as the
Group’s external auditor. The statement by Asian Alliance (HK)
CPA Limited regarding their reporting responsibilities to the
shareholders on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
104 to 120 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited (“Asian Alliance”) is appointed
as the external auditor of the Company, while Grant Thornton
LLP, a Canadian member of Grant Thornton International Ltd
(“Grant Thornton Canada”) is appointed as the external auditor of
Times Universal Victoria Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company operating the Hotel Operation
of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the fees paid/payable
to the auditors in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by Asian Alliance and Grant Thornton Canada were as
follows:

TEELHRES

¥% BB F7 B
Eph (BB estmER(ER ) EZRT AKX
N A B BB A EED ¢ i Thornton International

Ltd#Y i1 & K pX B 2 AlGrant Thornton LLP
(I'Grant Thornton Canadal) % Z £ ATimes
Universal Victoria Holdings Limited & 9 3 #z 21
Bl ZARAAARBEEZENBAR &2
G o

BHE-_Z-_ "+ _-_A=1+—HILFE  pFE
7 & Grant Thornton Canada$@ it 4% 8t & JE#Z
Rz B TN FRREEI 2 BRMT :

HK$'000
Nature of services R M E FETT
Audit services ZEARTS
— Asian Alliance = 1,190
— Grant Thornton Canada Grant Thornton Canada 171
1,361
Non-audit services IEZ RS
Other services H Ath R 75
— Asian Alliance EE 350
— Grant Thornton Canada Grant Thornton Canada 205
555
Total 4B RE 1,916

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends
to the shareholders of the Company. Any declaration of final
dividends for the year will be subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders. In proposing any dividend pay-out, the
Board shall take into account the following factors:

—  the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

—  the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

— retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

— the Group’s liquidity position;
—  general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining effective
communications with shareholders. Annual reports and interim
reports provide shareholders with comprehensive information of
the Group’s operational and financial performances; while
general meetings offer a platform for shareholders to state and
exchange views with the Board directly.

The management continually communicates with analysts and
institutional investors and provides them with up-to-date and
comprehensive information regarding the Group’s development.
The Company practices timely dissemination of information and
makes sure its website www.timesuniversal.com contains the
most latest information, including but not limited to annual
reports, interim reports, announcements, monthly returns and
press releases, and is updated in a timely manner to ensure
transparency.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there had been no
significant changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

A. Convening an Extraordinary General
Meeting by Shareholders

In accordance with section 566 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”), shareholder(s) holding at the
date of the deposit of the requisition at least 5% of the
voting rights at general meetings of the Company, may
request the directors of the Company to convene an EGM.
The written requisition must state the objects of the
meeting and must be signed by the shareholder(s)
concerned and deposited at the registered office of the
Company for the attention of chairman of the Board or the
Company Secretary. The requisition may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
shareholders concerned.

If the directors of the Company do not within 21 days from
the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to
convene an EGM for a date not more than 28 days after the
date on which the notice convening the EGM is given, the
shareholder(s) concerned, or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may themselves convene an EGM, provided that the EGM
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3
months from the said date.
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The EGM convened by shareholders shall be convened in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
general meetings are to be convened by the directors of the
Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board in
writing to the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong.

The Company Secretary will forward the shareholders’
enquiries and concerns to the Board and/or relevant board
committees of the Company, where appropriate, to answer
the shareholders’ questions in writing.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
General Meetings by Shareholders

Shareholders are requested to follow sections 551 to 554
(written resolutions), section 579 (notice of resolutions),
sections 580 to 583 (statements), section 615, section 616
(resolutions for AGMs) of the Companies Ordinance for
including a resolution at AGM of the Company. The
requirements and procedures are set out as follows:

1. A member of a Company may request the Company
to circulate a resolution that —

(a) may properly be moved; and
(b) is proposed as a written resolution under
section 549(b) of the Companies Ordinance.

If a member requests a Company to circulate a resolution,
the member may request the Company to circulate with the
resolution a statement of not more than 1,000 words on the
subject matter of the resolution.

However, each member may only request the Company to
circulate one such statement with respect to the resolution.

2. A company must circulate a resolution proposed as a
written resolution under section 549(b) of the
Companies Ordinance and any statement mentioned
in section 551(2) of the Companies Ordinance if it
has received requests that it do so from the members
of the Company representing not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of all the members entitled to vote
on the resolution (or a lower percentage specified for
this purpose in the Company'’s articles).

A request —

(@) may be sent to the Company in hard copy form
or in electronic form;

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

TEELHRES

HACR AR Z RS RIAE - BFEA RN
BOARREEFARRRAGZ A
E:ﬁ o

EMEEEEH
BRANEAFARNEETSETERN A
AERAARREARARANBEZIBHE
Jﬁ o

NEAMERMERE R LAAREZIEE
EZZE9EXRENEANER &
EEBER T EEREBRRER -

BRERERRAXELEEZDHANER

WM RERARRRRBAF KRG LIRERE
& WARERRIEAIZE551 25541 (&
EREE) « F5791K CRiFEz@BE) - 5580
25831 (Rt E) - E6151% - F616{%
(BRRAFRKSHPRZE) ZHRTHET - EH
TR EEFOT

1. ARBWKE A ZRARQEER N
BATRARRE —

(@) FREMHEBEN K
(b) ERIE L B ERPISE 549(b) R
HEV SRR EERE LAY o

BRAK BN RANRERIRE A R
KARRERHZORZENRE - ERER
ZRBHBENEEM FETZ 11,0007
HBRALE -

Am - BEKEERRBRIREEREAR
AR — ) LR E -

2. WBERE R ENEDIE549(b) R 1R H
MEAEMRZL A 0RE - A
X A {151 55 551(2) {6k it 2t 9 I ] BR
AE - mMARBRENE 2B L
LR TORKI K B B FROREN D
M5% (A RBERME AU B
B R AR BIE B 0 b ) B9 AR R EIAK
BREMENR - BRZARENHZ
ERFE LR E - BIZ A RZAERH
AZFERFELRMLE -

= —
@ WRANAFARETHRE

RARF i

“EFRH

33



34

M
o
k]
o
-
Q
—
(D
Q)

overnance Report

(b)  must identify the resolution and any statement
mentioned in section 551(2) of the Companies
Ordinance; and

(c)  must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it.

If by any provision of the Companies Ordinance
special notice is required to be given of a resolution,
the resolution is not effective unless notice of the
intention to move it has been given to the Company
at least 28 days before the meeting at which it is
moved.

The Company must, if practicable, give its members
notice of the resolution at the same time and in the
same manner as it gives notice of the meeting.

If that is not practicable, the Company must give its
members notice of the resolution at least 14 days
before the meeting —

(a) by advertisement in a newspaper circulating
generally in Hong Kong; or

(b) in any other manner allowed by the Company’s
articles.

If, after notice of the intention to move the resolution
has been given to the Company, a meeting is called
for a date 28 days or less after the notice has been
given, the notice is to be regarded as having been
properly given, though not given within the time
required.

Pursuant to Article 105 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, no person other than a director retiring
at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the
directors for election, be eligible for election as
director at any general meeting unless a notice
signed by a member (other than the person to be
processed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his
intention to propose such person for election and also
a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at
the registered office of the Company provided that
the minimum length of the period, during which such
notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven days and
that the period for lodgement of such notice(s) shall
commence no earlier than the day after the despatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than seven days prior
to the date of such general meeting.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Reporting Scope

Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (hereafter “Times
Universal” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to the “Group”, “We”, “our” and “us”) are pleased to
present the annual environmental, social and governance
(“ESG") report (the “Report”). The Report provides an annual
update of the Group’s ESG management approaches,
environmental and social performance and efforts during the
period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the
“Reporting Period” or “2022"), unless otherwise stated. For the
details of corporate governance, please refer to the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” on page 18 to page 34
of our 2022 annual report.

The Report covers the hotel operation in Victoria, British
Columbia, Canada (i.e. Brentwood Bay Resort (“BBR”) where
offers hotel resort and spa services) and the property
management in Chongging (i.e. Nuofute Property Management
Co., Ltd. (“Nuofute Property Management”)), the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), as well as Hong Kong office
where provides administrative support to the Group companies.
The above scope is defined by whether the Group has direct
ownership over the entities, and one new project, Chongging
Haotai Property Management Limited, which has been put into
operation from September 2021, is included in the reporting
scope compared to 2021 ESG Report.

Reporting Standard

The Report has been prepared in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”) as well as adhering to the “comply
or explain” provisions thereof. With the exception of the
provisions that the Group considers are inapplicable to our
business operations or provide partial disclosure, explanations
are illustrated in the corresponding sections.
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Reporting Principles

The Group has complied the Report with the four reporting
principles set out in the ESG Reporting Guide, which are
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency as the basis of
preparation of the Report.

Materiality

° The Group identified the materiality of ESG issues through
stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment. The
details are explained in the section of “Materiality
Assessment”.

Quantitative

o The Group disclosed the information of the standards,
methodologies and source of conversion factors used for
the reporting of emissions and energy consumption. Please
refer to the relevant section in the Report for details.

Balance

° The Report presented the Group’s environmental and social
performance in an impartial basis to provide an objective
reporting disclosure for readers.

Consistency

° The methodology adopted for disclosing key environmental
and social performance indicators is consistent with that of
the previous reporting period. For any changes in
methodologies, the Group has also presented and
explained in detail in corresponding sections.
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ESG GOVERNANCE

ESG Governance Structure

The Group believes that a sound ESG governance structure will
increase its investment value and bring long-term returns to its
stakeholders. To effectively implement the concept of sustainable
development, the Group has established a three-tier ESG
governance framework, composed of the Board of Directors (the
“Board”), the ESG taskforce group and each subsidiary and
department, so as to systematically carry out ESG management
from the governance level of the Board to the ESG
implementation level.

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the Group’s
ESG-related affairs, and has assigned specific duties and
responsibilities to the ESG taskforce group to assist their work
and perform specific tasks. The ESG taskforce group comprises
executive directors as well as the heads and managers from each
subsidiary and department.

Board of Directors
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The duties of the ESG taskforce group are to assist the Board in:

° formulating and reviewing the Group’s ESG management
policies, strategies and approaches;

° identifying, reviewing and assessing ESG and
climate-related risks and opportunities with associated
impacts on the Group’s main businesses, and developing
corresponding action plans;

° setting the Group’s ESG goals and objectives in line with the
determined ESG strategies, and reviewing the progress on
achieving the targets on a regular basis;

° monitoring the ESG-related trends, development,
regulations and industry practices, and providing advice on
the ESG strategies;

° coordinating the business and department units to assist in
the preparation of the annual ESG report, including
carrying out stakeholder engagement activities, conducting
materiality assessment, collecting, consolidating and
analysing the ESG performance data; and

o reviewing and approving the annual ESG report.

Risk Management

A proper and effective risk management and internal control
system is of paramount importance for business sustainable
development. The Group has adopted a 5-by-5 risk matrix and
evaluate each risk in two dimensions of severity and likelihood to
score the risk level and take corresponding mitigation measures.
We engage external consultants to identify, assess, analysing and
monitor a wide range of risks (including the ESG and
climate-related risks) associate with the Group’s businesses on
an annual basis to ensure the effective implementation of
mitigation measures.

Management shoulder the responsibilities for identifying risks and
opportunities (including ESG-related risks) and evaluating the
impacts of each risk on the business operations of the Group.
Specific measures are taken to detect and prevent misconduct,
such as:

(i)  establish and maintain financial service provider records
and customer identification requirements;
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(i) request for reporting suspicious financial transactions and
currency cross-border movements; and

(iii)  establish an agency dedicated to ensuring compliance with
all the acts.

Moreover, any changes of risks will be reported to the Board
promptly so as to determine practical and effective actions for
risk control and mitigation.

To ensure the effectiveness of the risk control systems and the
risk management practices, the Board performs annual review
and revise accordingly in a timely manner in order to deal with
the changes in business environment and corporate strategies.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group is fully aware of the close relationship between
stakeholders and the development of its business. We maintain
constant communication with our key stakeholders to understand
their needs and expectations through various communication
channels and improve our initiatives and strategies accordingly.
The following are the communication channels we adopted to
stakeholder engagement:
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Stakeholders
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Customer satisfaction surveys
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On-going direct engagement
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Supplier performance evaluation
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Materiality assessment helps us to prioritise and highlight the
material ESG issues to both the Group and our stakeholders. The
results of the materiality assessment guide us in formulating a
clear direction and roadmap for ESG management and provide
insights into our strategic decision-making.

We carry out quantitative materiality assessment, alternating with
internal review in the following year. We invited our internal
stakeholders (e.g. the senior management and employees) to
share their perspectives in ESG and rate the materiality of ESG
topics towards the stakeholders themselves as well as the
Group’s business operation through online questionnaire surveys
for analysis.

During the Reporting Period, we performed an internal review on
the 26 identified ESG topics and the results of the materiality
assessment undertook in the previous year, with reference to the
latest HKEX ESG Reporting Guide and global reporting standards
(e.g. GRI). Meanwhile, we took into account the current business
operations and development, market trends and local policies
and regulations. As a result, the 10 highly important ESG topics
are determined same as last year, illustrating in the table below:
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Employee engagement
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Occupational health and safety
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Elimination of child and forced labour
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OUR PEOPLE

Employment Practices

As a property management service and hospitality service
provider, employees play a crucial role in delivering exceptional
services to our customers and sustaining our strategic business
development. Hence, the Group endeavours to create a
collaborative, motivating and inclusive working environment to
our employees, with learning opportunities for career and
personal growth. The Group has formulated and implemented a
set of human resources management policies, to recognise
employees with proper compensation and benefits and in order
to comply with all relevant labour laws and regulations in the
regions where it operates, including but not limited to, the Labour
Law of the PRC ({FEE A R ERMBE L)% )), the Labour Contract
Law of the PRC ({F #E AR £ T & &) & [R)E)), the Law of the
PRC on the Protection of Minors ({K X & AR X)), the
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour ({Z£ i1 {& F8
= T 5E)), the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) {{& & {& 1), the
Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608){& 1& T & 1§ ) of
HKSAR and the Employment Standards Acts of British Columbia,
Canada. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any breaches of related local labour laws and regulations.

Equal opportunity, diversity and
anti-discrimination

The Group aims to build a talent team featured with diversity,
equity and inclusion. Therefore, the Group has formulated
standardised management procedures for employee recruitment
and staff performance review in each business segment to
ensure the fair governance of recruitment, transfer and
promotion, performance appraisal, wage practices and dismissal.
We select talents based on their educational background, work
experience, qualifications, ethics, personality and competencies
during the interviews, and we never discriminate on the ground of
gender, age, race, religion, nationality, disability, marital/family
status and any other classification protected under the relevant
laws. Moreover, any form of bullying and/or harassment is not
acceptable or tolerated across our business operations. All
employees are obliged to obey the Group’s policies in equal
employment opportunity, diversity and anti-discrimination.
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Labour Standards

The Group attaches great importance to human rights and
interests, and strictly prohibits child labour, bonded labour and
forced labour in our business operations. To be specific, we do
not allow employment of any person under the age of 15 in
Canada or any person under 16 across our property
management business in China. To ensure our candidates meet
the legal working age and are eligible to work locally, the human
resources department of each business segment conducts
comprehensive background checks for successful candidates
during the recruitment process. Candidates are required to
submit official documents, such as their identities, and work visa
or permit, so as to verify their information provided. In addition,
our employees sign the labour contract, where their legitimate
labour rights and interests are clarified, with the Group only on a
voluntary basis to prevent forced labour. Once any child or forced
labour is found, the Group will investigate the case thoroughly to
prevent reoccurrence. The Group also requires its suppliers to
follow the labour standards in business dealings to guarantee no
employment of child and forced labour, thereby decreasing the
legal risks of the Group. During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not identify any violation of the use of child and forced
labours.

Remuneration and Welfare

The Group offers competitive remuneration and welfare packages
to attract and retain talents. The package composition is clearly
defined in the internal human resource management procedures,
employee handbook and employee contract. Apart from basic
salary and post salary, we provide our employees with a wide
range of benefits, such as medical insurance, life insurance plan,
mandatory provident fund, “five insurance and one fund”, as well
as allowances and subsidies for transportation and
accommodation, depending on the position categorises. In
addition to statutory leaves, our employees are entitled to paid
annual leave, sick leave, marriage leave, maternity/paternity
leave, bereavement leave, breastfeeding leave and jury duty
leave. Moreover, we prepare cash gifts for birthday, marriage and
condolence as a gesture of care and goodwill.

To ensure sufficient rest for employees, we adopt an eight-hour
standard work system at the headquarter of Nuofute Property
Management and Hong Kong office. Each property management
centre is arranged irregular working shifts and/or integrated
working hours varied in different posts, with a maximum of 40
hours per week to fit into the purpose of actual business needs.
When necessary to arrange employees to work overtime due to
the occurrence of emergency and business needs, overtime
compensation will be granted to eligible staff under the labour
laws.
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For employees in our hotel operation, standard remuneration and
welfare packages, including paid leaves, insurance premiums,
retirement plan and overtime pay pursuant to the Employment
Standards Acts, are outlined in the employee culture handbook
and employee contract. Staff perks, such as discounted hotel
stays, spa services, free paddle sport rentals, meal allowances
and industry discounts, are granted to eligible staff as rewards for
their contribution. The employees’ working hours vary depending
on seasonal factors and business levels. Scheduled work shifts
and rest days are offered to help our employees maintain
work-life balance. During the Reporting Period, we arranged an
annual middle manager appreciation party and an annual
resort-wide holiday appreciation parties to express our gratitude
for all employees’ great efforts.

To maintain core competitiveness, the Group reviews the
employee remuneration and welfare packages on a regular basis
with reference to local laws and regulations, its peers in the
industry, employee performance and peer evaluation result and
the prevailing regional market level. We also conduct the
performance appraisal and peer evaluation for employees to
understand their performance from both management and peer’s
perspectives in a comprehensive and just manner. The results
are linked to remuneration rewards and promotion, so as to
promote employees’ work initiatives. Employees with excellent
performance may award salary increment, promotion and/or
discretionary bonus to recognise their achievement.

Employee Communication

The Group highly values the voices of employees and puts great
efforts in maintaining open and constant communication with our
employees in each business segment. Hence, we have
developed various communication channels, including meeting,
performance review interview, email, e-newsletter and employee
engagement survey, to better understand their concerns and
expectations at work. Based on the employee feedback and
survey result, we may optimise the current employment practices
working conditions accordingly and address their needs
promptly, so as to enhance employee satisfaction.

In addition, staff complaint and grievance mechanism is in place
and allows our employees to report any complaints in workplace,
grievance and conflicts at work verbally or textually. The relevant
departments will take proper action and deal with the reported
issues in a timely manner.
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Employee Profile

As of 31 December 2022, the Group has 262 full-time employees
and 64 part-time employees. The breakdown of the total
workforce divided by gender, age group, employment category
and geographical region is indicated as below.

Total work force by gender

BURBINETAR

31%

R g MEamE

1 & #E%

BE-T-—F+-A=+—HB FEEH262
H2REERCABRBMIES - IR - FRE
Bl BEERRMES GRHOETREHH
m

Total workforce by age group

BRERERNBINETAR
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55%
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M g 303 A T 30-50%% 5078 PA £
Total workforce by employee catergory Total workforce by geographical region
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Health and Safety

The health and safety of employees are of utmost importance to
the operation of the Group. As a result, the Group has set up a
clear safety and health policy and management procedures in
each business segment in achieving “zero accident” in the
workplace as our ultimate goal.

Regarding the property management services, the Group has
implemented an ISO 45001:2018 certified occupational health
and safety management system to systematically identify and
manage the safety risks and hazards in the workplace. We
determine the potential risks that may occur in the working
environment and the possible consequences resulted from the
risks and carry out the safety risk assessment to identify
significant risks, and develop corresponding mitigation measures
for minimising workplace injuries. Furthermore, we have
established an emergency response working team led by
management, and formulated emergency preparedness and
response procedures for our employees to follow and tackle
different emergencies, such as fire, flooding, violent affray, theft,
and equipment failure.

In case of any incident and accident happened, we will launch a
comprehensive investigation according to the incident, accident
handling and investigation procedures, to find out the root causes
of incident/accident and proactively take rectification based on
the findings. When appropriate, the Group will improve the
existing safety management approaches and practices in order to
prevent the recurrence of similar cases.

Concerning the hotel operation business, we have established an
Environmental Occupational Health and Safety (“EOHS”)
programme with a series of policies, procedures and safety
guidelines for our employees to observe so as to reduce the
safety risks and hazards in performing our daily operation, such
as kitchen, front desk, spa and so on. To ensure the effective
implementation of the programme, we have constructed a health
and safety committee in BBR, and they are responsible for
arranging regular meetings to review the adequacy and
effectiveness of EOHS programme, the root causes of incidents
or accidents that have recently occurred and/or dealt with any
concerns affecting the wellness of the staff and guests. Moreover,
employees are required to sign the health and safety agreement
to guarantee that they fully understand the topics covered by the
health and safety orientation.
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Regular safety inspections by each department are arranged to
ensure the abovementioned safety control measures are
effectively implemented and maintained, as well as fostering a
safe working environment. We also organise safety training
sessions and emergency drills in terms of workplace hazards,
chemical and hazardous substance handling, and fire safety to
raise employees’ safety awareness. Additionally, external training
programmes are offered to our employees to increase their
knowledge and skills in emergency response and evacuation.
Employees who perform high-risk activities, such as electrical
work and elevator maintenance work, are required to attend
specific training courses so as to become a qualified person
before commencing the work.

Response to the Coronavirus disease
("COVID-19") pandemic

To safeguard the health and safety of our employees and guests,
the Group keeps track of and strictly follows all government
policies, regulations and guidelines as well as the health advice
related to COVID-19. The key preventive measures adopted in
our business segments to lower the risks of the exposure and
transmission of COVID-19 are highlighted as follows:

° Qutline the safety protocols for COVID-19 to each
department and require all staff to strictly observe the
safety working procedures and cleanliness and hygiene
measures during their shifts;

° Require employees to undertake a daily health check/body
temperature to ensure they are fit to work prior to the start
of their work shift, and to maintain good personal hygiene;

° Report to the department if employees have COVID-19
symptoms as soon as possible;

° Maintain adequate epidemic prevention materials in our
operations and provide appropriate personal protective
equipment (“PPE”) (e.g., gloves, goggles/face shield)
based on the work duties or the risk assessment for
cleaning and disinfection;

° Organise training sessions and emergency drills to frontline
staff on new enhanced hygiene protocols, including
cleaning and disinfection working guidelines, performing
hand hygiene and avoiding touching their eyes, mouth,
nose, ears and face;
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° Wear surgical mask when employees need to enter the
tenant/resident/guest spaces;

° Post up signage and notice to remind employees on hand
hygiene, cough etiquette and COVID-19 infection
prevention; and

° Keep social distancing when having meals and meetings.

The Group has complied with all the relevant health and safety
laws and regulations, including but not limited to Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) of HKSAR, the Law of
the PRC on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases{ 7
= AR AT 2 5B )3 % Yand the Occupational Health and
Safety Regulation in British Columbia, Canada. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant health and safety laws and
regulations.
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Development and Training

The Group strives to nurture its employees with their potentials
and help them realise their career and personal goals. The Group
has provided a variety of internal universal and topic-specific
training programmes for employees at different career levels, as
well as external training courses to enhance their professional
expertise and technical skills.
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For the property management services, we have developed an
annual training plan based on our employees’ needs and
feedback collected. We offer in-house and external training
courses to equip the employees with technical knowledge and
soft skills for delivering excellent quality of services and meeting
customers’ needs. Orientation training is arranged to our
newcomers with the introduction of corporate culture and
regulations, service etiquette, basic safety knowledge in property
management, specific job functions, staff code of conduct and
staff benefits and welfare to assist them in adapting to their
positions. Various types of on-job training, covering the topics,
among others, elevator safety management, maintenance of high
voltage electricity, fire safety control and monitoring, corporate
management and leadership skills, customer services, building
services and facilities maintenance and cleaning working
procedures, are provided to our employees to improve their work
efficiency and performance. To encourage our employees to
enrich their professional knowledge in their leisure time, we
provide subsidies for external training and seminars held by
authorised institutions. Besides, the Group continuously reviews
the training outcomes and standards through soliciting staff
feedback after training, in order to ensure the training
effectiveness, thereby optimising the training arrangement and
further determining tailor-made training sessions for our
employees to suit their ongoing development.

To guarantee the service quality of the hotel operation business,
we have formulated a series of training manuals for different roles
with various duties, such as front of house, housekeeping,
marina, etc. The hotel policies and the essential knowledge
related to each job are stated with details, and the procedures of
each guest service are standardised to ensure our employees
respond to guests in an appropriate and helpful manner.
Additional coaching sessions are provided for new supervisors to
help them adapt to the new roles and the level of control so as to
maintain efficient and comfortable management. We also lay
great emphasis on employees’ individual development and team
spirit, and have integrated these training programmes into the
culture handbook. For example, “The Human Element” and “The
Implicit Career Search” aim to assist our employees in
discovering and clarifying their career purposes and aspirations,
as well as improving their ways to work with others for greater
accomplishment of goals and better individual, team and
organisational performance. Furthermore, a 13-month career
development program, “The Emergent Leaders Program”, is
designed to develop individual's technical skills and leadership
abilities through coaching and goal setting. All the training
programmes are mandatory to the managerial staff, while they
are open for all employees in order to create space for career
growth and fulfilment and obtain greater personal satisfaction.
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Total hours of employee training!

B 835 3| A B 8

By gender

g E-pa

Male

B4

Female

peg i

By employee category
RESER &S
Senior management
SRERE
Middle management
HREREE
General staff
—MBT

Note :

L The data of employee training covers the business segment of property
management service and hotel operation only. The decrease in
training hours is mainly due to COVID-19.

OUR BUSINESS OPERATION

Services Responsibility

The Group always upholds the management attitude of pursuing
excellence in the service quality, and continuously improves the
comprehensive experience for our customers, with an aim to
enhance customer satisfaction. The Group strictly complies with
the Product Quality Law of the PRC ({ P AR HMEERE &
&), the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Consumer Rights
and Interests ((PEE AR LMEIE B E 5 (RE%E)) and the
Business Practices and Consumer Protection Act. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance regarding health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to our service provision.
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Quality Management

Adhering to our property management service philosophy of
“customer first, service with heart and five-star service to
accompany you in your lifetime (2F £ £ ~ AU RS R E # R
MR — 4)” we strive to build a warm, harmonious and
comfortable environment and offer customer-oriented, sincere
and attentive property management services in exceeding
customers’ growing needs and expectations.

Nuofute Property Management has established property
management procedures with high service standards for
residential, industrial and commercial properties in various
aspects, including customer reception, security management,
engineering maintenance and environmental management.
Moreover, a quality management system accredited with the
international standard of ISO 9001:2015 is in place, and the
quality management department is responsible for the review,
verification, monitor and maintenance of the system as well as
quality inspection. Corrective and prevention actions will be put
forward according to the review results, so as to improve the
system, thereby providing services of higher quality and enriching
our customers’ experience.

In addition, we organise regular topic-specific training and
morning briefing sessions to facilitate our employees to better
understand the evolving needs of our customers and equip
necessary knowledge and communication skills in upholding
professional and flawless services. We also introduce the latest
technologies, such as the internet, property management system
and artificial intelligence to improve our service efficiency. For
instance, the upgrade of the smart parking lot in Forebase
Convention International Building helps resolve the problem of
traffic congestion in peak hours and provide smart and
convenient services to our customers.
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With the mission of embellishing the lives of our guests and staff
as well as promoting wellness and relaxation in the hotel
operation business, the Group is dedicated to offering our guests
a unique, extraordinary and memorable experience with joyfully
graceful hospitality. We have formulated a set of internal guest
service manuals to standardise the quality of our committed
services, such as greetings, telephone etiquettes and attitude in
customer care, in order to attract more guest return visits and
comply with the applicable laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the Hotel Keepers Act. Meanwhile, we offer a full
range of featured spa packages, and all spa treatments are
served by our team of exceptional aestheticians and spa
practitioners to ensure the attentive and intuitive spa services are
provided and maintained.

Customer Satisfaction

We highly value our customers’ feedback, which is crucial for us
to understand customers’ concerns and expectations, thus
driving us to explore new opportunities for continuous
improvement on service efficiency and quality.

We have developed customer satisfaction management
procedures for the property management services to monitor and
analyse the level of customer satisfaction. Apart from regular
tenant visits, meetings and workshops, we conduct annual
customer satisfaction surveys to evaluate our service
performance and obtain their opinions and suggestions on our
services, so that we can take corresponding measures to
overcome our downsides and raise our services quality.
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To manage negative feedback efficiently, we have set up
comprehensive customer complaint handling procedures for both
main businesses. Customers are able to contact us directly and
indirectly through different channels, such as phone calls, letters,
online platforms and media interviews. Upon receipt of any
customer complaints regarding customer service, service quality
and/or facility operation deficiencies, we record the details of
complaint issues and conduct investigation to verify and confirm
complaint cases. Then the responsible person or department will
determine effective solutions and take the remedial actions in a
timely manner to ensure that the received customer complaints
are properly resolved and our customers are satisfied. In
particular, we adopt a compensation mechanism for the hotel
services. Discounts and complimentary gift cards will be offered
for apology. During the Reporting Period, we received a total of
156 complaints in hotel operation related to guest rooms, food
and beverage and spa treatment services, and all cases have
been addressed, while no complaints were received in the
operation of property management services.

Customer Health and Safety

We always give top priority to the health and safety of our
customers. We have implemented a series of customised
measures on daily operation and the pandemic according to
business nature, so as to safeguard our customers effectively.

Property Management Services

We have set up an engineering team, comprised of experienced
engineers and technicians with relevant qualifications, to arrange
regular facility inspections and maintenance on the building
services and equipment, fire safety equipment and property
facilities to ensure they are functioned properly and prevent the
occurrence of incidents and accidents. We also maintain daily
security services, including routine security patrols, visitor
registration and entrance gate control, to prevent crime and
suspicious people entering our managed properties. Meanwhile,
we have developed emergency response plans and conducted
regular emergency drills for our security guards to ensure that
they have adequate awareness and knowledge to cope with
emergency situations.
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To minimise the risk of spreading COVID-19 in our managed
properties, we have adopted the following preventive and control
measures:

° Implement “closed-off” management in our managed
premises in accordance with the requirements of the
District Pandemic Prevention and Control headquarters;

° Clean and disinfect frequently touched surfaces and areas
with frequent access by members of the public, such as
washrooms, escalators, corridors, lifts garage and lobby
entrance, for infection prevention;

° Require in-out register and body temperature check for all
persons and vehicles that enter the premises at the only
entrance of buildings;

° Provide adequate hand hygiene facilities at the only main
entrances of buildings and receptions;

° Place special garbage bins for mask disposal to prevent the
virus transmission;

° Maintain good ventilation by regularly monitoring the fresh
air ventilation system and cleaning the air conditioning
systems;

° Provide regular indoor disinfection value-added service for
office tenants to ensure the environmental hygiene
standards in their workplace are fulfilled;

° Put up signages, posters and publicity notices in the
premises to ensure all customers and visitors are aware of
precautionary measures; and

° Conduct regular inspections and report the situations of
infection control work to the owners’ committee and
governmental departments to combat the COVID-19
disease together.
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Hotel Operation

The facility management team takes the responsibility to arrange
regular inspections and maintenance on property facilities, such
as elevators and fire safety equipment, etc., in BBR to eliminate
safety hazards for our guests as possible. Due to the provision of
dining, meeting and banquet services, food safety is one of the
major concerns. As such, our food and beverage team has
formulated a kitchen manual to standardise the food service
offered in our hotel resort and outline the best practices for food
handlers regarding the food storage, food hygiene and food
handling according to the applicable local laws and regulations.
The whole team has been well trained to guarantee they have
complete knowledge of the food product preparation, food
serving and food hygiene. The managerial staff of food and
beverage team carries out inspections on a regular basis to
ensure vigorous control on food handling and kitchen sanitary.

To minimise the transmission and spread of COVID-19, we
strictly followed all government regulations and guidelines,
provincial restrictions order and direction of the Provincial Health
Officer under the Public Health Act. We have made strategic
prevention plans and adjusted the operating hours of our hotel,
restaurant, marina and spa services in which go above and
beyond provincial guidelines, with an aim to limit the exposure of
COVID-19 while upholding our quality of service and fostering
joyful and experiences to our guests in a safest manner. As the
social distance restriction has relaxed during the Reporting
Period, we also maintain general precautionary measures to
enhance the cleaning and sanitisation within the hotel premises
and ensure a safe environment provided for our guests during
their stays:

° Set up hand sanitising stations throughout BBR and
encourage our guests to sanitise their hands frequently;

° Keep distancing requirements between guests (e.g.
furniture arrangement, installation of appropriate plexiglass
barriers, and tapping line on the floor in front of the front
desk, etc.) to reduce contact;
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° Request all guests and employees to wear a mask or face
covering in all public spaces at all time and sanitise their
hands as they enter the building;

° Display signages and posters throughout BBR to raise
guests’ awareness of the importance of COVID-19 infection
prevention; and

° Wipe and sanitise the equipment of shared workstations,
key cards and pens before and after use.

Protection of Data Privacy and Intellectual
Property Rights

The Group attaches great importance to information security and
data privacy, and strictly abides by the relevant laws and
regulations, including the confidentiality obligations outlined in
the employee handbook and employee contracts. All employees
exercise their due care regarding the collection and use of
personal information of customers to ensure they only collect the
essential information for property management operation and
hotel day-to-day operation, such as guests’ certain preferences
for the hotel services. All the customer data is securely kept in
our internal system with access control and managed by
designated personnel of corresponding department to prevent
unnecessary information leakage, processing or other use.
Employees who review and copy the contents and files of
customer data based on “need to know” basis and require to
oblige the confidential requirements. Moreover, employees are
not allowed to disclose and communicate any sensitive
information of the Group to unauthorised external parties or the
media during and after their employment.
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To prevent infringement of intellectual property rights, the Group
strictly conforms to the intellectual property laws of PRC, HKSAR
and Canada. All the software in use is legitimate and with license
agreements. We also pay careful attention to marketing-related
issues to better secure the customer rights and interests. We
ensure the information published in the marketing materials and
promotion brochures are accurate, factual and unbiased, as well
as compliance with the applicable provincial and federal laws and
market best practices.

Business Integrity and Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to upholding the highest standard of
business integrity, and has zero-tolerance on corruption, fraud,
money laundering, bribery and extortion. The Group strictly
complies with the relevant laws and regulations in the operating
regions, including but not limited to the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) of HKSAR, the Criminal Law of the PRC,
the Anti-money Laundering Law of the PRC, the Canadian
Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act and the provisions of
the Combating Crimes (Money Laundering) and Terrorist
Financing Act. Our employees are forbidden from soliciting and/
or accepting any advantages, such as gifts, entertainment and
commission, etc., directly or indirectly. Additionally, we have set
up the whistle blowing mechanism and grievance system with
clear reporting channels, (e.g. reporting mailbox, e-mail) in each
business segment. Employees are encouraged to report any
illegal act or potential misconducts to the designated
management personnel, and the identity of the whistle blower will
be kept in secret to protect against any unfair dismissal,
victimisation and reprisal. In event of any case upon receipt, we
will handle and investigate the reported case thoroughly in a
timely manner and report the results to the top management.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering in the regions we operate
and there was no legal case regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group or our employees. To further raise employees’
awareness of business integrity and anti-corruption, we plan to
arrange relevant training in the future.
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Supply Chain Management

The Group strives to maintain long-term partnership with our
suppliers and contractors as their products and services provided
have a direct impact on our service quality and market
competitiveness in the industry.

The Group has established a stringent supplier management
system to standardise the selection, engagement, performance
evaluation of the new and existing suppliers and service
contractors. When assessing the qualification and competency of
the suppliers and service contractors, we always take
environmental and social risks into account. We conduct a
thorough inspection of their legal compliance, management level,
product and service quality, financial stability, corporate
reputation and sustainability performance, and then determine
the on-list approved suppliers. We give priority to local suppliers
with good track records in environmental and safety
management when possible, thus maintaining the reliable local
sources of supply and reducing the carbon emissions due to
material transportation. Regular performance evaluation (at least
once a year) to our existing suppliers and services contractors are
carried out, in term of product quality, delivery capability, price
level and services quality, in order to ensure their product and
service quality and performance are up to standards. For the
suppliers and service contractors who consecutively fail to meet
our standards, we will terminate the business cooperation.

To further guarantee and better monitor the social responsibilities
and commitment to environmental protection of our suppliers
and service contractors, we clarify our requirements of
ESG-related issues, including environmental protection, health
and safety and business ethics, in the service contracts and
require them to maintain proper management systems and
control measures among their business activities.

The Group is committed to open and fair procurement practices
and advocating green procurement. Nuofute Property
Management has standardised the tendering management
procedures to ensure legal compliance, and we also require the
departments in different business segments to obtain adequate
quotations for cost and performance comparison to guarantee
the most cost-effective products are selected. The stock of
existing products on hand is also checked regularly to avoid
unnecessary waste. Furthermore, we aim at selecting and
purchasing environmental friendly products and services, such
as products with energy-efficient labels, high recycled materials
and zero/low chemical or toxic substances during installation or
use.
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As of 31 December 2022, the Group has engaged 43 suppliers
and service contractors in total. The number of suppliers and
service contractors by geographical region is shown below:

Suppliers! by geographical region

RiLED M E D 2 ftER!
Mainland China — Chonggqing

FER — BB
Canada — Victoria
mExX —#% R
Ireland

ZEW

L The scope of suppliers only covers the number of direct suppliers of the
business of property management and hotel operation.

OUR ENVIRONMENT

The Group firmly believes that environmental protection is one of
the most critical prerequisites for sustainable development and
long-term business success. Therefore, the Group has
formulated a series of environmental management policies and
procedures in managing emissions, waste, use of natural
resources and climate issues in a responsible manner, so as to
mitigate the negative impacts on the environment and advocate
clean, comfortable and environmental-friendly operations. For
instance, Nuofute Property Management has implemented an
environmental management system with 1ISO 14001:2015
certification to manage the environmental issues and
performance in a well-planned manner and continually seek
opportunities for improvement.

The Group has complied with the applicable environmental laws
and regulations, including but not limited to the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC, the Environmental Protection Tax Law
of the PRC, the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.354) of HKSAR
and the Environmental Management Act in British Columbia,
Canada. in the regions where we locate. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of material breaches of relevant
laws and regulations relating to the air and greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emission, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste.
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Emissions

The air emissions generated in our business segments are mainly
from the exhausted gas from fuel-powered stationary plants and
motor vehicles and the cooking fumes in the hotel resort. To
reduce the air pollution, the Group tends to select clean and
superior fuels for all fuel-driven stationary plants and company
vehicles, and encourages green transportation. To ensure the
vehicles work at high efficient mode, we assign specific staff to be
responsible for regular maintenance and monitor of the total
amount and concentration of the pollutants. We have installed
the pollution control equipment, such as grease filters and range
hoods in the kitchens of hotel resort, to cut down the cooking
fumes emissions to the surrounding environment.

The main sources of the Group’s GHG emissions are the fuel
combustion from stationary equipment (e.g. boilers and
generators) and vehicles owned by the Group (“Scope 1
emission”), the consumption of purchased electricity (“Scope 2
emission”) and the business air travel by employees (“Scope 3
emission”). The majority of our GHG emissions are directly linked
to the energy use in our day-to-day operation in each business
segment, and the management measures adopted to control the
emission are further explained under the section of “Energy
Use”. During the Reporting Period, the total GHG emissions of
the Group is 4,321.3 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
(“tC0O2e™M).

Waste Management

The Group acknowledges the detrimental effects of inappropriate
dumping of waste on the environment. As such, we have
formulated waste management procedures and working guideline
in each business segment to manage and handle both hazardous
and non-hazardous waste generated in our daily operation, with
the application of 3R waste management principles (Reduce,
Reuse and Recycle).
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The hazardous waste generated by the Group principally consists
of light tubes/bulbs, dry batteries, waste fire extinguishers and
containers with waste paint and detergent consumed during our
operations of property management and hospitality services. All
the hazardous waste is properly segregated by specific staff and
consigned to the qualified waste collectors for further handling.
Non-hazardous waste is mainly produced in our managed
premises and BBR, including general waste, paper, plastic,
construction and demolition waste, oil and grease and used
amenities. To reduce waste at source, we limit the use of
single-use disposable items, such as paper cups, plastic utensils
and containers, regularly review the stock records and analyse
the amount of materials used in service provision in order to
prevent the unnecessary waste of materials. Besides, we make
full use of materials like single-side printed paper, envelops,
folders and so on, and set up recycling facilities, such as sorting
bins, nearby the working area for waste recycling. All the
harmless waste is properly collected, sorted in recyclable and
non-recyclable waste and then handled by qualified waste
collection companies for recycling and disposal.

Use of Resources
Energy Use

Gasoline, electricity, kerosene and natural gas are the major
types of energy consumed in business operations of the Group.
Gasoline is the fuel of the Group’s vehicles, and electricity and
kerosene are mainly supplied to building services and lighting in
our managed properties and our resort, while natural gas is used
by the boilers for heat generation. To decrease energy
consumption and enhance energy efficiency, the Group has
taken various saving measures and continually looks for energy
saving opportunities, which are highlighted as below:

° Install and replace conventional lighting with
energy-efficient LED lights;

° Replace the old or malfunctioned building facilities and
equipment with high energy-efficient models and searching
for higher energy-efficient models when new purchasing;

° Carry out regular maintenance and commissioning of the

building plants and equipment to ensure the machinery
maintains the optimal function and energy efficiency;
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BRIR - e MERTRE

° Develop the equipment switching schedules to regulate the
central air-conditioning systems, lighting systems and
elevator systems based on the operational needs and user
utilisation rate in daytime and night-time;

° Switch off the office appliances, lighting and
air-conditioning when they are not in use;

° Maintain the room temperature at comfort level about 24—
26 °C; and

° Conduct monthly, quarter and annual review on electricity
consumption of each department, and set energy saving
targets according to the analysis results.

Water Use

Water scarcity becomes one of the global environmental risks,
and hence everyone shall take essential steps to save this finite
and valuable resource. As a responsible corporate, the Group
puts great efforts in water conservation during the daily operation
of each business segment by adopting various water-saving
measures. We install water appliances (e.g. water faucets and
toilets, etc.) with high water efficiency and maintain regular
checks and maintenance of the water plumbing and flushing
systems in our managed buildings to reduce the water use,
prevent water leakage and ensure water quality and safety. Our
BBR provides bedding change card and encourages our guests
to reuse bed linens and towels during their stay so as to lower the
water consumption for laundry and enhance their awareness on
wise use of water. Regular inspections on water facilities and
irrigation system are conducted in BBR to ensure the equipment
and systems are functioned normally and no occurrence of water
dripping and leakage. Furthermore, we have implemented the
differential water pricing policy issued by the government in PRC
to stimulate water conservation. We are also dedicated to
promoting water saving to raise our employees and tenants’
awareness. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any water sourcing problem in our business segments.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to offering high quality services and
simultaneously maintaining the balance between operational
efficiency and environmental protection. Apart from
implementing the environmental management system certified
with ISO 14001 standards and/or relevant management
approaches in our property management segment, the Group
continues to arrange employee trainings and make joint efforts in
alleviating the negative impacts on the environment in our
operations by enhancing our employees’ awareness on
environmental protection and resource conservation.

To manage the possible noise nuisance arising from the building
facilities, equipment operation and fitting out in our managed
buildings, we have set out the working instruction of renovation
activities for both tenants and service providers to follow. For
example, all the renovation and building enhancement works can
only be allowed to carry out in designated hours (e.g. during
specific time period or during non-office hours) to minimise
disturbance to another occupants. Regular inspections are
conducted by the property management team to ensure all
parties strictly abide by the regulations and maintain the clean
environment to all the tenants and residents. Besides, we have
implemented practical engineering solutions such as replacing
the noisier equipment and machinery to low-noise ones and
installing the noise enclosure to the noise equipment to reduce
noise level.

Climate Change

Climate change has currently emerged as one of the most urgent
environmental issues in the world. As a shared responsibility
across all sectors, both China and Canada have acceded to the
Paris Agreement to combat the global warming together and
developed different strategies to cut down carbon emissions. The
Group also recognises the emergency of addressing
climate-related risks that may impact our stakeholders in our
operation, and has identified the following potential climate risks:
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Physical risks

Acute risks: The increased severity of extreme weather
events (e.g. typhoon, hurricane, floods) may cause
submersion and damage to our office buildings and the
delivered facade and further interrupt our business
operation.

Chronic risks: The changes in precipitation and weather
patterns (e.g. heatwaves, rising sea levels) may result in
higher operational cost for cooling, maintenance cost as
well as insurance premiums and potential for reduced
availability of insurance on assets in high-risk locations.

Transition risks

Policy risks: The latest implementation of carbon-pricing
mechanisms may push up the price of GHG emissions and
operating costs, thereby leading to financial instability.

Market risks: Higher demand for environmental-friendly
goods and design services may be put forward due to the
shift in customer preferences. Moreover, limited natural
resources and higher transportation cost due to increasing
climate-related weather events may increase the costs of
raw materials and investment in low-carbon technologies.

To minimise the risks that pose negative impacts to our
operation, we have emergency plans for typhoon and flooding in
place to prevent negative impacts on our property management
and hotel operation. For example, we will issue early warnings
based on the government notice on typhoon and heavy rain to
our employees in order to ensure their safety.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is dedicated to contributing to the community where
we operate by enriching community culture, building close social
bonds with the neighbours and creating harmonious community
living environment.

During the Reporting Period, we have organised a total of 8
community and charitable activities. We strive to strengthen
social cohesion and create a harmonious environment for the
local communities. On the International Women’s Day, we
prepared flowers and plants for women and initiated flower
arrangement and caring activities to show our great respect for
women and enhance tenant relationship. To create a pleasant
festive atmosphere, we also launched a knowledge quiz and a
rice dumpling workshop on the Dragon Boat Festival and held the
lantern riddles activities on the Mid-Autumn Festival to inherit
and promote Chinese culture. Moreover, we endeavour to help
vulnerable groups by participating in charity donation, and a total
of RMB6,200 was donated during the Reporting Period.

Besides, the Group continue supporting the Orange Shirt Day
(30 September) event in Canada with donation of CAD 1,000, in
which promoting the awareness of the concept of “Every Child
Matters” and the individual, family and community
inter-generational impacts of Indian residential schools.
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ESG DATA RE -HERERERE

Environmental performance RRERE

Unit 20221 2021 2020
By —g-=f | —B=-% | —B-Bf

GHG emissions?

BERBHER?

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) tCOe 441.85 509.21 397.72
ERREREHKR(EEL)? W_EmES
Energy Indirect emissions (Scope 2)* tCOe 3,879.32 3,284.46 5,218.68
R B (BE2) 4 W_EmES
Other Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3)° tCOe 0.14 — 2.64
Htt R EREEER (SEE3)S _EmES
Total GHG emission (Scope 1 + Scope 2) tCOe 4,321.16 3,793.68 5,619.04
BMERBHRAE (SEE1+5EH2) W_EmES
GHG intensity®
BERBEES
Hong Kong office tCO,e/employee 0.54 0.85 0.62
BEERAE WA i E 8

=]
Property management tCO,e/m? 0.004 0.01 0.01
MEERE WE AL E 8

Tk
Hotel operation tCO,e/guest night 0.040 0.037 0.055
R R WE—EALiE =
BEAF®
Air emission’
BE SR BE R
NOx kg 2.32 4.02 2.29
a|iY NIy
SOx kg 0.06 0.09 0.06
mEY NIy
PM kg 0.17 0.30 0.17
BIR T BF
Waste disposal
BEEYEE
Hazardous waste
BEEBEY
Hong Kong office Tonne = 0.001 No available
BEERRAE 7 data
7 A] A 8UR
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Property management
MEERE
Hotel and resort

B E R BB

Total hazardous waste

EEERYNAE

Non-hazardous waste

BERRY

Hong Kong office
ERBAE

Property management
Y EEE
Hotel operation

IR

Total non-hazardous waste

BREBRYKE

Energy consumption®
BEIROH #E8
Gasoline

by

Natural gas

RAR

Gas oil

by

Diesel

5¢h

Kerosene

oh

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Tonne
T

Tonne
7

Tonne
T

Tonne
T

Tonne
7]

Tonne
T8

Tonne
7]

L
A%
Gigajoules (“GJ")
HEH
m3
K
GJ
HEH
L
N
GJ
HEH
L
NF
GJ
HEH
L
N
GJ
HEH

0.25

0.25

795.73

103.21

898.94

3,779.06

123.89

231,069.98

7,763.95

265.70

71.04

50.00

1.81

0.79

0.79

3.39

634.13

91.83

729.35

6,102.57

200.05

278,702.60

10,929.51

180.00

6.37

1.94

0.16

2.10

No available
data

&m0 AR
629.51
50.10

679.68

3,940.01

129.16

194,084.56

7,611.16

360.00

12.74
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2022 2021 2020
—E-_—F1 —_== —_==
Electricity MWh 7,431.42 7,145.52 6,619.95
B BERF
GJ 26,753.09 25,723.86 23,831.81
=EH
Total energy consumption GJ 34,713.77 36,859.80 31,584.87
BERHERE 5EH
Energy intensity
BRZE
Hong Kong office GJ/employee 2.73 6.90 3.99
BEEBRLAE =EHBE
Property management GJ/m? 0.03 0.05 0.03
MEER HEE TR
Hotel operation GJ/guest night 1.14 1.08 1.67
BERE HEHE BEAR®
Water consumption®
AKE®
Hong Kong office m3 No available No available No available
ERBRAE 3K data data data
ETRAYE EAAZE 2 ETREE
Property management m?3 83,874 81,644.84 68,661.00
MEER SJTR
Hotel operation m3 28,828.00 18,911.00 13,332.00
B E R S J7OK
Total water consumption m?3 112,702.00 100,555.84 81,993.10
HEHKE K
Water intensity
RAKEE
Hong Kong office m3/employee No available No available No available
EBBRAE SNHKBE data data data
EUARE EAAZE  EATAEE
Property management ms3/m? 0.08 0.15 0.10
MEER SRR
Hotel and resort m?/guest night 3.56 2.08 2.60
BERERBRN SNFKRSENE®
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Social Performance

Employee profile
EEHR

Total workforce!®
ETHH
Employees by gender
mUERESNES
Male

B4

Female

prg:3

Employees by employment type
RERERNESNES

Full-time

2R

Part-time

R

Employees by age
RERESNESR

Under 30
305 AT

Age 30-50
30-355%

Over age 50
505 M £

Employees by employee category
REEERHESNES

Senior management

EREEE

Middle management

PR EEE

General staff

—RET

Employees by geographical region
RHWESHES2EE

Hong Kong

BB

China

B El

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

HERR

Unit
B

Number of people

AE

Number of people

AE

Number of people

AE

Number of people

AE

Number of people

AE

Number of people

AE

Number of people

AE

Number of people

AE

Number of people

AE

Number of people

AE

Number of people

AE

Number of people

AE

Number of people

AE

RE - wg MEawE

326

179

147

262

64

920

134

102

22

25

279

190
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Unit 2022
B —ECF
Canada Number of people 128

JIIlE=PN A

Employee turnover!!

BERK R

Total employee turnover Number 146

BERKBH s

Total employee turnover rate % 44.6

BEARKE

By gender??
714 52

Male % 42.0
B

Female % 48.1
e

By age!®

REWRY

Under 30 % 76.6
30m AT

Age 30-50 % 32,5
30-505%

Over age 50 % 33.6
505 A £

By geographical region

&Rt &5 e

Hong Kong % 63.2
BE

China % 26.8
i

Canada % 71.3
JIIlE=PN

Health and safety

RERZE

Number of work-related fatalities Number 0
EITAE H=

Rate of work-related fatalities % 0
EIkT=H

Cases of work-related accident Number 10
THEEW H=
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RE - wg MEawE

Lost days due to work injuries

EIERATHBH

Supply Chain Management!4
e g EE

Number of suppliers by geographical region

B Eo B 2 HERHE

China
e

Canada

PP

Ireland

E@EW

Anti-corruption

RES

Number of concluded corruption-related legal
cases against the Group or employees

HEAEEREEREICELENBRRARGEE
Notes:

1. The coverage of GHG emissions, waste, energy and water consumption
data in 2022 includes the office in Hong Kong, four managed property
projects in Chongging, Mainland China (Forebase Financial Plaza (F2
HERES), Forebase Convention International Building (R E & &
HFR KJE), Liangping Daisi International Community Project (2 F &
HrBIFR B JE 412 ), Xiushan haosheng International Community Project
(F LS EBRBRA/E LR ) and Haotai Property Management Limited
(2HWEEE AR L F) by Nuofute Property Management and our
BBR in Victoria, British Columbia, Canada. Due to the business nature
in property management services and hospitality services, no
packaging materials are utilised in our business segments as we are
not engaged in manufacturing industry.

2. The greenhouse gas emissions are defined and calculated according to
the GHG Protocol and “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by HKEX.

3. Scope 1 emission covers the direct GHG emissions generated by the
combustion of fuels for stationary source (gas boiler) and motor
vehicles controlled by the Group as well as the consumption of
refrigerants.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Scope 2 emission covers the purchased electricity in Hong Kong office,
property management service and hotel operation. The calculation is
based on the emission factors from 2021 Hong Kong Electric
sustainability report, Guidelines for Accounting and Reporting
Enterprise Greenhouse Gas Emissions Power Infrastructure (2022
Revision) issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the
PRC and 2021 B.C. Best Practices Methodology for Quantifying
Greenhouse Gas Emissions published by Ministry of Environment &
Climate Change Strategy.

Scope 3 emission covers the emission from the business travel of
employees only, and the calculation is based on the International Civil
Aviation Organisation Carbon Emissions Calculator.

The intensity of GHG emission is the sum of Scope 1 and Scope 2
emissions divided by the respective organisational units.

The air emission includes the vehicle used in the PRC and Canada
only.

The conversion factors from volumetric units of gasoline, natural gas,
gas oil and diesel consumption to energy units are with reference to
the CDP Technical note: Conversion of fuel data to MWh in 2020.

The water charge in Hong Kong office is included in the property rental
fee and thus no available records are available to reporting disclosure.

The figure of employee number is calculated based on the number of
headcounts of the Group as of the end of the Reporting Period.

The employee turnover rates cover voluntary resignations, retirements,
dismissal and other reason during the Reporting Period.

The figure refers to total number of employee turnover of the gender
group, divided by the total number of employees of the corresponding
gender group.

The figure refers to total number of employee turnover of the age group,
divided by the total number of employees of the corresponding age
group.

The figure covers the business of property management and hotel
operation only.
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ESG Reporting Guide Section
RE - #HE8REREERSD 4:
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51 &35l

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BHEERE

Governance Structure

E/ngg%

Reporting Principles

HERA

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

A statement from the board containing the following elements:

HEFSRLNEN  EPHAUTAR:

(i) adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;
BREZQURE HERELFEMNETS:

(i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the process
used to evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-related issues
(including risks to the issuer's businesses); and
EFENRE HERELERHHLER BFTh BEHIIRE
BEARE #HeRELEAZE (BREBTARBNER)HBE
IS

(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and targets
with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.
EEQNAREE HeREREBEERERRIER  YRETH
MARETAELBER -

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following Reporting
Principles in the preparation of the ESG report:

HEMBERERE HERERRER NIRRT RERA -

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to identify and the
criteria for the selection of material ESG factors; (ii) if a stakeholder engagement is
conducted, a description of significant stakeholders identified, and the process and
results of the issuer's stakeholder engagement.

EEM R HBRELBREERE: BAIEERE HBRELRENA
BREEZZRZMEN  (MWMBETADETHNEZE  ERNEERD
R RBETARNELENBERE

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or
calculation tools used, and source of conversion factors used, for the reporting of
emissions/energy consumption (where applicable) should be disclosed.

TR BERSHRE SRER(WER) MANEE 7% BRER/H
SEIANER  URMEANERERZNORBETERE

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any changes to the
methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors affecting a meaningful
comparison.

—HM BITARERE HEREARSTRERN A A BRENERN
EMEE (NF) REMEEYEFEELRNEBEE -

EEBEXIRE -HERER

ESG Governance
BB HekEhh

About the Report —
Reporting Principles

BRAHRE — HERA

— = — —

—_—

]

]
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BIE 8RB RS

ESG Reporting Guide Section
RE - #HE8REREERSD B

Reporting Boundary
RERA

A. Environmental
A B

Aspect Al: Emissions

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and describing the
process used to identify which entities or operations are included in the ESG report.
If there is a change in the scope, the issuer should explain the difference and reason
for the change.

RERE ?iA&ﬁiéiﬁiéfﬂi&%ﬁi RiEEFEmMEERAFBEMARE

About the Report —
Reporting Scope
BRARE — RERA

HERERRENER FESREEMEY BTARRBIRIELED
REA o

BHEAL :
Al General Disclosure Our Environment —
—REE Emissions
RE—¥K
Information on:
ARERLAZREBHEN  MKRLHAES  BERESEEMWEESM:  Our Environment — Waste
Management
a)  the policies; and RE—BEWER
BE R
b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BTHETABEAZENEBERRBOINEHR -
KPI Al1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data. ESG data
BRENERALL HRUmE R LR AR - B e REREE
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.  ESG data
BEENIEEAL2 per unit of production volume, per facility). BiE e REaYE
RERBHREE CAEHE) R (ER)ZE (MAGES BN - BERE
&)
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. ESG data
BRENIEEALS per unit of production volume, per facility). BB e REREE
MELAEBEENEE UBHE) R(WER)%E (MASESEN - §ER
i
KPI Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes and, where appropriate, intensity ~ ESG data
BEENIEEALL (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). BiE e REaYE
FEAREEZENEE CUEHE) R (ER)ZE (WASESEN BER

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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ESG Reporting Guide Section
RE - #HE8REREERSD B

KPI AL.5
BREANERALS

KPI A1.6
RRENIEEALE

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

WAL ER R ARNZFEEMERN IR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HOARBAERESEENNE  RERMTUNREERRAERNZER
BRFERN TSR -

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : ERER
A2

KPI A2.1
BRENERA2]

KPI A2.2
RREMIERA2.2

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

General Disclosure

—RBE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
materials.

BUFERER(BEERR  KREMRME) BBE

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total
(kWh in'000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
REANESMERR/SRZER (NS [l 8FE U TETREKTE)
REE (MAGEEEN BERETE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
BREKERTE (WAGESEM  BHERMHE) -

Our Environment —
Emissions

BE— Y

Regarding the result of
materiality assessment, this
KPI is not considered as
highly material for the Group,
hence no target(s) setting
during the Reporting Year.
REEZUFENER Ik
BREIERRARERE
EmsuAEE A B
REMUESFERR -

Our Environment — Waste
Management
B —BENEE

Regarding the result of
materiality assessment, this
KP!'is not considered as
highly material for the Group,
hence no target(s) setting
during the Reporting Year.
RESEMTHNER 1t
BREVEERARUAE
EmsuAEE A B
REBLEEITRE -

Our Environment — Use of
Resources

B%E—ARER

ESG data
RIE e REREE

ESG data
B e REa8E

“EFRH
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BIE 8RB RS

ESG Reporting Guide Section
RE - #HE8REREERSD B

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Our Environment — Use of

BRENERA23 BRIV REARGE AR RAENZZARAERNAR - Resources
RE—BRER
Regarding the result of

materiality assessment, this
KPI is not considered as
highly material for the Group,
hence no target(s) setting
during the Reporting Year.
REEZUFENER Ik
BREIERRARERE
EmsuAEE A B
REMUESFERR -

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, ~ Our Environment — Use of
BRENIEEA.4 water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Resources
HWOKIER KRR S B EMEE  LWRAAIVAOAKBRAERAZIZE RE—ARER
B R ERERE 75K o
Regarding the result of

materiality assessment, this
KP!'is not considered as
highly material for the Group,
hence no target(s) setting
during the Reporting Year.
RESEMTHNER 1t
BREVEERARUAE
EmsuAEE A B
REBLEEITRE -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, ~ Not applicable
BRENERA2S with reference to per unit produced. @R
HERAABRMHNEE (UHEE) R (WER) BEEEUGE -

Aspect A3: The environment and Natural Resources
BEA3 : BERARER

A3 General Disclosure Our Environment — The
—REE Environment and Natural
Resources
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and natural 335 —IRIERARER
resources.
REETAHRERARERENEAT ENHE -
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural ~~ Our Environment — The
BRENIEEAL resources and the actions taken to manage them. Environment and Natural

B ER EDHRERARE RN EAY ERE RN ER A ENTTE - Resources
RE—BRERARER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE - (2 NEAWmE

ESG Reporting Guide Section
RE - #HE8REREERSD B

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EEA : RRE(
A4

KPI A4.1
BRENERA.L

B. Social
B. #®

Aspect B1: Employment
EMEBL : &

Bl

KPI B1.1
RREMIEEBLL

KPI B1.2
RRENESBL2

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

General Disclosure

—REE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BARFEERRTREHETAELYENEARKFABSENRR -

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

HACERAREHETARLYENEARKEREE  REHTY -

General Disclosure

—RBE

Information on:
BRAEMRRE  REREA  TENE - BY - FEHe - 2ol REEN
REMFBREHE :

a)  the policies; and

HR R

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

ETHRTAREARENRRERRATINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), age
group and geographical region.

BRI ERER (M2RIGER)  FRAMNREDNHESRY -
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

RIER - FRAERRERADHEERKLE -

Our Environment — Climate
Change
B — ARE(

Our Environment —Climate
Change
R —AREL

Our Employees —
Employment Practices

FEENES —ERER

ESG data
RE - HERERUE

ESG data
RE - HEREREE

“EFRH
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE -t NERWmE

ESG Reporting Guide

RE HEREREEES
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EBEB2: #ERZ2

Section
Ef

B2 General Disclosure Our Employees — Health
—RHE and Safety
AEENES —RERZ
Information on: S
BURRZ2THERERREESHEBEMEEN
a)  the policies; and
BR R
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
BFHETABEATENEBERRROINEHR -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years ~ ESG data
BRENEEBR2.1 including the reporting year. RIE e REREE
BEZF (DEREER)BFRITHNHABRILE .
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. ESG data
BRENESB2.2 AIGBAIERY RE - HEREREE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are ~ Our Employees — Health
BRENIEEB2.3 implemented and monitored. and Safety

HAFRANRERFEEL 21 AREBRITRERTE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EEB3 : &R KE3

AEENER —RERE

£

B3 General Disclosure Our Employees —
—REE Development and Training
AEENES —ERRKIE
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at 3l
work. Description of training activities.
BRRAESETIIEREMN AR R AOTE - ftFIES -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior  Our Employees —
BEENIEERI.] management, middle management). Development and Training
RERNREERN (NRRERE +REEE)ANPNXIEEBNL - AEENES —BERRKIE
il
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee  Our Employees —
BRENIEEBR3.2 category. Development and Training

RUERREERRE D BREERKZINTHORH -

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE g Nenms

ESG Reporting Guide Section
RE - #HE8REREERSD 4:

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

EBEB4: BIEE
B4

KPI B4.1
RRENIEEBA.]

KPI B4.2
BRENIEEB4.2

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on:

BHBLETAEHETH

a)  the policies; and

HE R

b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BTHBETABEALENBREERAONNEH

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced

labour.

iR BEEAMEENBRETREFHST -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

HAERRERBENSERERBERNARROFR -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

EEBS: fAEEERE
B5

KPI B5.1
BRREANESBS.1

KPI B5.2
BRENEEBS.2

KPI B5.3
BRRENEEBS.3

KPI B5.4
AREANERBS4

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

General Disclosure

~B#8

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
ERRERENRERLERAREE -
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

RS DHOHERHE

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where
the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

HREHEERAHERNER RARTEREROEEREE - URABRT
REERE-.

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
HREBRARERGERSNRE R EARNER - ARBBERTRER
T e

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.
HREREHEARRELARRERIRENER  UREBRITRERER
e

Our Employees —
Employment Practices

AEENES —BRER

Our Employees —
Employment Practices

FEENES —ERER

Our Employees —
Employment Practices

AEENER —BRFER

Our Business Operation
— Supply Chain
Management

FHEE —{HEREE

Our Business Operation
— Supply Chain
Management
$BEE—(HERER
Our Business Operation
— Supply Chain
Management

BB —{HERERE

Our Business Operation
— Supply Chain
Management

(BB —HERER

Our Business Operation
— Supply Chain
Management
$BEE—(HERER

“EFRH
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE -t NERWmE

ESG Reporting Guide Section
RE - #HE8REREERSD B

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EEB6: EMET

B6 General Disclosure Our Business Operation
—REE — Service Responsibility
iBeE—RBAL
Information on:

BRMRHEMRRENREELE B BERLBRZEUARBRITEN

a) the policies; and

HE R

b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

ETHETAREARENBRERRATIMER -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health  Not applicable
BEEMIEERG.1 reasons. TER
EENREXREmBRTRZ 2 ERFEHMADNKNEAL -
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt ~ Our Business Operation
BRENIEEB6.2 with. — Service Responsibility
BREARERKRBNRFEE ARELEHE - B8 —RBAEL
KPI1 B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property ~ Our Business Operation
BB NMIEEB6.3 rights. — Service Responsibility
g EERREABEREENTER (BEERE — B
KPI1 B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Our Business Operation
BEENIEEB6.4 HigEEmRTRAERERBYER - — Service Responsibility
¥BEE - RBAL
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are  Our Business Operation
BRENIEEB6.S implemented and monitored. — Service Responsibility
HEBEBERRERLEBEER - URABMTRERGE (BEE—RBER
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ESG Reporting Guide

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - (g NERWmE

RE - HERERKREE

Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

BEB7: RES
B7

KPI B7.1
RRENIEEBT.1

KPI B7.2
RRENIEEBT.2

KPI B7.3
RRENIEEBT.S3

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on:

BRMLES $R - RERARER

a)  the policies; and

HER R

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BTHETAREAZENRREZRRADNEH -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the

issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

RESHRHETAZEEERIYCSEENB SHARFOHE LFRER -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they
are implemented and monitored.

W EHEERBREF  AREBRTRERRE

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.
HRMEEREIREORESE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EBEBS : HERE
B8

KPI B8.1
ARENIEEBS.1

KPI B8.2
RRENIEEBS.2

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

General Disclosure

—RBE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.
ARANHR2ETREEMEMHENTEARBREXBEHCZEBUHEFR
BER

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs,

health, culture, sport).
ETEREE(NHE RETE STk BF- U BE)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

ERIEEMYRER(NEEAHR) -

Section
Ef

Our Business Operation

— Business Integrity and
Anti-corruption

LHLE — BEIRRR

BB

Our Business Operation

— Business Integrity and
Anti-corruption
FBHEE—BEACRR
V]

Our Business Operation

— Business Integrity and
Anti-corruption
FBEE—BRACRK
B

Our Business Operation

— Business Integrity and
Anti-corruption
FBEE—BEACRR
B

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment

HtRRE

Community Investment

HtREE

“EFRH
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Chairman)

Mr. Choi, aged 41, has been an executive director of the
Company and the Co-Chairman of the Board since 10 October
2019, and was re-designated as the Chairman following the
resignation of Ms. Yeung So Mui on 31 March 2022. Mr. Choi
started as the general manager, and currently as the executive
director, at Realway Investment Limited and Key Target
Investments Limited, each a company principally engaged in the
trading of lifestyle fast-moving consumer goods in local and
overseas market. At Realway Investment Limited, Mr. Choi
manages to provide professional global lifestyle fast-moving
consumer goods trading services to worldwide countries. He
established different distribution channels and target segment in
the past 15 years. He leads a team to explore new markets in
Southeast Asia and maintain a stable growth in the
well-developed market in the European Union and Middle East.
Apart from the trading business, Mr. Choi has been working in a
family business in property management, with a team of about
10 talents in Hong Kong for over a decade. He is the director of
the leasing and property management company and is
responsible for planning business strategies and managing the
local and overseas operation teams. Mr. Choi graduated from
Seneca College, Toronto, Canada in General Business in 2003.

As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Choi owns the entire equity
interest in Great Match International Limited which holds
818,156,014 shares of the Company, representing approximately
74.86% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. Chen Jian

Mr. Chen, aged 66, has been an executive director of the
Company since 10 October 2019. Mr. Chen joined Realway
Investment Limited in 2014 as the director of sales and
marketing. From 2009 to 2014, Mr. Chen worked as the sales
and marketing manager of Great King International Limited.
Mr. Chen served as the marketing executive of Nippon Tsusho
Co., Ltd.* (BBR &+t HABR) from 2005 to 2008, and worked
for Ideal Properties Corp. as the department manager from 1997
to 2005. Mr. Chen is a professional in sales and marketing. He is
experienced in business development in both developed and
emerging markets including Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore,
Egypt, Greece and Pakistan etc. Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor of
engineering from Shanghai Nautical College (now known as
Shanghai Maritime University) in July, 1982.

*

For identification purpose only

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

HITES
EEMEE(ERE)

BEE Al BE—NF+HATHE—E
BARRNTESRESEHF IR  ER
BEBLITN _E-_—_F=A=1+—H8E%
TERER o B ENREIE B I AJK#ER
& AR 7] K Key Target Investments Limited -
BRIEARNTES  ZZRAIDETERER
HWREINT S ERREEEME S o 254
RIKEREBR AR EEIRTOE B R EE
ERESRBTHEASE HRBAETATE
VARSHEEBERBEDE - HEEBEKFA
REEHmMEBTRMBE PR ETISER
BEER BRTEZIEBIN HXRETFER
MEEBABMNRELEEE—BKO+EESH
EXTERBTE HAEERYMEEERA
MEE BERIEBREREE R K EFI
EBEK - BHAEER ST _FEENNNEKX
ZmMEENRER MR EREE-

RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 8BLELEEHR
Great Match International Limited #) 2 &F J& # -
MGreat Match International Limited$5 8 K A 7]
818,156,014 & 7  {E AR A B EHITIRAL
74.86% °

BRiE T

BREAE 665 BE_ZE—NEFE+A+HE—H
BARARBITES - MAER T —EOFMA
KEREBR AR EEHEEREHEE - A
TEEANFE T UFE - RAEEETARE
BRAERAGMHEE MEHLE -RAEERZT
TRHFE T N\FETERSTLEHRNBEN
BHEATAE  TR—ANEtEE-ZTZTRF
P ldeal Properties Corp JE1ESFIATIR o fRICAE
BHEREHEEASR - FRERREKIEM
5 (RIEEE - BRAD - i - B K - B
NEEIMBE) BB EBERLER - RAEER—
WNZFtRELEEESRGIALEES
AE)VRSIRRE L2 -

* EHER

RARBERZRARLDE



As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Chen did not have any interests in
the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny

Mr. Tai, aged 61, has been an executive director of the Company
since 10 October 2019. Mr. Tai started his career with his
expertise in the information technology department in Hong Kong
at the Bank of China Group in the 1980s. Since 2014, he is the
general manager of Gold Companion International Limited, a
trading company of lifestyle fast-moving consumer goods, and
since 2006, the director of the Realway International (Phil.) Co.
Rp., managing over 100 employees in Hong Kong and the
Philippines. Mr. Tai obtained a bachelor of electronic and
communication engineering from the De La Salle University, the
Philippines in 1985. Mr. Tai is appointed as the deputy manager
of the executive committee of The Fukienese Association Limited
(BERERES).

As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Tai did not have any interests in
the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

Ms. Hung Wang Kai Grace

Ms. Hung, aged 40, has over 9 years of experience in culture and
sports industry. In April 2014, Ms. Hung co-founded Pacific
Media Group Limited (B R F & X/LHEBRAA]), a
company principally engaged in culture and sports industry.
Since April 2014 and up to the date of this announcement, Ms.
Hung is interested in 50% equity interest in and a director of
Pacific Media Group Limited. In 2021, Ms. Hung co-founded
Beijing PMG China Limited (Jt R Z R XL BR A A, a
company principally engaged kids animation content including
local production, Asia distribution and the licensing copyright of
children indoor pars, pop-ups, consumer products and children’s
publications.

Ms. Hung is a member of the Fifth (5th) and the Six (6th)
Shenzhen Municipal Yantian District Committee of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. Ms. Hung was also a
director of the fortieth (40th) and fortieth-first (41st) term board
of directors of Yan Oi Tong.

As at 31 December 2022, Ms. Hung did not have any interests in

the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.
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RNR-ZZE-—E+-A=+—0 RBEZEL5KLH
EIEBISEXVED - B 5 A4 I RN A A 7 AR & 3
Bk -

BEMEE

BEAE 6l BT —hET+ATHE—H
BARBRITES - BAER—NNEFERE
FRRITEEFNAENEBEMBEHMNE
PINBHREE BT NFR-_TTARF
B SR AELERERAR (BERREE
BME SN A)) K 42LEIE [ Realway International
(Phil) Co. Ro.WEER - REEBENMFFREEER
100%EE - BEERN—NN\RAFEFERERE
NEARSIRFEFREMIEZL24A0 - &Fix
HTEZAAREERERSEIESR -

RZBZZ_F+ZA=+—8 REEFRH
BIRPIEXVED - & 58 £ I R AR R A
BT -

HEEELT

L A05%  EXE R BT E A BB
FEH -R_ZE—NFNA AL+ HRAEIZ
REAFEXLEERRAGT  ZAREER
EXEREETE - BT NFNARER
REBH  HLITREERFEVEEREBR
RNAEIMS0%BEF AR WEEEES -
RIEZ—F T HEAZIERER UL
ERAF  ZARFTENREREHEAND ' B
FEARMBUE - MBETURREZTRNEER -« &
5 HBEMRREHRMAOMAEREE -

AL RTPBEARBAHEEHFERG)ENE
NOEFNTEARZESERE - AT TA
CEEENT@A)EMREN+ -G EESBH
5%

RZBZ_F+ZA=+—0 REEHFRH
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BT -
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie

Ms. Lai, aged 42, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 10 October 2019. Ms. Lai
obtained a Master’'s degree in Civil Engineering from University
College London, United Kingdom in 2004 and was qualified as a
solicitor in England and Wales in 2013. In 2016, Ms. Lai was also
qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong. Ms. Lai has more than 14
years’ management experience in the construction and
engineering industry, both as a civil engineer and qualified legal
practitioner, including project management, project planning and
implementation, financing and resourcing, litigation, dispute
resolution, contracts and corporate governance. Between 2016
and 2017, Ms. Lai held the position of legal counsel of SUEZ
(Asia) Limited. Between 2017 and 2018, Ms. Lai held the
position of legal counsel of SUEZ NWS Limited. Ms. Lai is
promoted to the position of senior legal counsel of SUEZ NWS
Limited in 2019. Ms. Lai previously held the position of graduate
engineer for Halcrow Group Limited and the position of senior
engineer for Mouchel Limited, United Kingdom and Legal
Counsel for Ove Arup & Partners Hong Kong Limited from 2012
to 2015 and Gammon Construction Limited from 2015 to 2016.

As at 31 December 2022, Ms. Lai did not have any interests in
the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

Mr. Huang Xiangyang

Mr. Huang, aged 68, is currently a senior consultant of Intewig &
Partners. He has over 36 years of experience in Chinese law,
especially economic, trade and intellectual property law.
Mr. Huang is a qualified patent attorney in Germany and China.
From 30 December 2016 to 11 June 2019, Mr. Huang was a
non-executive director of the Company. Prior to joining the
Company in 2016, Mr. Huang was employed by, among others,
Paul Hastings and China Patent Agent (HK) Ltd.

As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Huang is interested in 1,500,000
shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.14% of the
entire issued share capital of the Company.
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BIAFEPITES
REmxt

Rt 2B BT LEFT+A+TAE—H
BARNRBIUIFRATES - BRIHR_FTZH
FUHRERBARBEEIG T ARTIRE TS24
MFRZE—ZFERIAREH B2
fleRBULTMR_ZE—"FERITAEBER
Bl e RUTHREBERTRRITEBERI4FER
KB (EAIAIREMEREERERNES) -
BREEERE BEREALER MBESE
BRI RS AHORDEER R
T-RFEZT—+tF Butrh&FE (&
M) BERAREEEEZREM R —+tFE2=
T—N\F BZLIR&BFTHAIEZERAAE
BEEER - BRATR - NFEEFH AT
THAEBER AN SR EERERM Bt i@
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R FE_T-RFAEREMATEREME
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FIEEBRAREEEERM -
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Mr. Ngok Ho Wai

Mr. Ngok, aged 54, obtained a Bachelor degree of Social Science
with Honors from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 1993. He obtained a Master degree of Accounting
from Curtin University of Technology (now known as Curtin
University) in February 1999. Mr. Ngok has been a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and CPA
Australia since July 2000 and July 2022 respectively.

Mr. Ngok has over 27 years of experience in the banking
industry. He worked at Wing Hang Bank Limited from August
1993 to September 1996 with his last position as senior officer, at
Fortis Bank Asia HK from September 1996 to July 2000 with his
last position as relationship manager in the commercial banking
department — medium enterprises, at DBS Bank (Hong Kong)
Limited from July 2000 to March 2007 with his last position as
vice president in the wholesale banking, corporate & investment
banking — enterprise banking division, at Dah Sing Bank Limited
from May 2007 to August 2014 with his last position as team
head in the commercial bank marketing department, at O-Bank
Co., Limited (Hong Kong branch) from August 2014 to
November 2018 with this last position as vice president of the
corporate banking section, at OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited
from January 2019 to November 2019 with his las position as
senior manager in the commercial banking department, and at
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited from
December 2019 to October 2020 with his last position as team
head in the Greater Bay Area corporate banking department.

Mr. Ngok is currently an independent non-executive director of
Basetrophy Group Holdings Limited, the issued shares of which
are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 8460).

As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Ngok did not have any interests in

the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.
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FLAZE_ZTTLF=RERRERRT(H
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Report of the Directors
FEGWEE

The Directors hereby submit this report of the Directors (the
“Report of the Directors”) together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 (the “Consolidated Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company.

The principal activities of subsidiaries of the Group includes
mainly (i) the operation of a resort in Canada (the “Hotel
Operation”); (ii) properties management (the “Properties
Management”) in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC");
and (iii) the management of kitchen for, and management of
delivering quality ingredients to, PRC customers (the “Catering
Management”).

The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries of
the Company are set out in note 47 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. An analysis of the performance of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 by operating segments and
geographical segments is set out in note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. Further discussion and analysis of these
activities as required by schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 8 to 17
of this annual report, which forms part of this Report of the
Directors.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of revenue and cost of sales for the year ended
31 December 2022 attributable to the major suppliers and
customers of the Group from continuing operations are as
follows:

Revenue

The largest customer 2.6%
Five largest customers in aggregate 7.8%
Cost of sales

The largest supplier 9.4%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 26.1%
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At no time during the year, have the Directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors having made reasonable enquiries, owns more than
5% of the issued share capital of the Company) has a beneficial
interest in the five largest customers or suppliers of the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the state of the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in
the “Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income” and “Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position” on pages 121 to 123 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$ nil).

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” on
pages 125 to 126 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2022,
calculated under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
amounted to HK$ nil (2021: HK$ nil).

No dividend was paid or declared for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: HK$ nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association of the Company or the laws of Hong Kong which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets of the Group during the year are set out in notes
19 and 21, respectively, to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

SECURED LOANS

Particulars of secured loans of the Group as at 31 December
2022 are set out in note 33 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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BONDS

Particulars of bonds of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are
set out in note 34 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2022
are set out in note 37 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year ending 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Yeung So Mui (Co-Chairman) V)
Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Chairman)

Mr. Ng Kwai Wah Sunny @

Mr. Chen Jian

Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny

Mr. Lin Junwei @

Ms. Hung Wang Kai Grace @

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie

Mr. Ting Wong Kacee

Dr. Loke Yu (Alias Loke Hoi Lam)“
Mr. Huang Xiangyang ®

Mr. Ngok Ho Wai ®©

@ resigned on 31 March 2022

@ retired on 10 June 2022

@ appointed on 1 October 2022

@ resigned on 1 September 2022
& appointed on 29 July 2022

® appointed on 30 November 2022

The biographical details of the current Directors are set out under
the section “Directors” of this annual report.

In accordance with Article 92 of the Articles of Association,
Ms. Hung Wang Kai Grace, Mr. Huang Xiangyang and Mr. Ngok
Ho Wai shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be subject to
re-election at that meeting.
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In accordance with Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Choi Yun Chor and Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie
shall retire from the Board by rotation and Mr. Choi Yun Chor and
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie, being eligible, will offer themself for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the date of this annual report, each of the Directors have
entered into a service contract or an appointment letter (as the
case may be) with the Company for either no fixed term of
service or an initial fixed term of three years commencing from
their appointment or re-designation, subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of the
Company pursuant to Articles of Association of the Company,
and will continue thereafter until terminated by (i) in cases of
executive directors and independent non-executive directors of
the Company, not less than one months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other or payment in lieu of such notice, or
(i) in case of non-executive directors of the Company, not less
than one month’s notice in writing by the non-executive director
or the written notice issued by the Company with immediate
effect.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
upcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a service
contract or an appointment letter with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employer within
one year without payment of compensation (or statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit,
qualifications and competence of individual employees and are
reviewed by the remuneration committee periodically.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and are decided by the Board, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics.

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme to motivate and
reward its directors and selected participants. Details of the
Share Option Scheme are set out under the paragraph headed
“Share Option Scheme” of this Report of the Directors on pages
97 to 102 in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)) which were required
(i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules adopted by the Company (the “Model
Code”) (collectively “disclosure interests”) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Directors’ interests in Issued Shares of the
Company

EERESITHASRRY - BER
HRESFZEZRKE

RZEBE-_—F+-_A=+—R8 FFFHALAQ7
BETHRABRARR S EEMAEEE (E
ERBELBEKN(EFHERBPEED]) FEXV
) 2B fn - AR DS EREET  HEEAOR
BEA R EENEXVERE 7 R8N EMEAR A
ARSIz EE AR (BREREES LN
EIEPIBEBEXEEREEREAEE 2R
KRB ) 5 k(iR IR E 5 K HA & 155 5352630
AZIEFT Bl 2 s AR+ (i RIEAR
REVFTERAN ET BRI SR8 E T AE
FHEITEFRZWZESTR (BEFA ) Ag
ARAIRBMRFIZEE AR (HBIATHEE
=DM

EERF QAR TR ZHER

Interest of Approximately
Personal controlled Interest of percentage of
Name of directors interests corporation spouse Total shareholding
SR MR
EEpE PN 23 2 BB E# A% BREIL
Mr. Choi Yun Chor — 818,156,014 (L) — 818,156,014 (L) 74.86%
ZRNEE (note 1) (FEED)
Mr. Huang Xiangyang 1,000,000 — 500,000 1,500,000 0.14%
BERGEE
Notes: PiYSE -

(1) These shares are held by Great Match International Limited, a
company wholly-owned by Mr. Choi Yun Chor.

(L) Long position
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the

Directors, or their respective associates had any other
discloseable interests as required.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests or long
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company were as follows:

No. of ordinary

Report of the Directors
FEGWEE

FERERHEMA TR IRG RER R
MZEZERKE

RNZBE-_—_F+-_A=+—0 BAEARAzE
ERERITHRAEI » THIALTRART ZK
HBEEERGT  BEEARRREEFEFRBPE
B E336IKATHERE 2 ELMATRE S E M
GARAQNFZERKTFRWT ¢

Ordinary shares

EiER
Approximately
percentage of

Nature of interest/ issued share

Substantial shareholders shares held Capacity capital
BEZ EE 81T
FTERRE EEREE BEME 5 BREAGLIEIH
Great Match International Limited (Note 1) (BH7E1) 818,156,014 (L) Beneficial owner 74.86%
EmEAA
Ms. Cheung Yuk Ha Jenny (Note 2) 818,156,014 (L) Beneficial owner 74.86%
sREEL L (MEE2) EmEAA
Interest of spouse
[
(L)  Long position LFE
Notes: B EE

(1) Great Match International Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Choi Yun
Chor.

(2) By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Cheung Yuk Ha Jenny is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by her spouse, Mr. Choi Yun Chor.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no other

interests required to be recorded in the register kept under
Section 336 of the SFO had been notified to the Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Save as disclosed below, based on the information publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Company maintained the prescribed public float
under the Hong Kong and Shanghai Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The First Period

Reference is made to (i) the response document dated 11 March
2022 issued by the Company in relation to mandatory
unconditional cash offer by Elstone Securities Limited for and on
behalf of Great Match International Limited (the “Offeror”) to
acquire all the issued shares in the Company (other than those
already owned or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and
parties acting in concert with it) (the “Offer”); (ii) the
announcement jointly issued by the Offeror and the Company
dated 25 March 2022 in relation to, among other things, the
close of the Offer, the results of the Offer, the settlement of the
Offer and the public float of the Company (the “Closing
Announcement”); and (iii) the announcement issued by the
Company dated 30 March 2022 in relation to the grant of waiver
by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited to the Company
from strict compliance with Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules
for the period from 25 March 2022 to 17 May 2022 (both days
inclusive).

As disclosed in the Closing Announcement, immediately after the
close of the Offer on 25 March 2022, subject to the completion of
the transfer to the Offeror of Offer Shares acquired by it under the
Offer (in respect of valid acceptances received), 264,981,181
Shares, representing approximately 24.25% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the Closing
Announcement, were held by the public (as defined under the
Listing Rules). Accordingly, as at the date of the Closing
Announcement, the Company does not satisfy the minimum
public float requirement under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing
Rules.

The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for a waiver
(the “Waiver”) from strict compliance with Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the
Listing Rules commencing from 25 March 2022 to 17 May 2022
(both days inclusive) (the “Waiver Period”) after taking into
account, among others, the time required to restore the
minimum public float by the Offeror.
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On 30 March 2022, the Stock Exchange has granted the Waiver
to the Company for the duration of the Waiver Period, subject to
the disclosure of the Waiver (including details and reasons) by
way of publication of this announcement. The Stock Exchange
may withdraw or change the Waiver if the Company’s situation
changes.

As set out in the announcement of the Company dated 17 May
2022, the Company was informed by the Offeror that during the
period from 10 May 2022 to 17 May 2022, the Offeror has
disposed of an aggregate 8,240,000 Shares (the “Disposal”),
representing approximately 0.75% of the issued Shares as of the
even date, by way of open market disposal of the Shares to
independent third party(ies) (the “Purchasers”). To the best
knowledge, information and belief of the Directors, having made
all reasonable enquiries, the Purchasers are not core connected
persons (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company,
and are members of the public (within the meaning of Rule 8.24
of the Listing Rules).

Following the Disposal, a total of 273,221,181 Shares,
representing approximately 25% of the issued Shares, are held
by the public. Accordingly, the minimum public float of 25% as
required under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules has been
restored. Based on the information available to the Company,
none of the Purchaser(s) becomes a substantial shareholder (as
defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company immediately
after completion of the Disposal.

The Second Period

Reference is also made to the announcement of the Company
dated 29 July 2022 and 17 August 2022, in respect of, among
others the appointment of Mr. Huang Xiangyang as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company and the
interest of Mr. Huang Xiangyang in the Company.

As at 29 July 2022, the spouse of Mr. Huang Xiangyang holds
500,000 Shares and as a result, Mr. Huang Xiangyang is deemed
under Part XV of the SFO to be interested in 1,500,000 Shares,
representing approximately 0.14% of the entire issued share
capital of the Company.
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Taking into account the Shares held by Great Match International
Limited, Mr. Huang Xiangyang and his spouse, only
272,721,181 Shares, representing approximately 24.95% of the
entire issued share capital of the Company are held by the public
shareholders of the Company on 29 July 2022 and accordingly,
the minimum public float requirement of 25% as set out in Rule
8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules is not satisfied since 29 July
2022.

As set out in the announcement of the Company dated
b5 September 2022, the Company was informed that on
2 September 2022, Great Match International Limited has
disposed of an aggregate of 500,000 Shares, representing
approximately 0.05% of the total number of issued Shares, by
way of open market disposal to independent third party(ies). To
the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the purchaser(s) are not
core connected persons (as defined under the Listing Rules) of
the Company, and are members of the public (within the
meaning of Rule 8.24 of the Listing Rules).

Following the disposal by Great Match International Limited, a
total of 273,221,181 Shares, representing approximately 25% of
the issued Shares, are held by the public. Accordingly, on
2 September 2022m the minimum public float of the Company
has been restored and the Company is in compliance with Rule
8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS THAT ARE
SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE
COMPANY'S BUSINESS

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Connected
Transaction and Continuing Connected Transaction” on pages 95
to 97 to this annual report and note 46 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, no other transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance, to which the Company or any of its
holding Company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors and their respective associates had
interests in the businesses which competes or was likely to
compete, whether directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group.

There has been no material change in directors’ interests in any
competing business subsequent to 31 December 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year, the Group had entered into the following
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions.

Lease agreement

On 23 July 2021, Best Master Limited (“Best Master”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
lease agreement (the “Lease Agreement”) with Seven Elements
Interactive Digital Technology Limited (“Seven Elements”),
pursuant to which Seven Elements agreed to lease the Filecoin
equipment, storage facilities and auxiliary parts, which could
generate 3 pebibytes of effective storage mining power to Best
Master for the provision of cloud computing and data storage
services and mining of Filecoin for a term of three years
commencing from 1 August 2021 until 31 July 2024.

At the time of entering into the Lease Agreement, Seven
Elements is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Imperium
Group Global Holdings Limited which was controlled by a former
controlling shareholder of the Company (who ceased to be a
controlling shareholder of the Company on 24 December 2021).
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Ms. Yeung So Mui, a former Director of the Company resigned on
31 March 2022. By virtue of Rule 14A.07(2) of the Listing Rules,
Ms. Yeung So Mui is a connected person of Company during a
period from 31 March 2022 to 31 March 2023. Seven Elements
is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Imperium Group Global
Holdings Limited. Mr. Cheng Ting Kong is the controlling
shareholder of Imperium Group Global Holdings Limited and the
spouse of Ms. Yeung So Mui. By virtue of Rule 14A.12 of the
Listing Rules, Seven Elements is an associate of Ms. Yeung So
Mui and by virtue of Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing Rules, Seven
Eleven is the connected person of the Company.

The leasing fees shall be based on 35% of the total number of
Filecoin mined during the term of the Lease Agreement, which
shall be settled by Best Master in Filecoin. The amount of the
leasing fee shall be calculated based on (i) the cryptocurrency
released on each day by the official Inter Planetary File System;
and (ii) the market value of Filecoin on the relevant day, which
shall be determined with reference to the Filecoin price as
quoted by Coinbase at 0:00 a.m. Eastern Standard Time on the
same day.

The annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
HK$8,600,000. The amount of the leasing fees paid for the year
ended 31 December 2022 which was settled by approximately
6,439.8 Filecoins.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company had
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that the transactions had been entered into:

(i)  inthe ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i) according to the Lease Agreement governing such
transactions of terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

Best Master is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Dragon Delight
Group Limited, which was a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. On 30 November 2022, the Company disposed
Dragon Delight Group Limited to an independent third party at a
consideration of HK$1,290,810 in cash. Upon completion of
disposing Dragon Delight Group Limited, the Group will no longer
engage in investment in cryptocurrency.
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Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company,
was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor of the Company has issued its
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in
respect of the above-mentioned continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes participated by the
Group are set out in note 38 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was
conditionally adopted by the shareholders of the Company at an
annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 May 2013
and came into effect on 3 June 2013. The Share Option Scheme
shall continue in force for a period commencing from the date
the Share Option Scheme became unconditional, which is
3 June 2013, and expire at the close of business on the date
which falls ten (10) years from such date (that is from 3 June
2013 to 2 June 2023).

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to selected participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group.
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Who May Join the Share Option Scheme

The Directors, at their absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take
up options to subscribe for Shares at a price calculated in
accordance with the paragraph headed “Subscription Price for
Shares” below:

(i)  any employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or
part-time and including any executive director),
consultants or advisers of or to the Company, any of the
Company’s subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested Entity”)
in which the Group holds an equity interest;

(i) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of the
Company’s subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(iii)  any supplier of goods or services to the Company or any of
the Company'’s subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(iv) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(v)  any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to the Group or any Invested
Entity; and

(vi) any Shareholders or any shareholder of any of the
Company’s subsidiaries or any Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued by the Company or any of the
Company’s subsidiaries or any Invested Entity,

and for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the options
may be granted to any company wholly-owned by one or more
persons belonging to any of the above classes of participants. For
the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the Company
for the subscription of Shares or other securities of the Company
to any person who falls within any of the above classes of
participants shall not, by itself, unless the Directors otherwise
determine, be construed as a grant of option under the New
Share Option Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any of the above classes of participants
to the grant of any options shall be determined by the Directors
from time to time on the basis of the participants’ contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.
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In order for a person to satisfy the Directors that he is qualified to
be (or where applicable, continues to be qualified to be) a
participant, such person shall provide all such information as the
Directors may request for the purpose of assessing his eligibility
(or continuing eligibility).

Maximum Number of Shares

(i)

(i)

(iii)

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the Company’s issued share
capital from time to time. No options may be granted under
any schemes of the Company (or the subsidiary of the
Company) if such grant will result in the maximum number
being exceeded.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme) to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of passing of the
ordinary resolution for adopting the Share Option Scheme
(the “General Mandate Limit").

Subject to (i) above and without prejudice to (iv) below, the
Company may seek approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting to refresh the General Mandate Limit. However,
the total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company under the limit as “refreshed” must not
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as of the date of
approval of the refreshed limit. Options previously granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (including those
outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in accordance with the
Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes of
the Company or exercised options) will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the limit as “refreshed”. The
Company will send a circular to the Shareholders in
compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and/or
such other requirements as prescribed in the Listing Rules.
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(iv)  Subject to (i) above and without prejudice to (iii) above, the
Company may seek separate approval of the Shareholders
in general meeting for granting options beyond the General
Mandate Limit provided the options in excess of the limit
are granted only to participants specifically identified by the
Company before such approval is sought. The Company
will issue a circular to the Shareholders in compliance with
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and/or such other
requirements as prescribed in the Listing Rules.

The total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme is 45,640,834 Shares, representing
approximately 4.2% of the total number of Shares in issue as at
the date of this annual report.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant and
Connected Persons

(i)  Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each participant in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue (the “Individual
Limit™).

(ii)  Any further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant shall be subject to the issue of a circular
to the Shareholders in compliance with Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules and/or such other requirements as prescribed
in the Listing Rules and the approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting with such participant and his associates
abstaining from voting. The number and terms (including
the exercise price) of options to be granted to such
participant must be fixed before the Shareholders’ approval
and the date of the Board meeting for proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the
purpose of calculating the exercise price under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules.
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(iii)

in addition to the Shareholders’ approval set out in Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules, each grant of options to a director
of the Company, chief executive of the Company or
substantial Shareholder or any of their respective
associates must be approved by the independent
non-executive directors of the Company (excluding any
independent non-executive director who is the grantee of
the options).

Where any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or
an independent non-executive director or any of their
respective associates would result in the Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) under the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes of the Company to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant:

(a) representing in aggregate more than 0.1% of the
Shares in issue; and

(b)  having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million,

such further grant of options must be approved by the
Shareholders. The Company must send a circular to the
Shareholders. All of the connected persons of the Company
must abstain from voting in favour at such general meeting.
Any connected person may vote against the relevant
resolution at the general meeting provided that his intention
to do so has been stated in the circular. Any vote taken at
the meeting to approve the grant of such option must be
taken on a poll.

Minimum Period of Holding an Option and
Performance target

The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum
period for which an option must be held, any performance
targets that must be achieved and any other conditions that must
be fulfilled before the options can be exercised upon the grant of
an option to a participant.
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Subscription Price for Shares

The subscription price for Shares in respect of any option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the Board
in its absolute discretion shall determine, provided that such
price shall not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of
the Shares; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five (5)
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
option; and (iii) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the option (which must be a business day). A consideration of
HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the offer of the grant of an
option.

Time of Exercise of Option

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from
the date of the offer of grant of the option.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the directors of the Company to each
grantee, which period may commence on a day upon which the
offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall end in any
event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option
subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.

Status of the Listing Rules

The Share Option Scheme shall comply with the Listing Rules as
amended from time to time. In the event that there are
differences between the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
the Listing Rules, the Listing Rules shall prevail.

Share Options Outstanding

As at 31 December 2022, there were no outstanding share
options and no share options were granted, exercised or
cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to
the circulars of the Company dated 29 April 2013 and 3 August
2017.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Directors and company secretary shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which they or any of them may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duty of their respective offices or in
relation thereto. This indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of the
said persons.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 300 of
this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive directors, an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the independent non-executive directors are
independent.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 have been audited by of Asian Alliance (HK)
CPA Limited.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited as auditor of
the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board
Choi Yun Chor
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report
JE N 1% BN EM R

/ ERN(EE)DHESEEMERAT
Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE MEMBERS OF
TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Times
Universal Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 121 to 299, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in
the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

(a) Limitation of scope on interest in an

associate and amount due from an
associate

As disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of the Group's interest in
an associate, Total Blossom Sdn Bhd (“Total Blossom”),
amounted to approximately HK$1,115,000 and HK$Nil as
at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022,
respectively, while share of result of an associate amounted
to approximately HK$1,870,000 and share of other
comprehensive expense amounted to approximately
HK$72,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021, and
impairment loss recognised on interest in an associate
amounted to approximately HK$1,115,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The sole and only asset of Total Blossom was an
investment property under construction located in Malaysia
(the “Associate Investment Property”). As at 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2022, the value of the Associate
Investment Property amounted to approximately
HK$29,694,000 and HK$29,694,000, respectively. The
fair value loss of the Associate Investment Property
amounted to approximately HK$3,815,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

During the audit for the year ended 31 December 2022, we
were unable to obtain the books and records of Total
Blossom for the year ended 31 December 2022, to satisfy
ourselves that the Group has significant influence on Total
Blossom, and hence the valuation and classification of
interest in an associate as at 31 December 2022, and the
valuation of impairment loss recognised on an associate for
the year ended 31 December 2022. Also, during the audit
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2022, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence, including but not limited to the status of the
Associate Investment Property, to satisfy ourselves as to the
existence, ownership and valuation of the Associate
Investment Property for both years ended 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2022.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

(a)

Limitation of scope on interest in an
associate and amount due from an
associate (Continued)

As disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of the amount due from
Total Blossom amounted to HK$Nil as at 31 December
2022. The directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
considered that the associate is in severe financial
difficulty, therefore, they are of the view that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery of amount due from an
associate. As a result, full impairment of amount due from
an associate of approximately HK$13,808,000 has been
provided for the year ended 31 December 2022. However,
due to the failure to obtain the books and records of Total
Blossom for the year ended 31 December 2022, we were
unable to satisfy ourselves as to the existence and valuation
of the amount due from an associate as at 31 December
2022 and the occurrence and accuracy of the impairment
loss recognised on amount due from an associate for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to (1) whether the Group
has significant influence on Total Blossom for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and the interest in an associate
included in the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022 was fairly stated; (2)
whether the Group’s share of results of an associate, share
of other comprehensive expense of an associate for year
ended 31 December 2021 and impairment loss recognised
on interest in an associate for the year ended 31
December 2022 were fairly stated; (3) whether amount
due from an associate included in the Group’'s
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022 and impairment loss recognised on
amount due from an associate for the year ended 31
December 2022 were fairly stated; and (4) whether the
summarised financial information of an associate as shown
in the consolidated financial statements are properly
disclosed. There were no other satisfactory alternative audit
procedures that we could adopt to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence in this regard.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Limitation of scope on interest in an
associate and amount due from an
associate (Continued)

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above
amounts may have consequential significant impacts on
the loss and other comprehensive expenses of the Group
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2022, the net assets/liabilities of the Group as at 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2022 and the related
disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements.

Limitation of scope on interests in joint
ventures

As disclosed in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, the interests in Triple Market Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Joint Ventures”)
with HK$NIl carrying amount as at 31 December 2020 had
been derecognised since 31 October 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, all of the
investment properties of the Joint Ventures, which were the
major assets of the Joint Ventures, were seized (the
“Seized Investment Properties”) by the Intermediate
People’s Court of Chongging (the “Court”) in relation to a
loan dispute with a financial institution (the “Court Case”).
The Directors inquired the management of the Joint
Ventures in relation to the Court Case, including the court
orders, the reason for the seizure and the latest
development of the case, but they were not able to obtain
all relevant information as at 31 December 2019.

As at 31 December 2020, as advised by the Company’s
PRC legal advisor, the Joint Ventures do not possess
control over the Seized Investment Properties because the
Seized Investment Properties of the Joint Ventures are held
under a compulsory auction as ordered by the Court during
the year ended 31 December 2020. The Directors were of
the opinion that the Joint Ventures are unlikely to repossess
the investment properties and therefore impairment loss on
the interests in Joint Ventures of HK$29,523,000 was
made during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

(b) Limitation of scope on interests in joint

ventures (Continued)

In view of (i) the Seized Investment Properties; (ii) the loss
of contact with the management of the Joint Ventures since
31 October 2021; and (iii) the Directors were unable to
obtain the books and records of the Joint Ventures, the
Directors resolved that the Group no longer had the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of Joint
Ventures, and the control over the Joint Ventures was lost
on 31 October 2021 and derecognised the interest in the
Joint Ventures since 31 October 2021 (the “Joint Ventures
Derecognition Date”).

Under the circumstances as explained above, we were not
able to carry out procedures which we considered
necessary on the books and records of the Joint Ventures
to ascertain (1) the net liabilities of the Joint Ventures of
approximately HK$57,725,000 and HK$57,725,000 as at
31 December 2020 and the Joint Ventures Derecognition
Date respectively; (2) the loss of the Joint Ventures of
approximately HK$89,021,000 and HK$Nil for the year
ended 31 December 2020 and the period from 1 January
2021 to the Joint Ventures Derecognition Date respectively;
and (3) the other comprehensive income of the Joint
Ventures of approximately HK$698,000 and HK$Nil for the
year ended 31 December 2020 and the period from 1
January 2021 to the Joint Ventures Derecognition Date
respectively. There were no other satisfactory audit
procedures that we could adopt to obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence in this regard.

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above
amounts would affect the amounts recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in respect of the Joint Ventures for
the year ended 31 December 2020 and the period from 1
January 2021 to the Joint Ventures Derecognition Date,
with a corresponding effect on the loss on derecognition of
the Joint Ventures of approximately HK$882,000, the
release of cumulative exchange reserve upon derecognition
of joint ventures of approximately HK$882,000 and the
related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
modified because of the possible effect of this matter on
the comparability of the related current year figures and the
corresponding figures in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss
from continuing operations of approximately HK$24,185,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2022 and, as of that date, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$103,155,000 and the Group had net liabilities
of approximately HK$14,866,000. As stated in Note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, these events or conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in Note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group'’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. As described in the Basis for
Qualified Opinion section above, we are unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence about the carrying amount of (i)
interest in an associate as at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2022 and (ii) interests in Joint Ventures as at
31 December 2021 and which would affect the Group’s financial
performance and position and related cash flows for the years
ended 31 December 2021 which constitute the comparative
figures of the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022, were necessary. Accordingly, we are
unable to conclude whether or not the other information is
materially misstated with respect to this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matters described in the Basis
for Qualified Opinion section, we have determined the matters
described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated
in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

REERER

Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables

B 5 R R b LSR5 B E P 1S

As disclosed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2022, the Group’s gross
trade receivables and other receivables amounted to
approximately HK$23,912,000 and HK$8,098,000,
respectively, and allowance of credit losses of
approximately HK$19,444,000 and HK$5,182,000,
respectively, were included in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.

Impairment losses, net of reversal, on trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$3,755,000 and reversal
of impairment losses, net of impairment loss, on other
receivables amounted to approximately HK$615,000
respectively were recognised in the Group’s consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The allowance for credit losses of trade and other
receivables represents the management’s best estimates
at the end of the reporting period of expected credit
losses under Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9:
Financial Instruments’ Expected Credit Loss (the “ECL”")
Model.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

R FERUNEEEREZFER

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
assessment on allowance for credit losses of trade and
other receivables included:

° understanding key controls on how the management
estimates the credit loss allowance for trade and
other receivables;

° evaluating the competence, capabilities,
independence and objectivity of the independent
external valuer engaged by the management, and
the scope of the valuer’s work;

° assessing the reasonableness and appropriateness
of the methodology of the ECL model, including the
model design and calculation and model inputs in
compliance with HKFRS 9;

° testing the integrity of information used by the
management to develop the provision matrix,
including ageing analysis of trade receivables as at
31 December 2022, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with the
relevant sale invoices and other supporting
documents;

BPAEREFEEHE S RE MR IRRIE S B R
ETZHREZRETF8E

e THREEEMIEZMEMEBUERNEEEE
R RSl ;

o  FHMEERERFNBEMINDAEREER - 8 -
BUMREEN  URGERMNTIEHE

o HMETEMEEERBEEATTENAEMIEEN -
BREBARFMAEUNREABARETEEE
B E ERIFE I

e BBRAWHMERIEER RAMKEEERREM
BRAXHETLE  MHESTAAHAEEERAR
HERERENERNTEN  BRBEE-_F—
“HE+ A=t ANEZRUIRFARE DT

SEFH

111



112

Independent Auditor’s Report
JE N 1% BN EM R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

REERER

Impairment assessment of trade and other receivables
(Continued)
B 5 RAMER KRB ETE (&)

As disclosed in Note 6(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the ECL in relation to trade and other
receivables are assessed individually for the debtors with
significant balances and/or collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.

The management assessed the ECL based on historical
observed default rates and adjusted by forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort.

We consider impairment assessment on trade and other
receivables as a key audit matter because of its
significance to the consolidated financial statements and
the significant estimates and judgement involved in
determining the ECL allowance on the trade and other
receivables.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
B F X R RREF % EE ()

° challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables as at 31 December 2022, including their
identification of significant balances and credit-
impaired receivables, the reasonableness of the
management’s grouping of the remaining debtors
into different categories in the provision matrix and
the basis of estimated loss rates applied in each
category in the provision matrix (with reference to
historical default rates and forward-looking
information);

° reviewing the reasonableness of the management’s
estimation of other receivables in the expected
timing of collection and the credit quality of
individual debtors, including the background of the
debtors and their creditworthiness and collection
history;

° reviewing the repayment history and settlements
received subsequent to the reporting period from the
debtors; and

° evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of trade and other receivables in Note
6(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

s THEEEABTN-_Z-_-_F+=-A=+—H
K E 5 FE IR AR TR A 15 B B 18 128 1 s O L2 F0 )l
BREEBNENEHNEEERBENELRER &
BELEREBEETERGBESAZD B TRER
MAEIEM - LARBEERTSEERERMGE
ERENEE (K2ERLENRRAEMER)

o EHEIER MG E MUK E T8 B U (O] B ] By
EEMEMERNBEFEANEELR  BREBAN
BERMEFERRRKREEE

s EEEBAGEREHENERCELEE M

o HESAMBIMRMEOMMEE S M EAMEK
RSB BRI REEEIR -

RARRERZRARLDHE



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HRELSER

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

WHE BERREURCHEEEZ B EFE

As disclosed in Notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, as at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of the Group were approximately
HK$79,055,000 and HK$10,057,000 respectively. No
impairment loss in respect of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets was recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group’s management performed an impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets for the segments that continued to
underperform by estimating the recoverable amount of
their property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets with reference to the valuation performed by an
independent professional external valuer, with reference
to a value in use calculation for resort hotel and fair value
less costs of disposal for development land included in
property, plant and equipment used for the hotel
operation segment, value in use calculation of a cash-
generating unit in property management segment in
which certain property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets are attributable to, respectively.

RNG A BHRARMTION0MFEE  NE -
+TZA=+—H " BESENYHE  #BERREUARE
FAHEEEZERMEED R4 A79,055,000% T &
10,057,000 L - REE—E-_—F+-_A=+—H
IFEWERME  EESREEAREAEEERR
BIEEE -

BEREEEEHURABBERENDBETYE  BHE
Kt EREEENRMER S  2EBLEXINE
HEMMEE AT EYE  BERREREREER
ENAIKREEHE  2EERBEENEREENTER
SRANBEEREDEMANYE - BEERETHFE
THAORAABERELENS  UEMEEED BN
ReELEUMNEREBENGE  EPETYE B
EREEAMEREEEDRIFBRZ D
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
B FLUTEEERERFR

Our audit procedures in relation to the evaluating
impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets included:

° understanding the impairment assessment process
of the Group with involvement of the independent
professional external valuer engaged by the
management;

° evaluating the competence, capability and objectivity
of the independent professional external valuer
engaged by the management, and the scope of the
valuer’s work;

° assessing the reasonableness and appropriateness
of the valuation methodologies;

BB E S MREAREREEE ZRER G
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HRELSER

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

WE  BERREURCEHEEEZ B EFE (F)

Relevant disclosures of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets and the impairment assessment
are set out in Notes 19, 20 and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

We consider impairment assessment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit
matter because of its significance to the consolidated
financial statements and the significant estimates and
judgement involved in assessing the recoverable amount
of properties, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets.

WD~ e N AR A M AR B B BV AR BRI R AURUVE
AHA BN AR S IS RRMIFEL9 » 2023 »

B - s R REAREBEEERRE G
BREBRESEHE DREUGEAVBHREANER N
ARFHEDE  #BERREAREREEENA KD
SRS R E A (G A H E o
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
B F X E R E % EE ()

o evaluating the reasonableness of the operating cash
flows forecast and the key assumptions used,
including evaluating the reasonableness of the
budgeted revenue, budgeted gross margins and
expected growth rates, and evaluating the suitability
of the discount rate used and market unit rate
adopted; and

° evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by the
management by making adjustments to key inputs
and assumptions in the impairment assessments
and considering whether any reasonably possible
adjustments would result in material impairment.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HRELSER

Impairment assessment of intangible assets

BIEELEZ B ETFE

As disclosed in Note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2022, the Group’s
intangible assets amounted to approximately
HK$5,434,000 was included in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.

Impairment loss on intangible assets amounted to
approximately HK$5,209,000 was recognised in the
Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2022.

MR A ISR 21 ik R —F+ =
A=+—H EBES£EMNEFEEY5434,0008TE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EHFRUNEEEREZER

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on impairment assessment of intangible
assets included:

° understanding the impairment assessment process
of the Group with involvement of the independent
professional external valuer engaged by the
management;

° evaluating the competence, capability and objectivity
of the independent professional external valuer
engaged by management, and the scope of the
valuer’s work;

B EREEELEEREETHEEZIETFE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HRELSER

Impairment assessment of intangible assets
(Continued)
BB EZ B E S ()

Impairment of intangible assets is assessed by
comparing the recoverable amount and carrying amount
of the intangible assets at the end of the reporting period.
The Group engaged an independent professional valuer
to carry out an impairment assessment by estimating the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit in which
the intangible assets have been allocated, with reference
to a value in use calculation which required significant
judgement on assumptions and input adopted in the
underlying cash flows. Key estimates involved in the
preparation of cash flow projections for the period
covered by the approved financial budgets include the
discount rate, growth rate and retention rate in order to
derive the recoverable amount.

We consider impairment assessment on intangible assets
as a key audit matter because of its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the significant
estimates and judgement involved in assessing the
recoverable amount of the intangible assets.

BEAEREBBLRBENRELEENT KOS
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
B F X E R E R EE ()

o obtaining the valuation report of intangible assets
impairment assessment and to assess the
reasonableness and appropriateness of valuation
method adopted by management;

° obtaining the discounted cash flow forecast and
checking its mathematical accuracy;

° challenging and evaluating the reasonableness of
key assumptions and methodologies used by the
management in the cash flow forecasts, such as
growth rates, discount rate and retention rate taking
into account industry forecasts and market
developments, the budget, future business plan and
historical performance; and

° reviewing the sensitivity analysis performed by the
management on the key assumptions to understand
the impact of reasonably possible change in
assumptions on the estimated recoverable amount.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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REPORT ON OTHER MATTERS UNDER
SECTIONS 407(2) AND 407(3) OF THE HONG
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE

In respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding interest in an associate and interests in
Joint Ventures as described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section of our report above:

o we were unable to determine whether adequate accounting
records had been kept; and

o we have not obtained all the information or explanations
that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary
and material for the purpose of our audit.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Cheng Ting Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: PO6598

8/F., Catic Plaza
8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

30 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

srefBom MEMEE RS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

2022 2021
—=E-= T —%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FHT
(Restated)
(&%)
Continuing operations HEREEK
Revenue s 7 96,055 77,700
Direct costs BEEKAR (72,801) (58,692)
Gross profit EF 23,254 19,008
Other income, gains and losses, net HEaUg A - WEFEE &
B8 F 58 9 8,264 5,735
Administrative expenses TE A (31,855) (33,911)
Impairment losses under expected credit FEEREEEIBEAB T 2
loss model, net of reversal BEEE - R EE 10 (16,948) (5,897)
Impairment loss recognised on intangible 3t & 72 & 7 W 32 5 (B E5 18
assets 21 (5,209) (1,748)
Loss on derecognition of joint ventures RitmReLELEEE 25 — (882)
Share of result of an associate pal i i1 AN e 24 — (1,870)
Impairment loss recognised on interest in ~ FERRR —[E B & A A 2
an associate R EESE 24 (1,115) —
Finance costs A& A 11 (4,704) (5,163)
Loss before tax BRELATES IR 14 (28,313) (24,728)
Income tax credit FrfsHiR e 12 4,128 7,268
Loss for the year from continuing REFEKSEEK 2
operations REEEE (24,185) (17,460)
Discontinued operation BRIEREER
Loss for the year from discontinued REBRIEREER 2
operation RFEEBHE 13 (4,163) (3,480)
Loss for the year REEEE (28,348) (20,940)
Other comprehensive (expense) income ANEEHt2ME (BIx%)
for the year Wz
Items that may be reclassified HigE At e EFHHEE
subsequently to profit or loss: B h)EE -
Exchange differences arising on MEFINEREEZ
translation of foreign operations =% (2,792) 678
Share of other comprehensive expense o5 — B E AR A
of an associate FHERAZ 24 — (72)
Release of cumulative exchange reserve 4R IFHER A LD ¥R
upon derecognition of joint ventures B REHE R 25 — 882
Other comprehensive (expense) income  AFEE A 2@ (FAs)
for the year, net of income tax Wz - EHBRATEH (2,792) 1,488
Total comprehensive expense for AEEXHBAXARE
the year (31,140) (19,452)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SECCFH



122

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

srefBom MEMEEEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-—F T —%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B =E FHxT FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Total comprehensive expense for AEEZHBARARE:
the year:
— from continuing operations — REFELEER (26,977) (15,972)
— from discontinued operation — REERIEEEFER (4,163) (3,480)
(31,140) (19,452)
Loss per share SRER 18
From continuing and discontinued REFBELERDRIE
operations KBTS
Basic A (2.59) cents (1.92) cents
(2.59) 1L (1.92)711
Diluted g N/A ~3E A N/A 33 A
From continuing operations REFELCEEL
Basic AR (2.21) cents (1.60) cents
(2.21)3E 1L (1.60)781
Diluted g N/A 7B A N/A 3@ B
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

sre IR

As at 31 December 2022
RZEZZF+-_HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - e R E 19 79,055 84,914
Right-of-use assets FREEE 20 10,057 12,445
Intangible assets B EE 21 5,434 15,162
Goodwill EES 22 3,010 3,265
Interest in an associate A L NI 24 — 1,115
Deferred tax assets R IR E = 36 11,028 8,514
Other receivables H b fE UL BR 3K 28 — —
108,584 125,415
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 26 687 656
Cryptocurrency m=ges 27 — 5,370
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H At YR K 28 8,344 8,167
Amount due from an associate JE Uk — R B 2 R R 00E 24 — 13,808
Cash and cash equivalents HekREEEY 29 19,696 28,293
28,727 56,294
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables B Mk EMEMER 30 25,897 39,190
Contract liabilities EHaE 31 5,650 5,527
Contingent consideration payable ERTSARE 41 — 240
Loans from a controlling shareholder — AR EE K 32 38,090 10,544
Secured loan EHREX 33 26,226 29,857
Bonds &5 34 20,181 30,181
Lease liabilities HEBE 35 1,125 1,371
Tax liabilities HMIEEE 14,713 14,876
131,882 131,786
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEEHE (103,155) (75,492)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERRBER
LIABILITIES 5,429 49,923
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Are TSI R

As at 31 December 2022
RZTEZZF+=-_HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —ET - —4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHT FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Bonds B 34 10,000 20,000
Lease liabilities HEARE 35 9,479 11,374
Deferred tax liabilities FEFRIEEE 36 816 2,275
20,295 33,649
NET (LIABILITIES) ASSETS (BB BERE (14,866) 16,274
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARR G
Share capital % 72X 37 441,350 441 350
Reserves = (456,216) (425,076)
TOTAL (DEFICIT) EQUITY @ (4 R (14,866) 16,274

The consolidated financial statements on pages 121 to 299 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

30 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Choi Yun Chor
R
Director

EF

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

BRFI2IEF 2B ZHAMBHRRN —FT =
—HEZAZTRESSQHAERRERT X
HATALTRERE

Tai Kwok Keung Kenny

= B
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GAEREEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

Share Merger  Contribution Statutory Exchange Accumulated
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BA  aftEE mERE  AERE  ERRE  RHBE Fh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THL T T THL T T
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d)
(Mizta) (MizED) (Mizke) (Mizkd)
At 1 January 2021 W-Z-_—-%—-A—H 441,350 (124,635) 8478 2,903 (38,251) (254,119) 35,726
Loss for the year AEEER = = = — — (20,940) (20,940)
Other comprehensive income (expense) for ~ RNEFEE 1 2 E U
the year (A%
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently — R A2 EH T/
o profit or loss HEF
Exchange differences arising on MERNEBELER
translation of foreign operations ERER = = = = 678 = 678
Share of other comprehensive expense of A —FEE N A A
an associate 2ERY = = = = (72) = (72)
Release of cumulative exchange reserve RIERAGECERE
upon derecognition of 25t K R
joint ventures = = = = 882 = 882
Other comprehensive income for the year, net  AEEH M2 AU @ 1k
of income tax iR = = — — 1,488 — 1,488
Total comprehensive income (expense) AEERENE (A%)
for the year Fak] = = = = 1,488 (20,940) (19,452)
At 31 December 2021 R-B=--F
+ZA=t-H 441,350 (124,635) 8478 2,903 (36,763)  (275,099) 16,274
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Consolidated Statement of Changes

AR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

In Equity

Share Merger  Contribution Statutory ~ Exchange Accumulated
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BA AR LERE ATRE  ERRE  RHER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TR TR TiEn TR TR TiERn
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d)
(MfzHa) (MzEh) (Mzte) (Mztd)
At 1 January 2022 RZB-Z%-f-H 441,350  (124,635) 8,478 2,903 (36,763)  (275,059) 16,274
Loss for the year AEEBR — - — —  (28348)  (28,348)
Other comprehensive expense for the year, ~ AEEEM2AMY -
net of income tax MERFEH
ltem that may be reciassified subsequently to ~ EZ Al B EF #4522
profitor loss HEE
Exchange differences arising on REBINEBEEN
translation of foreign operations EHES — - — (2,792) - (2,792)
Total comprehensive expense for theyear ~ AEE2EMSEE - — — (2,792)  (28,348)  (31,140)
At 31 December 2022 R=B=Zf
+=B=+-H 441,350  (124,635) 8,478 2,903 (39,555)  (303,407) (14,866)
Notes: B EE -
(@)  Merger reserve (a) ABFE

(b)

(c)

(d)

Merger reserve was created as a result of the acquisition of common
control entities. It represents the difference between the carrying
amount and fair value of subsidiaries acquired. The acquisition was
accounted for using merger accounting.

Contribution reserve

Contribution reserve represents contributions from shareholders for
indemnity liabilities payable for periods prior to 30 June 2003.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") laws
applicable to wholly-foreign owned investment enterprises,
subsidiaries of the Company operating in the PRC are required to set
up a general reserve fund and appropriate at least 10% of respective
company’s annual profit after tax, as determined under the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to the general reserve fund until the
balance of the reserve equals to 50% of its registered capital. This
fund can be used to make good losses and to convert into paid-up
capital.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in Note 3.2.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
rEReSREXR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

2022 2021
—E2-— =EE ==t
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KESEE
Loss before tax bR T Al S 1B
— from continuing operations — REFERKEES (28,313) (24,728)
— from discontinued operation — REERIEEEER (4,163) (3,480)
Adjustments for: FE
Finance costs BE KA 4,704 5,163
Interest income A EHA (22) (12)
Share of result of an associate N —HEEARIEER — 1,870
Loss on derecognition of joint ventures RILTER A & EEE — 882
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y% - WEREBETE 2,631 2,982
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,564 1,899
Amortisation of intangible assets |\ A 3,604 4,170
Impairment loss, net of reversal REEE - HREE
— intangible assets —\mIEEE 5,209 1,748
— interest in an associate i 1)k /N=
Ew 1,115 —
— financial assets under expected credit loss — BHEEFBEERXT
model MR EE 16,948 5,897
Gains on settlements of bonds HEESF N (7,800) —
Loss on written-off of property, plant and WEE T - BB R
equipment &8 — 51
Loss on fair value change of contingent RS ANEARER
consideration payable BB IR EE 5 —
Gain on early termination of a lease IRAIAR IEHE Wz — (136)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B 2 A s (225) —
Loss from changes in fair value of cryptocurrency m=gEArEEES
T REE R 4,304 2,253
Currency exchange translation HNEE H 3 — (7)
Operating cash flows before movements in working ZEELEFHAINKEER
capital ERE (439) (1,448)
Increase in inventories FE®EM (67) (70)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K E A e U BR K38 N (3,788) (601)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables B 5 REMERRR
O -ill (1,499) 231
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities AHRAECED) L (220) 1,201
Cash used in operations REXBMAZRS (6,013) (687)
Income taxes paid BT H (607) (127)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETETARESRE (6,620) (814)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

el ETMER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E=-= =EE ==t
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE HELRE (1,426) (2,105)
Purchase of cryptocurrency BENRE® — (7,623)
Settlement of contingent consideration payable HERH RS HARE (245) =
Interest received B U F & 22 12
Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries UG BB HI B A AlBs 2 JF IR &
mA — 2
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARRZFRE
mA 1,291 —
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHFAZHESFH (358) (9,714)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mE EE
Advance from a controlling shareholder — ZIERR AR R EA R 16,000 —
Repayments of secured loans EEERER (2,064) (3,973)
Repayments of bonds EEES (12,200) ==
Repayments of lease liabilities TREEAE (1,897) (1,512)
Interest paid EERRPSS (3,608) (3,713)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHMAZREEH (3,769) (9,198)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH REeRBELEEWZRD
EQUIVALENTS FE (10,747) (19,726)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING REfZBEEREESE
OF THE YEAR EY 28,293 47,831
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES EXR& & 2,150 188
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATENDOF THE REXRZBEEREESE
YEAR BEY
Represented by bank balances and cash BERITAEMR IR S 19,696 28,293
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

Times Universal Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are located at Unit 3002, 30/F, Workington
Tower, 78 Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The immediate holding company of the Company is Great
Match International Limited (“Great Match”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the ultimate
controlling shareholder is Mr. Choi Yun Chor (the
“Controlling Shareholder”).

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are hotel operation
in Canada, properties management and catering in the
People's Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
cryptocurrency investment which was discontinued during
the year ended 31 December 2022 (Note 13).

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$"). For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Group adopted HK$
as its presentation currency as its shares are listed in Hong
Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are BRI A

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on 1 January 2022 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendment to HKFRS 16~ COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021*

Amendments to Hong Kong Property, Plant and
Accounting Standards Equipment — Proceeds
(“HKAS”) 16 before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost

of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3
Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business
combinations for which the acquisition date was on or after
1 January 2022. The amendments update a reference in
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations so that it refers to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) instead
of Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements (replaced by the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2010 issued in October
2010), add a requirement that, for transactions and events
within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, an
acquirer applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination and add an explicit
statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent
assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has
had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRSs
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The annual improvements make
amendments to the following standards:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing
whether modification of terms of original financial liability
constitutes substantial modification under the “10 per
cent” test, a borrower includes only fees paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid
or received by either the borrower or the lender on the
other’s behalf.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged as at the date of initial application,
1 January 2022.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to Illustrative Example 13 accompanying
HKFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of
reimbursement relating to leasehold improvements by the
lessor in order to remove any potential confusion.

The application of the amendments in the current year has
had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

BREEMHREER (FEY
BHRE £ ) 2185 (&)

B M 1B R E R ZHE] REEE
EEMBHREED
AEEEIZFRAATEBME R KL
MR BB M HRE LR RIEFTA

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the

October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to

Insurance Contracts!

BB RS LR E
175 (BE - =
TE+AR-ZEC
—F - AZEEY

REA #!

HKFRS 17) BREERFEL7
SRZAEFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of BEMIEREERE RWEFEAR S
and HKAS 28 Assets between an 105 R BB 5T REHEED
Investor and its AEBI| 25 2858 Z (& ¥HEMEE
Associate or Joint IR HEHEE?
Venture?
Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and BEREVBHRELENE ERERRZSH
Leaseback? 1657 ZAER] A mEEaE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities BB EANELIR RBIERBE
as Current or ZABRT AR ERERED
Non-current and related ZEFELR
amendments to Hong (ZZZFF)
Kong Interpretation 5 ZEEEET
(2020)2
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with EAETTERFEIFR MAEZER
Covenants (2022)3 ZABRT AR ERBEE
(ZZZ—%)3
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting BB ERFEIH SiTERIFE
and HKFRS Practice Policies! REBUEREE
Statement 2 BB REFE295%
ZAERT AR
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting BB EAESE SEHEFTHER!
Estimates! ZABRT AN
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to HEEeERFE]2 HE-IFEL

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

Assets and Liabilities SRZABRT A MEEREE
arising from a Single A B A IR AT
Transaction! HiIg!

! RoE_=F—A BZARRIR < FE

2023. AR AE SR o

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 2 T B Bk s 2 FE AR AR -
determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 R-ZE_NF—A— A ERBCFE
2024. AR AR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are BRI A

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable

future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i)  the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months; and

(i)  if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are
met at the end of the reporting period, even if
the lender does not test compliance until a

later date; and

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current
or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
(Continued)

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at
31 December 2022, the application of the amendments
will not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (2022) (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2022 Amendments modify the requirements
introduced by the amendments to HKAS 1 issued in 2020,
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendment”) on how an entity classifies debt and
other financial liabilities with covenants as current or
non-current. The amendments specify that only covenants
with which the entity is required to comply with on or
before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date. Covenants which are
required to comply with only after the reporting period do
not affect whether that right exists at the end of the
reporting period.

The amendments also specify the disclosure requirements
about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period, if the entity classify liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to
defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity
complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (2022) (the “2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

The amendments also defer the effective date of the 2020
Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024. The amendments, together with the
2020 Amendments, are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early
application permitted. If an entity applies the 2020
Amendments for an earlier period after the issue of the
2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022
Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at
31 December 2022, the application of the amendments
will not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is
material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(Continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to
illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality
process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge
whether information about an accounting policy is material
to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are
added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s
significant accounting policies. The impacts of application,
if any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may
require items in financial statements to be measured in a
way that involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the
accounting policy may require such items to be measured
at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly and
must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective
set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting
estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions
based on the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting
estimates in HKAS 8 is retained with additional
clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSS in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes so that
it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3.2 to the consolidated financial
statements, for leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and
liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
relevant assets and liabilities are assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will
recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable
temporary differences associated with the right-of-use
assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for the Group’s annual
reporting periods beginning on 1 January 2023. As at
31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities which are subject to the
amendments amounted to approximately HK$10,057,000
and HK$10,604,000, respectively. The Group is still in the
process of assessing the full impact of the application of
the amendments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(the “CQO"). For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Going concern assessment

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group incurred a loss from continuing operations of
approximately HK$24,185,000 and, as of 31
December 2022, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$103,155,000 and the Group has net liabilities of
approximately HK$14,866,000. Such conditions
indicate the existence of material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, and thus, the Group
may not be able to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

Going concern assessment (Continued)

The Group continues to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing its consolidated financial
statements. In order to improve the Group’s financial
positions, liquidity and cash flows, the Directors have
adopted or shall adopt the following measures:

(i)  reviewing the business operations of the Group
to improve their efficiency;

(i) implementing cost saving measures to control
operating cost, administrative costs and
corporate costs with a view to reduce the
working capital requirements of the Group;

(iii)  reviewing its existing investments and business
opportunities and actively considering to
develop new business in order to enhance the
cash flow of the Group;

(iv) actively considering to realise other loss making
investment or terminate loss making
businesses;

(v)  obtaining a confirmation from Great Match not
to demand repayment of the amount due from
the Group to Great Match as at 31 December
2022, unless the repayment would not affect
the ability of the Group to repay other creditors
in the normal course of business; and

(vi) obtaining a loan agreement for facilities of up to
HK$50,000,000 from the Controlling
Shareholder in favour of the Group to provide
continuing financial support to the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

Going concern assessment (Continued)

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by the management, which
covering a period of not less than twelve months from
31 December 2022, on the basis that the Group’s
aforementioned plans and measures will be
successful, the Directors believe that the Group will
have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future
working capital and other financing requirements as
and when they fall due in the next twelve months
from the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the
Directors believe that the Group will continue as a
going concern and therefore consider it is
appropriate to adopt a going concern basis in
preparing its consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements do not include
any adjustments that would result from the failure of
the Group to obtain sufficient future funding. Should
the Group be unable to continue to operate as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the carrying values of the assets of the
Group to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of

the consideration given in exchange for goods and
Services.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in

use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its

highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of
the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns

from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its

returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if fact and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of

control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to

control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is

attributed to the owners of the Company.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s

accounting policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and
non-controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS
S Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RMEGEHMBRERELERTES

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTBUR (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional
concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, that permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross
assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set of activities and
assets is determined not to be a business and no
further assessment is needed.

ASSet acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the Group
identifies and recognises the individual identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating
the purchase price first to financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of
their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are
considered substantive if they are critical to the ability
to continue producing outputs, including an
organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the ability
to continue producing outputs and are considered
unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without
significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to
continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at
fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
ECECCF+A=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

(Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

For business combinations in which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet
the definitions of an asset and a liability in the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”)
except for transactions and events within the scope of
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the
Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination. Contingent
assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to
share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of
the acquiree are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the
acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RMEGEHMBRERELERTES

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTBUR (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in
the fair value of the contingent consideration that
qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a
liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent
reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting policy
above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (or group of cash-generating units) that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or group of cash-generating units).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RMEGEHMBRERELERTES

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTBUR (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group of
cash-generating units, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate and a joint venture is
described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RMEGEHMBRERELERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)
(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures RHELAARESELEZRE ()
(Continued)
The results and assets and liabilities of associates BEARREEPEIFEEREE
and joint ventures are incorporated in these MEBEFARSSTEAREZS
consolidated financial statements using the equity IREMBHRE - UESEFEARK
method of accounting. The financial statements of ZHERNRREECEZHBHRE
associates and joint ventures used for equity TERAREEEFBEMAUGEE TEL
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform REGREMZHE— ST HERH -
accounting policies as those of the Group for like ERERE  REBERRSEGED
transactions and events in similar circumstances. X2 IREREGRE MBI R AR
Under the equity method, an investment in an AR BV ERARNEEE
associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in LB ERRIRAEEE I ERRE
the consolidated statement of financial position at tEEKEELFAE - BRIEZFE
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s BENARERB A REERD
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive REs FARBERR A& D
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in ¥ EBEFE(BahkEt2EKE
net assets of the associate/joint venture other than BRON) BENGT T AR - EASEE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are HEE QARG ERE ZHEER
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in AEBRZEE N REGEREL
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. Em (BIEER LBk AR B R %
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or BNAINAEEPEZIREFE 0
joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that DEERREER) AEESKRIE
associate or joint venture (which includes any BREEGEREER -EEXAKE
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of BYAVEL S| REBH R KRB E D
the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint AR EDEINR - FOERE
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its HNESTE ©

share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which

the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initia
recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing of the relevant interest in the associate or
joint venture is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint
venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or
joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

(Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a
joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate or joint
venture are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate or joint venture that are not related to the

Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the

customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that

are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria

is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s

performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the

Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment

for performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E TR ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MUGEMBREREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a
net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RMEGEHMBRERELERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value of the Group’s performance completed
to date, the Group recognises revenue in the amount
to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E TR ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of carparks that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of
low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are BRI A

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate

line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MUGRESVBFBREREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FTEEFHKRE (B
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE (#)

HERE (&)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are REHEEE  HEAGHH L
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments. EREENRKIELFHE -

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a MERATER  AREEHE
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use HEBEIHEAFERAEEEELD
assets) whenever: MHERE) :

e the lease term has changed or there is a change s MHEHBMEIHNITFEHER

in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.
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The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line REERGEMBRAKREIEE
item on the consolidated statement of financial BEERE—IER -
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of exchange reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RMEGEHMBRERELERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement
or an associate that includes a foreign operation of
which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs for
which the grants are intended to compensate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E TR ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MUGEMBREREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Government grants (Continued)

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income, gains and
losses, net”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”), state-managed retirement
benefit schemes and Canada Pension Plan are
recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BT HRG (4)

ERHEREAZRXKERZM
Bl AR KBRS &
B IR SR I 45 AE B8 B AN T 7 K B U A
BRI BT - RSB EKHRE
RIBaEFHER - AR [ EAd
A WEFEMEBRFRIATZ
5l

1B 815 7/

RIKIEH AR
wmHEREeA([RESA
gl ERENRERNFERNEX
BAREFE 2 HRNE B RERS
I {6 B T EL R A 4F ) (R FERR R
P °

KRR B i R H e B 18 7

MR B E AR E B IR RIS TR
HIM S 2 R A R RE IR S RRRERR
BRIEm — B BT MEERREK
RN AABERA - & AIPT
BrEMEEENDER R

RAKEMNENERRRENER
BMNMMIEERFE  FREOER)
ERAE -

SEFH

165



166

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MUGEMBREREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
(Continuea)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in
the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service
cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RMEGEHMBRERELERTES

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTBUR (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing
transaction as a whole. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
assessed on a net basis. Excess of depreciation on
right-of-use assets over the lease payments for the
principal portion of lease liabilities results in net
deductible temporary differences.

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

HIE (4F)

EEFBAEE ZRHEEESREH
RAEFTRES - WH I T 58 AR
i A B A PA B [ P B Sk AR 0 R AR
IHE EREH BRI -

EEHBAEENMBBEDRERSH
RERMKEE LR 2R (R
) REHNEERENEREE
HIRER 2 R E -

EXEHBERENEEZFEN AR
BRIZIRASE A 2 5 AR R EH
R EEEMSEABREEZR
BER -

SLET B AN R ERER B EEE KE
AHERENHEHERZINELTK
B AKEELAEERBIRRS
BRANCAEEESHERRE -

AHBENREBERNEEAENEE
REME AEEREBEERS
ERELSSTERFIHRATE - &
EREEENHERERENER
ERFPELEN G - EAEEE
FEBLHEERETIENONHEE
NRBLOBHELATHRERER
FHEE o

RARRERZRARLDHE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and
deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are

measured at cost less subsequent accumulated
impairment loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Buildings in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management, including costs of
testing whether the related assets is functioning
properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration
is allocated between the leasehold land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as
“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets other than freehold land less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are
initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition
date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Intangible assets acquired in
a business combination with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected from
use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and

equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible

assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment

loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating

units.

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

MRGEVMBRREEREES
UK (48)

3.2 FEEFBRE (H)

WFE HERRE RAEEER
BEELE (BERI) ZHE

AEERREMREHEYE - #
BRRE ERAREERBRAE
AERNEBLEE CREE " AE
ErRBEPRBIZEEED AR
BWERIR - MEEERAERTR
Al At EE 2 AT E & B A
EEREBERE(WA) -

ME - BERERE EREEER
B EE 2 P2 R85 E S E R
T o & A E R A EH AT W E &
B AEEeGAEEMBRS
EEBMNZ AT WEI S -

AR ELBMRER - B7
RUGER —B 2 HEEER R
RAEESENRENMASELE
i BRIESEEATRIAEN—
B BEEEZ&E/NREELEN
Al A S EHAREEMS
MIRTELBUNIRTELBUAE
PIEEE  YWEAMBREELEMX
ReEAEMARIETHER -

RARRERZRARLDHE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets other than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and

equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible

assets other than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but
so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

Cryptocurrencies

The Group considers cryptocurrencies as a type of
intangible asset and accounts for cryptocurrencies
held by the Group under the revaluation model. The
cryptocurrencies held by the Group are considered to
have indefinite life, given there is no foreseeable limit
to the period over which the relevant
cryptocurrencies are expected to generate net cash
inflows for the Group. Any revaluation increase
arising from revaluation of cryptocurrencies is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in revaluation reserve, except to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the
same asset previously recognise in profit or loss, in
which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to
the extent of the decrease previously charged. A
decrease in net carrying amount arising on
revaluation of cryptocurrencies is recognised in profit
or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if
any, on the revaluation reserve relating to a previous
revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale or
retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable
revaluation surplus is transferred to accumulated

losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Cryptocurrencies (Continued)

The Group recognises cryptocurrencies received
through airdrops or forks if the cryptocurrencies is
expected to generate probable future benefit and if
the Group is able to support the trading, custody, or
withdrawal of these assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand,
excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of
short-term (generally with original maturity of
three months or less), highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount
of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as
short-term borrowings in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RMEGEHMBRERELERTES

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FHEUR (48)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions

are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual

cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer

credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including trade receivables, deposits, other
receivables, amount due from an associate and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FHEUR (48)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) T E (%)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

MRGENHRRELERTES

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FHEUR (48)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) EHMIR(E)
Financial assets (Continued) T EE (B)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TRMEERE(B)
(i) Definition of default i) BEBAHATE

For internal credit risk management, the Group

MRGENHRRELERTES

RABEERREENS

(iii)

considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

A
:?ﬁ;ﬁ!tln N 1
= £

MBRREERTES

® (48)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FTEEFHKRE (B
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMIT A (HE)
Financial assets (Continued) ZHEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TRMEERE(B)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for

(iif)

REEERENSREE (B)

) ERANERAREGE

economic or contractual reasons relating fi& A 3R B 7 TR 3
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, i&/ﬁié%’]fimﬁﬁﬁ{
having granted to the borrower a KAEERATE S
concession(s) that the lender(s) would TERNES

not otherwise consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial

difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes-off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for
example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written-off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continuead)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
trade receivables using a provision matrix
taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics
when formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or

loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
through loss allowance accounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. RMEGEHMBRERELERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL SR (48)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E TR ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual
obligation for the Group to deliver cash or other
financial assets or the Group has the sole discretion
to defer payment of distribution and redemption of
principal amount indefinitely are classified as equity
instruments.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or
at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when
the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading or (iii) it is
designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of repurchasing it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a

financial guarantee contract or a designated
and effective hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e IS ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MAGBSHMBRREERTIES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL =B (48)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 3.2 TEFBURE (&)

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) EMIT A (HE)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) A ERKA(E)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held
for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer
in a business combination may be designated as at
FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

° the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and
information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or
more embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9
permits the entire combined contract to be
designated as at FVTPL.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at
FVTPL, the amount of changes in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of that liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the
effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, secured loans, loans from a controlling
shareholder, bonds and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3.2, the Directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=
AR

ke

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Going concern and liquidity

As explained in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the financial performance and financial
position of the Group indicates the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
assessment of the going concern assumptions involves
making judgement by the Directors, at a particular point of
time, about the future outcome of events or conditions
which are inherently uncertain. Please refer to Note 3.1 in
relation to the going concern assumptions adopted by the
Directors.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and the other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

4.

EXERABREGEFIEERE
R E ZRIR ()

V& F & ST UK B Y B 68 7 7 (48)

ARG MR M RE3 1R - A&
BB RE LM AR RAFER S
BHAKERFELENENIRLEEE R
MBEANEENE - FHEFELLERZI R
EENFENKRMEAANENS BT
FETE B 25 1 B ISR ITF RO R SR AS SR AF L 1
EREEMRANKELLERE  F2H
BizE3.1

B THREEZEERIE

RBEHRBARKRNERBRMFEA
EEH T —EYRFEREENABRE
BEEERHBNEARRNEMEERG
SHAREE AR ARRmALNT -

RARRERZRARLDHE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of
the value in use of fair value less costs of disposal. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units)
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows or
upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment
loss or further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill
is approximately RMB2,668,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,010,000) (2021: approximately
RMB2,668,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,265,000)). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in Note 22.

Deferred tax asset

As at 31 December 2022, deferred tax asset amounted to
approximately HK$774,000 (2021: HK$713,000) in
relation to unused tax losses for an operating subsidiary
has been recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the unused tax losses of approximately
HK$123,194,000 (2021: 119,126,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of
the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will
be available in the future, which is a key source of
estimation uncertainty especially the uncertainty on how
the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve. In cases
where the actual future taxable profits generated are less or
more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits estimation,
a material reversal or further recognition of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Amortisation charges of intangible assets and
depreciation charges of property, plant and
equipment

Intangible assets with finite useful lives and property, plant
and equipment are amortised or depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, after taking into account the estimated residual
value, if any. The management of the Group reviews the
estimated useful lives of the assets regularly in order to
determine the amount of amortisation or depreciation
expenses to be recorded during each financial year. The
useful lives are based on the Group’s historical experience
with similar assets and taking into account anticipated
technological changes. The depreciation expenses for
future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes
from previous estimates. As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amounts of intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment of the Group were approximately
HK$5,434,000 (2021: HK$15,162,000) and approximately
HK$79,055,000 (2021: HK$84,914,000) respectively.

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables
and amount due from an associate

The Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL on
trade receivables which are not assessed individually using
a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on aging
of debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into
consideration the Group’s historical default rates and
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered. Trade receivables of debtors
with past due balances for over 3 years are assessed for
ECL individually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables
and amount due from an associate (Continued)

The Group calculates the ECL for the other receivables and
amount due from an associate by using the general
approach. The provision rates are based on internal credit
ratings and taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group'’s trade and
other receivables and amount due from an associate are
disclosed in Notes 6(b), 24 and 28 respectively.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise
judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that
may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued
use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including
right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the assets
belongs, including allocation of corporate assets when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined at
the smallest group of cash generating units, for which the
relevant corporate assets have been allocated. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts.
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=

BT FFA=+—HIEFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets subject to impairment assessment were
approximately HK$79,055,000, HK$10,057,000 and
HK$5,434,000 (2021: HK$84,914,000, HK$12,445,000
and HK$15,162,000) respectively. During the year ended
31 December 2022, impairment losses of HK$Nil, HK$Nil
and HK$5,209,000 (2021: HK$Nil, HK$Nil and
HK$1,748,000) in respect of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets that
have been recognised respectively. Details of the
impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets are disclosed in Notes 23 and
21 respectively.
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EFTHEENE 2 EZRRE ()

WFE HERRE FHAEEERERE
E Z 1o &t E ()

RZZEZ=—F+=-H=1—8 ' BETH
B2z  HWBRREE FRAEEE
M & E 2 BRE{E S 549 479,055,000
7 7T + 10,057,000 JT & 5,434,000 7T
(ZZT = — 4 :84,914,000/8 7t
12,445,0007% 7t } 15,162,000 1) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing
products and services commensurately with the level of
risk and securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group’s strategy in monitoring its capital structure, which
was unchanged from the prior year, was to maintain a
sufficient cash level to meet its liquidity requirements. In
order to maintain or adjust the cash level, the Group may
issue new shares, raise new debts financing or sell assets
to increase the cash level.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

EREREE

AEEEREEAZEZARNREAEE
RS ER BB R LS - KB
1B B R K R AR Y 1 2 7 om S AR TS TE (B K%
NEBRAESHE  #ESBRRAED
| R E A D E KRR o

AEEEBYFHEFHNEELEARAR
B URFESHOERER (FTEERS
B BKCE R A [ 3R ) B2 AR B ANHR

MERNEBNRZ 2 MEFE - AR
}*i&%&%ﬁ’]“{tﬁéﬁ$ B AE -

BE T —FR-FT-_—Ft-A=1
—HLIEEE  AREFRAEF 2R - &
REBRARRBIAG R TR SR F AR
BECHE - BEFIABRRESKF K
SERTHRG BEFEBRERH
EEEME MRS IKF -

AR B E AN E R R BARINBERR
HE AR E R o

\;

SEFH

197



198

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statem
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

ents

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. ERLITH
a. Categories of financial instruments a. &MIAENE
2022 2021
—s=-= —_ T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Financial assets EREE
Amortised cost i E s DN 27,080 48,787
Financial liabilities SRE &
FVTPL UARBETEEEEE
FrAEZE
Contingent consideration payable B S AKE — 240
Amortised cost B SH R AN 127,149 138,570
127,149 138,810
b. Financial risk management objectives b. £MEREEEBRERBK

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits,
amount due from an associate, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, contingent
consideration payable, loan from a controlling
shareholder, secured loan, bonds and lease
liabilities. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management of the
Group manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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6.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk

()

Currency risk

A subsidiary of the Company has foreign
currency bank balance which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets at the

6.

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

=R T R (4)
b. €REREREBRRIEX (&)

7 45 2
) EEEE

R m—EH B A B A SNE R
TT#ERR - (N5 B MK R

B o

AREBUSNEHENEREE
ERHRE RN RE A0

end of the reporting period is as follows: N
Assets
BE
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
AT TA
United State Dollars (“USD”) E([Erxl) 60 2,399

The Group is mainly exposed to USD. As HK$
is linked to USD, the Group does not have
material exchange risk on such currency

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should
the need arise.
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HE_Z-_ S+ _A=+—HILFE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. =T A (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. £ERETEBRERER (&)
and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) 5 R (&)
(i) Interest rate risk (i) FEE
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate AREFRF AH M ERRIEZ
risk in relation to fixed-rate amount due from a B —HRE=FEEKIE 5
third party included in other receivables, )\ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁé@\z&‘ﬁ%’_jﬁ
fixed-rate amount due to third parties included BHIE - EA5NTEEAER
in other payables, bonds and lease liabilities. ﬁ@ﬁﬁ1§$|J$ﬂgnu o INEH
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest jTl/;,uffEﬁ £k No% B
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank EXHEERESRENXRER o
balances and variable-rate secured loan. The RNEEWNRESRENEEKRE
Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly EERPRITARTIR G ARE
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates B AT (Fhngc ) sHEMRTT
on bank balances and Canada prime rate EEFREANNEASEET
arising from the Group’s Canadian dollar KA E) o 2N £ [ IR B 37 4 5|
(“CAD”) denominated bank borrowings. The ;;;g]‘;z[:ﬁ(** SR ANEEE
Group currently does not have an interest rate 1B EEERF KRR - WAFATE
hedging policy. However, the management of HIH IR 8 AR XRE REE EH
the Group monitors interest rate exposure and L EITE) o
will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.
Total interest income from financial assets that iﬁﬁfﬁmx HEZERMEEZ
are measured at amortised cost: R B U A
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TBT
Financial assets at amortised cost R # K Azt & 2
DREE 22 12
Interest expense on financial liabilities not WIEA AR BEEHAEZTHT A
measured at FVTPL: BanstEzemBEINERX
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Financial liabilities at amortised REHEKATEZ
cost EREE 4,704 5,163
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
() Interest rate risk
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for variable-rate secured loan as at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
points (2021: 50 basis points) increase or
decrease in variable-rate secured loan is used
and it represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest
rates. Bank balances are excluded from
sensitivity analysis as the management
considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable rate bank
balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points
(2021: 50 basis points) higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s
loss for the year ended 31 December 2022
would increase/decrease HK$131,000 (2021:
HK$149,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits,
amount due from an associate and bank balances.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with its financial assets, except that, for the year
ended 31 December 2021, the credit risks
associated with amount due from an associate is
mitigated because the Controlling Shareholder has
undertaken to indemnify the Group against any
losses that may result from the non-recovery of the
amount due from an associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

=

6.

S

b.

FH-A=1t—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new
customers after a creditworthiness assessment by the
credit control department. Where available at a
reasonable cost, external credit ratings and/or reports
on customers are obtained and used. Customers who
are not considered creditworthy are required to pay in
advance or on delivery of goods. The payment record
of customers is closely monitored. In this regard, the
management considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s concentration
of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in
the PRC, which accounted for 99.54% (2021:
99.74%) of the total trade receivables as at
31 December 2022.

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade receivables
with significant balances and credit-impaired
individually and/or collectively. Except for trade
receivables which the management of the Group
considered as high uncertainty of recovery, which are
assessed for impairment individually, the remaining
trade receivables are grouped under a provision
matrix based on aging of outstanding balances.

Impairment loss, net of reversal of approximately
HK$3,755,000 (2021: HK$2,656,000) is recognised
during the year. Details of quantitative disclosures are
set out below in this note.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables and aeposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition. The Group have assessed and
concluded that the risk of default rate for the other
instruments are steady based on the Group’s
assessment of the financial health of the
counterparties except for other receivable with
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Reversal of impairment loss, net of impairment loss,
of approximately HK$615,000 (2021: impairment
loss, net of reversal, of approximately HK$3,241,000)
was recognised during the year.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk as
62.61% (2021: 75.44%) of the total gross other
receivables and deposits as at 31 December 2022
was due from the Group's largest counter party.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

=

6.

=—F— —

ETECFT A=t HIEFE

b.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Amount due from an associate

Credit risk on amount due from an associate is
limited because the Controlling Shareholder has
undertaken to indemnify the Group against any
losses that may result from the non-recovery of the
amount due from an associate.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, based on the
average loss rates and after considered the indemnity
provided by the Controlling Shareholder, the 12m
ECL on amount due from an associate is considered
to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance
was recognised.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
indemnity provided by the Controlling Shareholder
does not include the amount due from an associate.
The Directors considered that the associate is in
severe financial difficulty, therefore, they are of the
view that there is no realistic prospect of recovery of
amount due from an associate. As a result, full
impairment of amount due from an associate of
approximately HK$13,808,000 has been provided for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit agencies. The
Group assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by
reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on bank balances is considered to be
insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was
recognised.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

b. Financial risk management objectives

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

& IR (8)

b. &rERKREEBERRERE (H)
155 B4 /R e 2 L1 AT A2 (4R
AEE T AHEERRTRTEE
EAT A8

rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
AMEETR MW B 5 ERE HitheMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
vE RZHFEHRRE B W EE(EHFHE FHRMEERE — LREARMEEEE
WERLREERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle  Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
in full credit-impaired
EREE EBARERBRRER  BERERBES FHEBMEERE — LR2EARMEESE
WELREERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since  Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
initial recognition through information developed credit-impaired credit-impaired
internally or external resources
A&t RIS BERRRAEESET  FERREVRE 2NRHEEEE— 2HBRBEEER
RIATREEZ L N TEEBREEHE —LELREE
B
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired
B FERBRABRECHRERRE FHEMEERE — 2HEDGEER
HREERE —HRESRE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off  Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
G| AREBRAGHARARBRNGRNE MAKEYEE BBTUEHME A BRI
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. &I H (&

b. Financial risk management objectives b. £ERETEBRERER (&)
and policies (Continued)
credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & 5 iz R (8 77 1 (48)
(Continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of TREFNMAEEAEETHRAFEEE
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL Btz eMEENEERR
assessment:

External Internal

credit credit 12-month or lifetime
2022 Note rating rating ECL Gross carrying amount
HEEE RABEE 12@AREHELHE
—E-C MEE FE4R FFAR BB R4
HK$’000 HK$’000
THEx FER
Financial assets at
amortised costs
REBHEBATEZ
SREE
Bank balances 29 AA+ N/A 12m ECL
IRITEERR TEA 12EABBEESE 19,696
Other receivables and 28 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL
deposits
H b R R R TR @B (KisEl) 12@RFEHEEERE 3,022
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
TER  BE > HBEHEEEE
(HBEERE) 5,076 8,098
Trade receivables 28 N/A (Note 2)  Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
Z 5 R R TEAR  (WF2) 2HBEHEEEE
(WELREERE) 5,037
Lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired)
T HBEHEEEE
(EREERME) 18,875 23,912
Amount due from an 24 N/A Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-
associate impaired)
JE U — R B i R ) NER  BE > HEHREEER
FIH (EREERME) 13,808
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E TR ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

credit risk and impairment assessment

6. EMIAGE

b. €REREREBRRIEX (&)

1= & /2 g 22 it 18 =T 1 (48)

(Continued)
External  Internal
credit credit 12-month or lifetime
2021 Note rating rating ECL Gross carrying amount
HNEBEE ASMEE 12 Ak BEEE
- —fF BisE "TAR aT AR EE1E BREERR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets at
amortised costs
REHEKANTEZ
EREE
Bank balances 29  AA+ N/A 12m ECL
RITHEER TEA 12@AEBEEEE 27433
Other receivables and 28 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL
deposits
H A W BR 3R A7 K TER (Ml 12EAEBEEEE 1,992
Lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired)
ZHIFBEAE BB 1R
(HBREERE) 6,118 8,110
Trade receivables 28 N/A (Note 2)  Lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired)
B 5 W R ~ERA  (WsF2) 2EEHSEEERE
(W EHIBEE
IE) 1,528
Lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired)
ZHIFEEE BB 1R
(LR EERE) 51,769 53,297
Amount due from an 24 N/A Loss 12m ECL
associate
JE W — B & 2 7] TERA BB 1218 AT B E B 18
FRIA 13,808
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. &FtITH (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. £ERETEBRERER (&)
and policies (Continued)

credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & 5 iz R (8 77 1 (48)

(Continued)

Notes: B 5E -

1) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the 1) RASEEEEMS  A5EEFEA
Group uses past due information to assess whether AT HEERRAVIER
credit risk has increased significantly since initial ARERERELEF -
recognition.

Not past due/
no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
e300
m SEEHEES wst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHIT FHEIT
2022 —E__F
Other receivables and deposits H th & I BR R R AT X — 3,022 3,022
2021 T
Other receivables and deposits HoAth e W AR R R A7 30 6,118 1,992 8,110
2) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the 2) REZERKEZRME AEEEE

simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for balances with
debtors who have past due balances for over 3 years,
the Group determines ECL on trade receivables on a
collective basis, grouped by past due status.

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

REBUMBRELRNFE ISR HE L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes:

3) As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for
its customers because these customers consist of a
large number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed on a collective basis by
using provision matrix with lifetime ECL. Trade
receivables with credit-impaired with gross carrying
amounts of HK$17,526,000 (2021: HK$39,227,000)
were assessed individually.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE_ZT-—F+-_A=+—HLEFE

6. &I R (&)
b. €REREREBRRIEX (&)

1= & /2 g 22 it 18 =T 1 (48)

BRE

3)

ERAEEEERRE RN —3
7 RNEEFRES AR S E
BEPETRENS  AARERP
BEAENEF  ARARNAR
B MELFBRREF AL
RS RGP A 2V B 308 -
TREHEERAEZHEREER
JE5 15 158 A B e e SR R BT T ST A
NEZERKEFNEERRNE
B REAEEHREERENE
S IEWER 17,526,000/ T (ZF =
— 4 : 39,227,000/ 7T) 2 B AT
fi o

“ECCFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. TR R (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. £ERETEBRERER (&)
and policies (Continued)
credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & 5 iz R (8 77 1 (48)
(Continued)
Notes: Py -
3) (Continued) 3) (&)
Gross Net
Expected carrying ECL carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount

BHEE
BHERR REAE EBRERE KEFE
HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
THTT THETT THTT

As at 31 December 2022 R=B==F
+=HA=+—H
Collective assessment =g R
— Current to 30 days BN Z A 30K
past due 8.04% 4,140 (333) 3,807
— 311060 days past due ~ — BIEI31Z60H 23.80% 618 (147) 471
— 61 to 150 days past — AI#61E150H
due 46.75% 273 (128) 145
— 151 to 365 days past — AI#I151F365H
due 78.59% 6 (5) 1
— 1 to 2 years past due —Af1ZE2F 96.76% 427 (413) 14
— 2 to 3 years past due — EH2E3E 96.76% 922 (892) 30
6,386 (1,918) 4,468
As at 31 December 2021 e et
+=—A=+—~H
Collective assessment EaET
— Current and 1 to — BNVARLA K s HA
365 days past due 1%E365K 32.1% 1,528 (490) 1,038
— 1 to 2 years past due — B E2F 47.2% 4,787 (2,261) 2,526
— 2 to 3 years past due — BHI2E3F 71.1% 4,419 (3,141) 1,278
— Over 3 years past due — B HEBRIF 100% 3,336 (3,336) —
14,070 (9,228) 4,842
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes:
3) (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure relevant information about specific debtors is
updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
provided approximately HK$485,000 (2021:
HK$314,000) impairment allowance, net of reversal, for
trade receivables, based on collective assessment.
Impairment allowance of approximately HK$3,270,000
(2021: HK$2,342,000) were made on certain credit
impaired debtors assessed individually.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE_ZT-—F+-_A=+—HLEFE

6. &I R (&)
b. €REREREBRRIEX (&)

1= & /2 g 22 it 18 =T 1 (48)

B RE

3)

(&

AT B 18 R Th 4% e Mk R K B 1 4 18
MEE L BB M RAEITEE - I
MEF N HBERALE NS
FRTIE EEPHEL R - R TIE
HEEEE Bieat - AREORE HT A
T TE B YR AR B B H

BHE-_T-_—_F+=-A=+—HL
FE - AEEREBEEETHEAES
JE U BR FX T R R B B 4 (B R
[B]) 49485,0008 L (Z T = —F :
314,000 7T) - A& @ B2 5k E Bl 5F
HEE T2 BRE R UER KGR
(B4 493,270,0008 T (=B = —
£ : 2342 00078 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. &FtITH (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. £ERETEBRERER (&)
and policies (Continued)
credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & Jal B B 6l 1B 7 1y (48)
(Continued)
The following tables shows the movement in lifetime THRETDREBEG(EFERESE
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables WEERERZ 2 HBHEERESE
under simplified approach. o B EWIR AR R IRS EEEE
ZZ“EDEKIJ«/{T%IEFF@Q :
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HIFEH 2 HIFEH
BEERBE EERFE
(Y& 31 (1
EERME) EERE) #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAT
At 1 January 2021 R-—ZE-_—F—H—H 2,311 42,035 44,346
Changes due to financial instruments ER-_ZT—-_—%—H—H
recognised as at 1 January 2021: BERAZ eI EmiEE
gE)
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EBREEERE (2,143) 2,143 —
— Impairment losses recognised — ERRREEE — 1,920 1,920
— Impairment losses reversed — BRERAESE (178) — (178)
New financial assets originated or EEXRBEZHEREE
purchased 492 422 914
Exchange adjustments EREEE 8 1,445 1,453
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ_—%F
+=—A=+—H 490 47,965 48,455
Changes due to financial instruments ER-_Z-—4%—H—H
recognised as at 1 January 2022: BERAZERMITAMmEE
pok o)
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EBEEEREAE (319) 319 —
— Impairment losses recognised — BRERREBE — 3,910 3,910
— Impairment losses reversed — BEREREEE (148) (640) (788)
— Write-offs — sy — (29,774) (29,774)
New financial assets originated or EXRBEECHEREE
purchased 633 — 633
Exchange adjustments ME 5 B (43) (2,949) (2,992)
At 31 December 2022 R-EBE_-_—&
+=A=+—H 613 18,831 19,444
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ERiT A (4)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. £ERETEBRERER (&)

and policies (Continued)

credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables

are mainly due to:

1= & /2 g 22 it 18 =T 1 (48)

BIRBEREEREZEH TR
FATSEME

2022
(Decrease) increase
—EZF(EL)EmM
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2 HITEH 2 HIFEH
FEEE EEER
(EEEHE (HE]
FERE) EERE)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables with gross carrying BERE B XY
amount of approximately 11,501,000/ 7T 2
HK$11,501,000 transferred to credit- B 5 REWIRREZ
impaired Z2EEREAE (319) 319
Further impairment made for MEHBEEREZ
credit-impaired trade receivables B 5 EWERKIEH
E—TRE — 3,910
Settlement of trade receivables with gross B &4t & EBRE ALY
carrying amount of approximately 766,000/ T 2 B B
HK$766,000 JrE U BR X (148) (640)
No realistic prospect of recovery of trade  3f £ Z X 7] g Uk [@]
receivables with gross carrying amount B 5 B ER X EREE X
of approximately HK$29,774,000 29,774,000/ 7T — (29,774)
New trade receivables with gross carrying 42 8& [E1 18 %95,038,0007% 7T
amount of approximately 2B S EBERK
HK$5,038,000 633 —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. &I E (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. £ERETEBRERER (&)
and policies (Continued)
credit risk and impairment assessment 15 & 5 iz R (8 77 1 (48)
(Continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables HEWER Rz BERE
are mainly due to: (Continued) BETEANTNSIEMK : (8)

2021
(Decrease) increase
—E=—F(RD) M
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
= HR T8 B 2 Hi 8 HA
EEEBE EEEE

(I f% 3R (B3R

EERE) EERE)

HK$'000 HK$' 000
FET FET
Trade receivables with gross carrying 4 BRI 1B 496,573,000/ 7T
amount of approximately 2B SRWERERE
HK$6,573,000 transferred to =ERE
credit-impaired (2,143) 2,143
Further impairment made for RELREEREC
credit-impaired trade receivables B 5 EWERFRIED
HE—TRE — 1,920
New trade receivables with gross carrying 42 BR T {8 #72,299,0007% T
amount of approximately 2B SRR
HK$2,299,000 492 422
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The following tables shows the reconciliation of loss
allowance that has been recognised for other

receivables and deposits:

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

6. &I R (&)
b. €REREREBRRIEX (&)

1= & /2 g 22 it 18 =T 1 (48)

TRETCHREMERER RIS
FER B IR H R

12m ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
12{8 B /A5 2 i
FEEE FEEEE
(3 #% 1 35 (H&R
EERE) EERE) mat
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FH&ET
At 1 January 2021 NR-ZZTE——F
—H—H 296 3,359 3,655
Changes due to financial AR-—ZT=-—%F—H
instruments recognised as —HERZEH
at 1 January 2021: TEmMBELEES :
— Impairment losses — ERHREEE
recognised — 3,391 3,391
— Impairment losses reversed ~ — 2 & EREE B (296) — (296)
— Written-off — i 8H — (746) (746)
New financial assets originated E4SBEZ#H <
or purchased BE 146 — 146
Exchange adjustments b b 2 2 114 116
At 31 December 2021 NR-ZZTE——F
+=-—A=+—H 148 6,118 6,266
Changes due to financial AR-—ZE-—F—H
instruments recognised as —HERzZEH
at 1 January 2022: TEmMBELEES :
— Impairment losses — ERRREEE
recognised 32 — 32
— Impairment losses reversed ~ — 2 BB {E &2 (76) (587) (663)
New financial assets originated E4AXEE 2 FHEL R
or purchased BE 16 — 16
Exchange adjustments PE B (8) (461) (469)
At 31 December 2022 R=-F=-Z
+=-A=+-—8H 112 5,070 5,182
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

el AN
=¥

iprEzesdiiER

=

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE T - "F+_-_A=+—HIFE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ERiT A (4)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. &£&iA

and policies (Continued)

credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables

fREE B R RER ()

1= & /21 g B2 i 1B AT 1 (4B)

HiBRER Rz BREE 2 #

and deposits are mainly due to: BEFEEAN TSR
2022
Decrease
—E=-=
>
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
2 HIFEHf
EEEE
(K]
EERE)
HK$’000
THEx
Settlement an other receivable with gross K S 1A BR T {8 49587,00078 JTAY
carrying amount of approximately H b U BR 3K
HK$587,000 587
2021
Increase (decrease)
—E—FEMORD)
12m ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
1218 A 78 &8 2 HATEHA
EEEE EEEE
(I /3R (B3R
EERE) EERE)
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FHET FHET
Settlement in full of other receivables and & 25 4% & 42 BR [H (B &Y
deposits with gross carrying amount of 811,000 7T #) £ fth fE Ui
approximately HK$811,000 R kizse (296) —
Further impairment made for HELREEREH A
credit-impaired other receivables EWEER RIZS EL #
and deposits —ZRIE — 3,391
No realistic prospect of recovery I % B B U B 7] g = (746)
New financial assets with gross carrying  #REREIE491,123,0007 7T
amount of approximately ZHEMEE
HK$1,123,000 146 —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following tables shows the reconciliation of loss

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

=R T R (4)
b. €REREREBRRIEX (&)

1= & /2 g 22 it 18 =T 1 (48)

TR B — B = R R FO0R

allowance that has been recognised for amount due ERREERENHE
from an associate:
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
FEEE
(HREE
)
HK$'000
TAT
At 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F—HA—BR=Z=_—%F
+-A=+—H —
Changes due to financial instruments AR —_ZE-_—F—F—HHERAZER
recognised as at 1 January 2022: TEAMBERS -
— Impairment losses recognised — ERRBEERE 13,808
At 31 December 2022 NR-ZE_—_F+=-A=+—H 13,808

Change in the loss allowance for amount due from an BLE W — B & A B SRIBFTEH /8
associate: BRENES :

2022
Increase
—_E_=
i
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
2 HIFEHR
FEEE
(HREE
wAE)
HK$’000
FET

No realistic prospect of recovery EEREHEAR 13,808
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

=

6.

S

b.

FH-A=1t—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents and adequate committed lines of funding

from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$103,155,000 as at 31 December 2022. The
liquidity of the Group primarily depends on the future
funding being available and the ability of the Group to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Details
of which are set out in Note 3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, the secured loan with a repayment on
demand clause is included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the bank choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. The Group’s liquidity risk management policy
has been updated to ensure there are sufficient
liquid resources to accommodate potential volatility in
Canada prime-rate. To the extent that interest flows
are based on Canada prime rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived based on management’s best
estimates at the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interest rate curve, if available.

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

6.

= TR (&)
b. €REREREBRRIEX (&)

REBEE AR

REERBDESERME  AKH
ERVTHFRELASFEY A
LETESREBAHIRR RN
BEeBE NENEERHRRMZ

AEEMBRBE SRR - JHEK
SER _ZFE-_—_F+-_A=+—H
A RE A EFEE41103,155,0007%
T AEBHRBESEZERAR
AESHARREE RAEEEEE
BB EE AN - HFBIERE
B EHmARMIFESL ©

TRFANAEESRABENHRTA
WBIHBBER - TRIOIREBEANEEA
BRzmFPARAEESREEZ
ABBRBREREFEL - AEBME -
TR ITIE BT RN # A] BE1E
ARAAT - BB 1R B SRAE R IR R AV 1R 1
EREH ARERRER - AT
T RBENZIHEDREEIE
KEH -

TREFMNERAEHEERE - KN
SENRBESRAREERREE
o ARERAE R ANREEIRARE
MNEXZBEMNENEERED
HAERENNEXZEBENES
HE ARMBASBIREEELE
RBESHRNKEGFE - AE
B =R (mE) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E TR ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—#+-_fA=+—HAIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. &I R (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives b. &mEREEBFEREK (&)
and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) MBE L ()
Weighted  On demand Total
average or within More than  undiscounted Carrying
2022 interest rate lyear  1-2years  2-5years Syears  cash flows amount
il 2371 REX RAERRE
et 3 Mz #-%% -EZRE WERE BRI REBEE BEE

%  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
% TER TEn TiEn TER TEn TR

Non-derivative financial liabilities 3{74 £ 8 &

Trade and other payables BIREMERER | NATER 19,054 - - - 19,054 19,054
Loan from third parties (includedin £=7 &5 GtAZ5

frade and other payables) REMEMNER) 270 2,99 - - - 2,99 2,99
Secured loan BRER 7.95 26,226 - - - 26,226 26,226
Loan from a controlling shareholder 2REE S NIA R A 38,090 - - - 38,090 38,090
Bonds B 300800 20,229 10,275 - — 30504 30181
Lease liabilities HEERE 4.65-5.96 1,777 1,417 4,435 5,708 13,337 10,604

108,370 11,692 4,435 5708 130205 127,149

Weighted ~ On demand Total

average or within More than  undiscounted Carrying

2021 interest rate 1 year 1-2 years 25 years byears  cash flows amount
MmiETs REX AERRS

I Smbt3 flx  g-%r -ZRE WERE HRBARE  NEEE HKEE

% HKS000  HK$O00  HKBO0O0  HKSO00  HKBOOO  HK$000
% TEr  TEn  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEn

Non-derivative financial iabilties ~ JEFTAARIBE

Trade and other payables EAREMERES  NATER 21,262 - - - 21,262 21,062
Loan from third parties (included in E=HEH GIAZHR

trade and other payables) HpERER) 270-5.00 14,226 - - - 14,226 13981
Secured loan HREN 420 29,857 = = = 29,857 29,857
Loan from a controlling shareholder 2BEREH 500 10,79 = = = 10,779 10544
Bonds &% 3.00-8.00 31,002 10,348 10,865 — 52715 50,181
Lease liabilities REEE 4.65-5.45 1,957 1,864 4719 73816 16,356 12,745

109,083 12712 15,584 1816 145,195 138570
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

=

6.

S

b.

FH-A=1t—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Secured loan with a repayment on demand clause is
included in the “on demand or within 1 year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at
31 December 2022, the aggregate carrying amount
of the secured loan amounted to approximately
HK$26,226,000 (2021: HK$29,857,000). Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the
management does not believe that it is probable that
the bank will exercise its discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The management
believes that such secured loans will be repaid after
the end of the reporting period in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreement, details of which are set out in the table
below:

6.

= TR (&)
b. €REREREBRRIEX (&)

REBEZ AR (&)

BEBEREEERRNERBERE
SFA LB B DT EE Sk —F
NIE[BRR - RZTE_=F+=A
=+—H BEEBEXNAKEE
#926,226,0008 L (=T = —F :
29,857,000/ 7T) © &5t R AL E K
FBMR  ERERBZEFRITD
AR RERITEE B IBEERKZANME
B -THEENRE ZSERERSE
RE2RBREBIBIZEE R B EFTEEE
TERABEE  FBEHVNRTER:

Maturity Analysis — Secured loan with a repayment on
demand clause based on scheduled repayments

B — ERREENAREREERINCERER

Total
Within More than undiscounted Carrying
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5years  cash flows amount
AERRE
-ER  -ZME WERE BBEIFE KRELHE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER THER TEx FHER THER FEx
2022 et 3 3,864 3,920 12,259 17,367 37,410 26,226
2021 “E-—fF 3,600 3,600 10,799 18,899 36,898 29,857

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6.

c. Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes. The Directors is responsible to determine
the appropriate valuation technique and inputs for
fair value measurement. In estimating the fair value,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent
it is available.

(i)  Fair value of the Group'’s financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial liabilities are
measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these
financial liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and input

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

= TR (&)
C. ERMIAZARBEFE

AEBETERIARAREER
B UEUHBHREZA -EFEA
EEEAAEBENEE HERM
R A\BUE - REFT 2R BER -
AEBERUERATSUBRRY
I o

(i) EFEEEMBEULNLIEEGE
HIZEBE M EEA LA 1EE

AEERHEMBERSHRE
HRRAANBENE - TRIE
HAERNAEEZFERAE
KR 2 EBENER B RIE
ERNGEERMRBABER) -

used).
Fair value hierarchy
ARBEER
Fair value
as at
31 December Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RTZA
=1+—H
MAREBE £—E = F=E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET THT
2021 —E-—F
Financial liabilities: eRaE
Contingent consideration EREANKE
payable 240 = 240 —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ST R (%)
c. Fair value measurements of financial c. EMTIAEZNAREBESE(H)

instruments (Continued)

(i)  Fair value of the Group'’s financial (i) BEZHEEEULNLIEEE
liabilities that are measured at fair value X EB &M E B LN A1EE
on a recurring basis (Continued) (%)

Fair value as at
RTSBFHRAREE
31 31
December December Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial liabilities 2022 2021 hierarchy and key input(s)
—E-C —E-—%F
+=A +=ZA AREHE fRERM R
=R =t—H =+—HB EB# TERAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Contingent consideration payable N/A 240 Level 2 Effective interest
method was used to
capture the present
value of expected future
economic benefits that
will flow out of the
Group arising from
the contingent
consideration,
based on risk-free rate
e ARE TEAR 240 £_JE RAERNETE - AER
PR R AR - BEURE
BRSARBMEENTE
IR R BN mNRE

FRAF-EBRF_EHILE
LR

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and
2 during the year.

(ii)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets (i) WHEEEMHEBEEULNLEE
and financial liabilities that are not HENAEESHMEER M
measured at fair value on a recurring BEER LA AEE

basis

EEERS  EEAMB®REK
ANERNEREERERARE
MEEERE AR BEES -

The management considers that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximate to their fair
values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. REVENUE

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers

For the year ended 31 December 2022

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—#+-_fA=+—HAIFE

7. W&
(i) ZEREHNZZRIF

BE-E-__F+-A=t—-HL

FE
Continuing operations HEREEK
Hotel Properties Catering
operation management management Total
BIERE MEER BEREE et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FExT FET FHET
Types of goods or ERSREESE
service
Hotel accommodation — E/E{ETE 20,145 — — 20,145
Food and beverage B 24,796 — — 24,796
Spa IKE 7,523 — — 7,523
Marina 558 1,982 — — 1,982
Sales of goods in spa HEKE R
and marina W5 SEE m 662 — — 662
Properties VT E
management — 36,183 — 36,183
Catering services B R — — 4,764 4,764
Total et 55,108 36,183 4,764 96,055
Geographical markets b & 15
The PRC s — 36,183 4,764 40,947
Canada JIEVN 55,108 — — 55,108
Total et 55,108 36,183 4,764 96,055
Timing of revenue R R Z
recognition
A point in time e — BB 25,458 — — 25,458
Over time & BF ] 29,650 36,183 4,764 70,597
Total ot 55,108 36,183 4,764 96,055
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T A RS R R MY EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

7. REVENUE (Continued) 7. Wz (48)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from (i) ZEREHWEZZEIF(E)
contracts with customers (Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue TXEFIRERE G 4 W 8o 5
from contracts with customers with the amounts ERTIEE SR 2 R

disclosed in the segment information:

Segment
revenue
a1l &
HK$’000
FTHExT
Continuing operations BELEER

Hotel operation B JE 48 55,108
Properties management MEEE 36,183
Catering management BEREE 4,764

Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHWE R A W=
and total revenue 96,055
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7. REVENUE (Continued)

)

Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

W & (48)

() FEREHWEZMRIF(E)

"S- —4F+-_HA=+—HI1t

FE
Continuing operations REIREER
Hotel Properties
operation management Total
B A S E XL st
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FHET FHET FET
Types of goods or service EmsRiGEE
Hotel accommodation B IEETE 15,619 — 15,619
Food and beverage B 19,304 — 19,304
Spa KE 4,938 = 4,938
Marina 5 28 1,956 — 1,956
Sales of goods in spa and SHE KR K
marina M5 SR E M 519 — 519
Properties management YIEEIE — 35,364 35,364
Total st 42,336 35,364 77,700
Geographical markets Hh [& T 5
The PRC Fh — 35,364 35,364
Canada YN 42,336 — 42336
Total A 42 336 35,364 77,700
Timing of revenue recognition Rz 2 5
A point in time A 19,823 — 19,823
Over time 14 A R 22,513 35,364 57,877
Total fz 42,336 35,364 77,700
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rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

7. REVENUE (Continued) 7. Wz (48)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from (i) BEREHWZZ@BIF(E)
contracts with customers (Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue TXEFIREREE 4 Wi 5o 26
from contracts with customers with the amounts BRI R &5 2 Hk ¢
disclosed in the segment information:
Segment
revenue
AR e
HK$'000
FAET
Continuing operations BB EER
Hotel operation B JE R 42,336
Properties management YEEE 35,364
Revenue from contracts with customers and BEA#E ke
total revenue 77,700

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts
with customers

Hotel accommodation

For hotel accommodation income is recognised over
time in the accounting period in which the services
are rendered because all of the benefits are received
and consumed simultaneously by the customer as
the Group performs. The payment is due
immediately after service provided.

Sale of food and beverage

The revenue from sales of food and beverage is
recognised at a point in time and payment is due
when the food and beverage are served. The
payment is due immediately after the food and
beverage are served and accepted by customers.

Spa services

Spa service income is recognised over time in which
the services are rendered because all of the benefits
are received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer as the Group performs. The payment is due
immediately after service provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

7. REVENUE (Continued) 7. Yz=E(48)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts (i) TRPEHZEANEE(E)

with customers (Continued)
Marina

Revenue from marina which represents income from
moorage and kayak rentals is recognised over time in
which the services are rendered because all of the
benefits are received and consumed simultaneously
by the customer as the Group performs. The
payment is due immediately after service provided.

A

MR EFPRAEERERBEF R L
WeB| KOBRERT B M2 - SAFRUA
(M= R R EBARAA) BE AR 75
IR RS AT i 158 - TR KBRS 12 B L
BT 3K ©

Sales of goods HEEY
Sales of goods are recognised when customer ?é?g}f‘ﬁg?—%é?’ﬁﬂ?%f%%fff%ﬁﬂ il
obtains control of the promised goods in the contract. R BREYHEHE eEE

This is usually taken to be the point in time when the
goods are delivered and the customer has accepted
the goods. The payment is due immediately after the
goods delivered and accepted by customers.

Properties management services

Revenue relating to properties management services
is recognised over time. The Group bills a fixed
amount for services provided on a monthly basis and
recognised as revenue in the amount to which the
Group has right to invoice and that corresponds
directly with the value of performance completed.
Advance consideration allocated to the properties
management services is recognised as a contract
liability and is released over the period of service. The
normal credit term is 30 days upon service provided.

Catering services

Revenue relating to catering services is recognised
over time. The Group bills its customer based on the
on a monthly basis and recognised as revenue in the
amount to which the Group has right to invoice and
that corresponds directly with the value of
performance completed. The normal credit term is
90 days upon service provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

7. REVENUE (Continued) 7. Wz (48)
(iii) Transaction price allocated to the (ili) "EHEEXFPESAKRTREAER
remaining performance obligation for ZXR GE
contracts with customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining RARERR  »EEHRTRAOE
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially FE(RETHIBORET) IR FE
unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period and EETERER R SRR T
the expected timing of recognising revenue are as
follows:
Hotel Properties
operation management
B G R MEEE
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FHT FHT
2022 —_ g2
Within one year —F A 4,310 1,340
2021 —E -
Within one year —FR 4,304 1,223
The customer gift cards of the hotel operation have B 5 AR ) R A8 R 3 A U
no expiration and can be redeemed anytime at PR XPABER i o FalpTiRER
customers’ discretion. The amounts disclosed above WEeRIEASEHERET LAY
represent the Group’s expectation on the timing of REMER - FlAMEENZES
redemption made by customers. These amounts B TNREERTERERG 2 EX
disclosed above do not include transaction price BEHAERZIIREBHEENR
allocated to performance obligations have been SEHE -

satisfied but not yet recognised due to variable
consideration constraint.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Information reported to the board of Directors (the
“Board”), being the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
commenced the business engaged in the provision for
catering management in the PRC and it is considered as a
new operating and reportable segment by the CODM.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
commenced the business engaging in the cryptocurrency
investment, and it was considered as a new operating and
reportable segment by the CODM. The cryptocurrency
investment was discontinued in the current year. The
segment information reported on the next pages does not
include any amounts for these discontinued operation,
which are described in more detail in Note 13.

No operating segments identified by the CODM have been
aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the

Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

(i)  Hotel operation — Operation of a resort in Canada
(i)  Properties management — Properties management
in the PRC

(ii)  Catering management — Catering management in
the PRC

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

EESE

RERDERDBRAFEMAESS
(Exg)(MEX22ERRE(XEE
BRRE]))ERZEHEENIRITH
USRS 285

BE-_ZE_—_F+-A=+—HIEE -
AEBERBRTPEREREZERERE
% MEBEELERRERANLER
AIZ2FHDEL o

BE_E-_—F+-_A=+—HIEE
$Elﬁﬁ%$mf§%&§¥% s
WEBEERRERBNEERAIZRY

B o MZTM&§EW$¢E%¢ TE
FIEHRz D HERT FEIEZEERIER
BEBZEMNSE  EZFBHNME
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8. o (4)
(a) Segment revenues and results (@) PHBUERXSE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue REEZ 2RO BE D 2 WA KR
and results by reportable segments: EEHMEHNNWT -
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_Z_—_F+-A=t—HL
FE
Continuing operations HEREEK
Hotel Properties Catering
operation management management Total
EIERE MEEE BEREE et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FHET FHET
Revenue U &= 55,108 36,183 4,764 96,055
Segment (loss) profit 2B (E518) & Fl (3,376) (8,916) 354 (11,938)
Unallocated other income &2 B EAtb g A 8,115
Unallocated corporate F N WG
expenses (7,060)
Impairment loss T SR P U — Bt
recognised on amount EWNC =S|
due from an associate BB EE (13,808)
Impairment loss RN — S
recognised on interest NAZ =
in an associate B EE (1,115)
Finance costs & B A (2,507)
Loss before tax from REFELE
continuing operations ERHBRBLAT
BB (28,313)

230 TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED BRBRIREEZERERAF



8.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

(@) Segment revenues and results

(Continued)

= A & 23
ire SRR M AT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE
SESE(E)

(@) SR RE (E

For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—H1t
FE
Continuing operations 5 T
Hotel Properties
operation management Total
B A S E XL st
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$’000
FHT FHT FET
(Restated)
(&E7)
Revenue W %5 42,336 35,364 77,700
Segment profit (loss) 7 Em A (E518) 1,963 (11,758) (9,795)
Unallocated other income Ko B E AL YA 104
Unallocated corporate expenses 7% B2 /A Al 2 (8,802)
Share of result of an associate 71k — 5% = A A
E (1,870)
Loss on derecognition of joint BIEEREELEL
ventures Eia (882)
Finance costs BB A A (3,483)
Loss before tax from continuing KB EFBKE L EKH
operations BR 5% Bl ES 1B (24,728)

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 3.2. Segment results represent the
profit earned by/loss from each segment without
allocation of certain administration costs, certain
other income, gains and losses, net, impairment loss
recognised on amount due from an associate, certain
finance costs, share of result of an associate/joint
ventures, impairment loss recognised on interest in
an associate, loss on derecognition of joint ventures
and directors’ emoluments. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-—#+_fF=+—HILFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8. BENM(E
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) HEBEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and REFEZEROBE D ZEER
liabilities by reportable segments. BESTWT :
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZB-ZZ+=-A=+-—H
Hotel Properties Catering
operation management management Total
B IR R MEERE ENEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FExT FET
ASSETS EE
Segment assets DEPEE 84,003 28,724 3,311 116,038
Unallocated corporate ROBAREE
assets 21,273
Consolidated assets e EBE 137,311
LIABILITIES &
Segment liabilities nEAE 32,797 32,126 1,747 66,670
Unallocated corporate [/NCIN=Er
liabilities 85,507
Consolidated liabilities FeEaE 152,177
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8. EENE(E)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) HBEERER ()

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2021 R-ZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H

Hotel Properties  Cryptocurrency
operation management investment Total
BG4 MEER NEEKERE mEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FATT FHATT FATT

ASSETS BE

Segment assets 71 *Bﬁ? 87,711 44 445 5,370 137,526

Unallocated corporate F2)

assets é“E 44,183

Consolidated assets HEBE 181,709

LIABILITIES BfE

Segment liabilities DEEE 36,698 37,063 — 73,761

Unallocated corporate AN W/NE]

liabilities =N 91,674

Consolidated liabilities ReatE 165,435

For the purposes of monitoring segment MERLIHFRARRDHBELEE

performances and allocating resources between JRME :

segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments . BRETEMEWER Rek
other than certain other receivables, cash and HeZEEBY B2 T -
cash equivalents, interest in an associate, = BTYE MSESERER
certain property, plant and equipment, and ++:F1Eﬁﬁ$2£§%9|\ CFTEEE
certain right-of-use assets; and PRELEDE &

e allliabilities are allocated to operating segments . @ S TEMEERR R ERE
other than certain other payables and accruals, MBS —RERBRRER
bonds, loans from a controlling shareholder &%:FTEEEEW CFTBEAE
and certain lease liabilities. DRELEDE -
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l\\/T\

HE-T——

8.

ke

For the year ended 31 December 2022
FH+-RA=+—RHItFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8. BoHE (&)
(c) oOther segment information (c) HihominEs
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_E-_—_F+-A=+—HL
FE
Continuing operations BFESEEK
Amounts included in the measure of segment result AEDHMEEXNSHEERTALZ
or segment assets: SR
Hotel Properties Catering
operation management management Unallocated Total
BERE YEEE  ERER AAE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR T TR FET
Addition of property, plant NEME  HER
and equipment B 854 46 128 398 1,426
Addition of right-of-use assets B RELE — 72 — — 72
Amortisation of intangible BB EEH
assets — (3,604) — — (3,604)
Depreciation of property, ME - BERFE
plant and equipment nE (2,206) (180) (15) (230) (2,631)
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ EFRELENE
assets — (1,252) — (312) (1,564)
Loss on fair value change of ~ B sk AR BAFLE
contingent consideration 2EE
payable - (5) — - (5)
Finance costs BB (1,607) (590) — (2,507) (4,704)
Impairment loss recognised St & 5 EMEEFRER
on trade receivables, netof  ZBERIE © B4
reversal G3qm| — (3,400) (355) — (3,755)
Reversal of impairment loss St E o UK R TR B2
recognised on other ZREEE - Bm
receivables, net of reversal B[ — 615 — — 615
Impairment loss recognised B L& & ERERH
on intangible assets AEEE — (5,209) - — (5,209)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E TR ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—#+-_fA=+—HAIFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8. EENHME

(c) oOther segment information (Continued) (c) Hiso&E&ER (&
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not EHREZEERBERMBERE
included in the measure of segment result: ENPEERUETAZLHE

Hotel  Properties Catering
operation management management Unallocated Total

BELE  YXEE R
% % BB ROE At
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKD'000  HK$'000
TERT TERT THERT TERT TERT

Interest income from RELREEL

financial institutions i SWA — 7 - — 7
Gains on settlements of #EEHNE

bonds — — — 7,800 7,800
Impairment loss recognised B — B & A A

on amount due from an AR RE

assaciate B — — — (13,808)  (13,808)
Impairment loss recognised AR — R H#E & A A

on interest in an associate LR RESE — — - (1,115) (1,115)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8. EENE(E)
(c) oOther segment information (Continued) (c) HisraE&ER (E)
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE—_T-—F+-_A=+—H1t
FE
Continuing operations FRBASE T
Amounts included in the measure of segment result AEDHMEEXNSHEERTALZ
or segment assets: SR
Hotel Properties
operation management Unallocated Total
BEELE MEEE RO Fh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiExT FET FTET FTAET
(Restated)
(B E5)
Addition of goodwill FEHE — 3,265 — 3,265
Addition of property, plant ~ REWE - #E
and equipment B 2,105 - — 2,105
Addition of right-of-use assets R EFFREEE — 12,183 622 12,805
Amortisation of intangible B EAESH
assets — (4,170) — (4,170)
Depreciation of property, LIERY - 104
plant and equipment RETE (2,795) (187) — (2,982)
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FRAEEENTE
assets — (597) (1,302) (1,899)
Finance costs BE KA (1,452) (228) (3,483) (5,163)
Gain on early termination of  1RFIARILFAE
lease W = 136 — 136
Government grants B 8L 4142 681 — 4,823
Impairment loss recognised 7t E 7 FEUER X
on trade receivables, netof R ZEE
reversal EE -2
Bh f o] — (2,656) — (2,656)
Impairment loss recognised ~ FLE M FEUERFX
on other receivables, netof R ZRE
reversal EE -2
Bh f o] — (3,241) — (3,241)
Impairment loss recognised ~ EMEFEE
on intangible assets BRARRE
BB — (1,748) — (1,748)
Loss on written-off of WEHmE - e
property, plant and FiEZ
equipment B (51) = = (51)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8. BEMNE(4E)

(c) oOther segment information (Continued) (c) HivnEm&Es (&)

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not EHRFEELERARBREERG
included in the measure of segment result: ENPEERUETAZLHE

Hotel Properties
operation management Unallocated Total
BESE MEER Aok i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKD'000
FHET FET TET TET
Interest income from RESREE
financial institutions FEWA — 12 = 12

Loss on derecognition of &R IFHERA L E

joint ventures g = = (882) (882)
Share of result of an SME—EEE
associate NGIE = = (1,870) (1,870)
Geographical information i [E & #
The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong REBEEBEEZMRES - 12X - XK
Kong, Canada, Malaysia and the PRC. PHon AR o

Information about the Group’s revenue from continuing
operations from external customers is presented based on
the location of the customers. Information about the
Group’s non-current assets (excluding deferred tax assets)
is presented based on the geographical location of the

BRAASERBINIER ZFHBELLERR
W B TBRBEEPRAAERE® - AHEA
SEERBEEERN (TEEEEHRAE
E)ENEEHEZY -

assets.
Revenue from external
customers Non-current assets
REINBEFE 2 W= kRBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E=-= —_E-—F | ZE-Z —EF -4
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$' 000
FHET FET FET FABT
Canada mExX 55,108 42,336 78,443 84,413
Hong Kong &5 — — 236 492
Malaysia B2k — — — 1,115
The PRC s 40,947 35,364 18,877 30,881
96,055 77,700 97,556 116,901
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 8.

Information about major customers

None of the customers contributed over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group from continuing operations for both
years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

EEDE(E)
FRFTEEZRAHEN
HE-T-_—_F+-A=+—HRZZTZ

—F+-A=1T—HLEFE BEXFE
BREASERELEEB AW REB
10% -

9. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, 9. Hitli N  MEHFEREEFH
NET
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
(Restated)
(&%)
Continuing operations ﬁﬁ&-%%ﬁ
Interest income from bank deposits THERZFBERA 7 5
Gain on early termination of a lease T A 4R IEFE WA — 136
Gains on settlements of bonds (Note 34(a)) #HEEHWE (H5E34(a)) 7,800
Government grants (Note) AT B () — 4,823
Loss on written-off of property, plant and MEEE - AR
equipment HEEE — (51)
Loss on fair value change of contingent ERSARERAREER
consideration payable (Note 41) B8 mHiE (fsE41) (5) —
Others Hty 462 822
8,264 5,735

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2021, approximately

RMB565,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$681,000))
represents an incentive from the Finance Bureau of People’s
Government of Chongging, Yuzhong District* (Z& B 181 /7 [&
Bt B /®) for maintaining good quality of properties
management service and to provide financial support to retain
employees. The Group also recognised government grants of
approximately CAD668,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,142,000) which relate to Canada Emergency Wage
Subsidy and Emergency Rent Subsidy provided by the Canada

Federal Government.

There are no conditions attached to the receipt of the
government grants and they are non-recurring in nature.

*

For identification purpose only

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

s BEZ T —F+_A=1+—HIEFE -

#9 A R #565,0007T (18 & 7 £9681,00078
M NEEMATRURERERSER
MEBERBEL 2 2B WAKEBRES
IR R o RS B IR B NS A
HBFREZ NZEABZEZTEMENEZ
76 < %5 B A8 78 BT 483 B 49668,000 00 7T (A8
BN 494,142,0005 7T °

Wi B R B S S8 5 AR - IR SR A AR
ME -

* EHEG
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E TR ERRMIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE_ZT-—F+-_A=+—HLEFE

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 10. B EEEERXTZREEE

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF ($NpR# E)
REVERSAL
2022 2021
—EC-CfF —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Continuing operations BESEEL
Impairment losses recognised (reversed) on: 7l FRIBRERRE (B @)
&1
— Trade receivables — B RIWERR 3,755 2,656
— Other receivables — H fih R IR AR R (615) 3,241
— Amount due from an associate — EU— B A A
RIE 13,808 —
16,948 5,897
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 6(b). WA G 2 FEIBE A M sE6(b) ©
11. FINANCE COSTS 11. BMER KX
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Continuing operations FEREEK
Interests on: B -
— Secured loan — I ER 1,607 1,452
— Bonds — &% 1,930 2,345
— Lease liabilities —HEBE 608 240
— Imputed interest on loans from —ERBRRERZ
controlling shareholder HEEF S 480 513
— Other — HAfb 79 613
4,704 5,163
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rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-T——

FH-A=1t—HILFE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT

Income tax expense (credit) from continuing operations are

12. A5

i K %

BRERKEREB 2MEHMAX (Ee)m

as follows: T
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT
Current tax BN HA 18
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) SRS
([EEmEH]) 600 278
Deferred tax IEAERIE
Current year (Note 36) AEE (H7E36) (4,728) (7,546)
(4,128) (7,268)
Notes: Btk

(a)

(b)

(c)

*

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit for both years. No provision for taxation in
Hong Kong has been made as the Group’s income neither
arises in nor is derived from Hong Kong.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. Certain
subsidiaries operating in the PRC enjoy a preferential income
tax rate of 2.5% to 15% (2021: 2.5% to 15%) of their
assessable income.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulation in the PRC,
Chongging Haotai Property Management Company Limited* &
EmMEFEWEER AR EML A7 (“Chongging Haotai”), which
is newly acquired during the year ended 31 December 2021, is
qualified as small low-profit enterprises enjoyed a preferential
tax rate of 20% for the year ended 31 December 2021. In
addition, in accordance with the “Notice on Preferential
Income Tax Policies Applicable to Small Low-profit
Enterprises”, Chongging Haotai is also entitled to a tax
concession for 75% and 50% of its taxable income for the
annual taxable income of less than RMB1,000,000 and the
portion that exceeds RMB1,000,000 but does not exceed
RMB3,000,000 (inclusive), respectively, for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022.

For identification purpose only

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(a)

(b)

(c)

% EFENEBNSHRER ERT
HA216.5%5 8 o W E L BB BIAE H
B RARAEEZ WAL FELNK
KEERE -

RIBEHBIBEMEEOE ([REMEHIE]
REEMSTOREMED] - B E QA
LIEREFE 2 K R25% ° FH T HRHF
BEZMBRARZAEERBUWA2.5%E
5% 2 BEMBHRE(ZFE_—F:25%
Z£15%) °

RIFEFEABEERER  EBEMEZEY
XEEAREARR(EERRE]  ZA
ARBE_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIF
SRR ) & /DN RI D EELRE - BRE
E-TE-—F+-A=+—HBItEEZH
20%BEFIE o AN+ BIECER/NBUF]
TEMFHERERIBAN)  #E-F=
—F+A=+—HRZZT==F+=A
=+—HIEFENFEERRBTBLAERA
R #1,000,0007T & 8 i@ A K # 1,000,000
TR AREE3,000,0007T (&) BIEE5
BEZRIAI D BIZHT75% K% 50% ) fE =R
B A TR R -

* {EHBER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

(d) Canadian Corporation Tax is calculated at Federal Tax rate of
15% and British Columbia Provincial Tax rate of 12% on the
estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021, no provision for taxation has been made as
there is no assessable profit for both years.

(e) Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled from

12. Fi 13

(d)

(e)

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

SR % ()

BE-ZS-_—ER=-F-_—&+=-RA=+
—HIEFE  MEXCEMER TG
FERR Tl i MR B R R 15% M BB TR kb
DA EI2%TE - AR EERFR
F o B AR A W E S A B IR A o

RE A RDERE R E £ 2 TIRIR IR BDAE
B2ZBRITREAH -

AEEMRGEHREREGSBREREMEE

the loss before tax from continuing operation per the Wk 2 R EFELCE X BRI RSB
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other BRINR :
comprehensive income as follows:
2022 2021
—E=-= T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
(Restated)
(&%)
Loss before tax (from continuing operations)  BR¥: Al &5 18
(REFESEEL) (28,313) (24,728)
Income tax at applicable tax rates HEAMEFTENFTE (4,124) (3,720)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax TR MBA R BT E
purpose 4,596 2,185
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose # 78 4R % Y A B B 765 52 22 (1,571) (575)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ﬂiﬁﬁ REIBE BT
-1 1,699 1,500
Tax effect of temporary difference not iﬁﬁﬁ R =R AR A
recognised wE (4,728) (4,858)
Reversal of withholding tax on undistributed [0 R B B R Bl R R 2
from the PRC subsidiaries w42 TR — (1,800)
Income tax credit for the year rEERBSHESR
(relating to continuing operations) (BRFEREEKER) (4,128) (7,268)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

=

BT FFA=+—HIEFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

The Company entered into a disposal agreement on
30 November 2022 with a purchaser (the “Purchaser”), an
independent third party, in respect of the disposal of (i) the
entire equity interests in Dragon Delight Group Limited and
Best Master Limited (collectively referred as the “Disposal
Subsidiaries”); and (ii) an aggregate amount of
approximately HK$8,958,000 owed by the Disposal
Subsidiaries to the Company for a cash consideration of
HK$1,291,000 (the “Disposal”). The principal activities of
the Disposed Subsidiaries are cryptocurrency investment,
which represents the cryptocurrency investment segment
of the Group. The Disposal was effected in order to avoid
further fluctuation in the market price of cryptocurrencies
in hand and generate cash flows for the Group to repay its
bonds. The disposal was completed on 30 November
2022, on which date the control of the operation of
cryptocurrency investment passed to the Purchaser.
Details of the assets and liabilities disposed of, and the
calculation of the gain on disposal, are disclosed in Note
40 to the consolidated financial statements.

The loss for the period/year from the discontinued
cryptocurrency investment operation is set out below. The
comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income have been
restated to re-present the cryptocurrency investment
operation as a discontinued operation.

13. ERULERERH

E\_7__¢+ A=+H AQFRHE

FTEFDBBILE=A)ILHER
% # DA & LA TS IE() Dragon Delight
Group Limited R &8 EBR AR (FEfE [ HE
MEAR] & () HEMBARMRAR
A] A T 498,958,000/ T k1B - HE R E
1,291,000 L ([Z L EEHE]) - HE
MBARMNEEXBAKRENEEY B
AEEMNZEEREDE - ZHEEE
A THEFENZEENMERE DK
PBUALEEELRGRE  WEEERE
Ao HEEBEIN - E-_—_F+—H=+
HZEK - KRB - NEEBRERNLEE
fIEEEEER AREHEEERABEMN
MEtEHEWRMFIBERBERLGS MR
= MFEE40 ©

B/ FRBERIERE T EERE EBH
EREFIIINT - FEBRSREM 2K
ROLBEFOAEES - AEHZIER
ERIEREXBNMEEEREER -

2022 2021
—E-= —EF-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Loss of cryptocurrency investment operation for £,/ R I1Z E K E
the period/year ¥BEE (4,388) (3,480)
Gain on disposal of cryptocurrency investment & N & ¥R & £ 1%
operation (Note 40) Wz (Bt 5E40) 225 —
(4,163) (3,480)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 13. EALEREXRTH (B)
The results of the cryptocurrency investment operation for B-ZE-—_F—A—HA&E=F=__F+—
the period from 1 January 2022 to 30 November 2022 and A=+HUIBEEEE=ZT=_—F+=A
the year ended 31 December 2021, which have been =+—HIEFE  FAGEEREHEME
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and HBZROMNEEEREEBHEEN
other comprehensive income, were as follows: o
1 January 1 January
2022 to 2021 to
30 November | 31 December
2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—4F
—p-8E | —A—A=
—E-= —E-—F
+—A +=A
=+H =+—H
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FERT FET
Interest income from bank deposits RITERBFEUWA 15 7
Loss from changes in fair value of MEEEQNFEES Y
cryptocurrency E51E (4,304) (2,253)
Administrative expenses THAX (99) (1,234)
Loss before tax and loss for the period/year RABERE, FRNEE (4,388) (3,480)
Loss for the period/year from discontinued B/ FREDRIEEE
operation included the following: ¥BNEEBEUAT
Auditor’s remuneration %S A BN 10 —
ANNUAL REPORT 2022 —E-CFR
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ke

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

l\\/T\

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

Cash flows from the cryptocurrency investment operation

13. BRLEREER (4
KENBEBREXGHRERE

®)

1 January 1 January
2022 to 2021 to
30 November | 31 December
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
—HA—HZ —H—H=z
—E-= —E-—%F
+—A t=A
=tH =+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Net cash outflows from operating activities KE BRI ES MM
FER (84) (1,211)
Net cash outflows from investing activities KREZBMBHREESML
HER — (7,623)
Net cash (outflows) inflows from financing RMEEBMERE CRH)
activities MAFER (2,307) 11,225
Net cash (outflows) inflows We Rt RAFRE (2,391) 2,391

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14. LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax from continuing operations has been

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

14. BRI EIEE
R BB TS Y R AT E R AT R M

arrived at after charging: HEH
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FET
Auditors’ remuneration: ZERRN BN &
— audit services — ZHARTS 1,361 1,337
— non-audit services — R EPRTE 555 287
Staff costs (including directors’ emolument BETIXA(BRESHM
(Note 15)) (BtzE15))
— salaries, wages, allowance and other — 4 I8 ZBHE
benefits in kind HEEYER 44,806 38,116
— retirement schemes contributions — RIRETEI 2 K 2,778 2,585
Total staff costs (Note) BT AR (1) 47,584 40,701
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BRERAZMNFEKAR 8,691 6,839
Depreciation of: e
— Property, plant and equipment — W% HBREE 2,631 2,982
— Right-of-use assets — (FREEE 1,564 1,899
Total depreciation wERsE 4,195 4,881
Depreciation included in direct cost Bt AEBERAZITE (1,898) (2,131)
Depreciation included in administrative EEATTHRASZ 2 E
expenses 2,297 2,750
Electricity, water and gas fee KERE 11,418 10,185
Electricity, water and gas fee included in BEFFABEENAZKE
direct cost HE (10,203) (8,990)
Electricity, water and gas fee included in Bt ATTEAS 2 KE
administrative expenses HE 1,215 1,195
Amortisation of intangible assets (included in % & E#H
administrative expenses) (BEFAITHRX) 3,604 4,170
Legal and professional fee ERREBEEER 4,117 4,666
Note: Staff costs amounted to approximately HK$38,784,000 (2021: B : B TAKAN4Y38,784,000/8 7T (Z T = —4F :

HK$29,992,000) and HK$8,800,000 (2021: HK$10,709,000)
have been included in direct costs and administrative expenses

respectively.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

15. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS

15. EERITHERNME

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments, disclosed

REER ETRARARGIIREESR

pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the CO, are as

follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

TTHARER MM T

BE-F-_—_F+-A=+t-HLFE

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and benefits schemes
Fees in kind  contributions Total
e 2RR BIREF
ik EMEF B oy
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
THERT THERT THERT THERT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Choi Yun Chor (Chairman) Z0B %)% A& (B E £ 7%) - 120 6 126
Ms. Yeung So Mui CE L
(resigned on (R=—E——F
31 March 2022) =RA=+—HEMR) — 30 2 32
Mr. Chen Jian PR fi2 o A — 120 3 123
Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny B B58 LA - 120 6 126
Mr. Ng Kwai Wah Sunny REHEL
(resigned on (RZE=Z=F
31 March 2022) =A=+—HE) — 90 5 95
Mr. Lin Junwei MEEEE
(retired on 10 June 2022) (RZT=Z=F
NATBERE) — 160 8 168
Ms. Hang Wang Kai Grace HERERLT
(appointment on (RN=ZT=-=F
1 October 2022) +A—BEZRMT) — — — —
Independent non-executive BV FHTEE
directors
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie RenizL 120 — — 120
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee TERE
(resigned on 31 March (M2
2022) =A=+—HEL) 30 — — 30
Dr. Loke Yu (resigned on BEGMIE
1 September 2022) (h=—%=—=
NLA—BRE) 80 — — 80
Mr. Huang Xiang Yang ERfG%
(appointment on (WN=—ZE=—_=
29 July 2022) +A-THhBEZMT) 51 — — 51
Mr. Ngok Ho Wai SR R4
(appointment (M=
on 30 November 2022) +—A=1+HEZMF) 10 — — 10
291 640 30 961

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15. DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

15. EERITHAERNME (&)

BE_F_—FT-_A=1+—HILLFE

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and benefits schemes
Fees inkind  contributions Total
e RUR RKEH
ok EMRER sHElft et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THET

Executive directors WITES
Mr. Choi Yun Chor BEMEE

(Co-Chairman) (BEEETE) — 120 6 126
Ms. Yeung So Mui CE3

(Co-Chairman) (BEERE) — 120 6 126
Mr. Chen Jian BRig T4 — 120 6 126
Mr. Tai Kwok Keung Kenny — ®iBI58 504 — 120 6 126
Mr. Ng Kwai Wah Sunny RERES A — 360 18 378
Mr. Lin Junwei MBELE — 360 18 378
Independent non-executive BV IFHITEE

directors
Ms. Lai Cheuk Yu Cherrie REanL+ 120 — — 120
Mr. Ting Wong Kacee TERE 120 — — 120
Dr. Loke Yu PEmEL 120 — — 120

360 1,200 60 1,620

Notes: B2

(a) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group.

(b) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown

above were for their services as directors of the Company.

(c) No chief executive of the Company was appointed for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the

chief executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

16. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 16. AEaESHMES

AEEBFALAESFHNERY FNEREE
MEXE(ZT-_—F WB)EF KFEZ

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year did not include any directors (2021: included two

directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in
Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the five (2021:

FE RIS EN L3R A SRR MEELS -
HEHBRRA (2T —F: =ZR) XIFARHA
BT THEH RS HMEERNAFE

remaining three) highest paid employees who are neither a ZEHMEFBIT ¢
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FHET FHT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EEREWRET 2,933 1,763
Retirement benefits schemes contributions RIREF GBI 5K 105 58
3,038 1,821

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the

HMNFATHEZFESRHMES

Directors whose remuneration fell within the following ABIRT -
bands is as follows:
Number of individuals
EEA™
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000/% 75 5 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001t =
1,500,000/ 7T — 1
There was no arrangement during the years ended REEZZT-_FR-ZTF-—F+=ZA=

31 December 2022 and 2021, under which the directors or
the five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration, and no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the Directors or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

T—RALEFE EFXRERSFMAL
PR AR IR AT (7] 2 BF 3R 3 [R) B D R A )
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17.

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the reporting period (2021: HK$Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

For continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from
continuing operations attributable to owners of the

17. B2

HE—
RiZ:AEPN/NE]

= —

=

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE_ZT-—F+-_A=+—HLEFE

Ft+-A=+—HILFE "
AT RRRRN SEER S

RS $&¢HJ%XL‘MED‘_F5K§$E§ETEJ%E (=

BT o

18. BIEGR

MEBEEEEEBEMS

ARBREAEANBIENREFELEEH L

FRERREGEERIIERA TSR

Company is based on the following data: =
Loss figures are calculated as follows: EBEEBENT
2022 2021
— - —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the ~ RNAGHEA ABIEER
Company B8 (28,348) (20,940)
Less: Loss for the year from discontinued B BRI E TR
operation " A& 18 (4,163) (3,480)
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted loss & & & E KT ER K
per share from continuing operations BEEEmSNEE (24,185) (17,460)
2022 2021
—E2-= —E-—%F
'000 '000
Number of shares BHEE T F A%
Weighted average number of ordinary shares st EERRER R #EEE
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss FT A 2 & @ AR n g
per share F15 8 1,092,878 1,092,878
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sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

18. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

For continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from
continuing and discontinued operations attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

18. BB R (H])

MBRERERBRLERERXBMS

ARBFEAARIENRAFELERER
IREXB 2 BREARETBRIIER
AT &I E -

2022 2021
—s=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the 5T & & IR E AN & 5% E5 18
Company for the purpose of basic and P /NEIE RPN 3
diluted loss per share HARFEESE (28,348) (20,940)

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted loss per share.

From discontinued operation

Basic and diluted loss per share for the discontinued
operations is HKO0.38 cent per share (2021: HKO0.32 cent
per share), based on the loss for the year from the
discontinued operation of approximately HK$4,163,000
(2021: HK$3,480,000) and the denominators detailed
above for both basic and diluted loss per share.

No diluted loss per share for both years ended
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 were
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in
issue for both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E TR ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. Y%  HBRFH
Freehold land
and buildings Other property,
held for own Leasehold plant and
use improvements  Motor vehicles equipment Total
KARELH
RiERRD Hith s
BF HENREEL AE BERRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR TR TR TR

COST B
At 1 January 2021 RZE-_—%—f—H 97,339 1,594 1,295 8,303 108,531
Exchange adjustments PR i A 284 = 19 55 358
Additions NE 562 — = 1,543 2,105
Written-off Mg (61) (1,594) = = (1,655)
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—

+-A=+-H 98,124 = 1314 9,901 109,339
Exchange adjustments PR 5 A (5,456) = 48) (599) (6,103)
Additions NE 370 326 = 730 1,426
Written-off Mg - — (702) (195) (897)
At 31 December 2022 R-BE-Z%

+ZB=t-H 93,038 326 564 9,837 103,765
ACCUMULATED R ERAE

DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2021 RZE-_—F—HA—H 12,606 1,594 870 7928 22,998
Exchange adjustments P& 5L A 19 — 7 23 49
Provided for the year TEERE 1,658 — 120 1,204 2,982
Written-off HisH (10) (1,594) — — (1,604)
At 31 December 2021 i

+-A=+—-8H 14,273 — 997 9,155 24,425
Exchange adjustments P 5L A (869) — (27) (553) (1,449)
Provided for the year TEERE 1,768 206 116 541 2,631
Written-off HisH — — (702) (195) (897)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-Zf

+ZB=t-H 15,172 206 384 8,948 24,710
CARRYING VALUES BHE
At 31 December 2022 R-ZBE-Z%

+=ZB=t-H 77,866 120 180 889 79,055
At 31 December 2021 RZE=Z—F

+=A=t-H 83,851 — 317 746 84914
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

19. W3 ~ #R[RRE (8)

R-BE-_—_F+-_A=+—H xEER
MEREKAEELWREFEEANET
B BREE 4 & 77,866,000 T (ZF = —
F 183,851,000 7C) ' EEA T AEE
B E K (FI5E33 % 43) ©

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s freehold land and
buildings held for own use situated in Canada with carrying
amount of approximately HK$77,866,000 (2021:
HK$83,851,000) were pledged to the secured loan granted
to the Group (Notes 33 and 43).

A B - #as Mam™E B XA MRt AT
ERFEHANERAFTETE -

The above items of property, plant and equipment, are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful life as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated KAFRE L NI e
Buildings held for own use 25 years HEEBRNETF 25%F
Leasehold improvements 3 years or over the HEMERE 3F ok iR H A
lease term
Motor vehicles 5 years E 54
Other property, plant and 3-5 years Hmyz  #eEREHE 3E5F
equipment
20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 20 ERHEEE
Office
premises Car parks Total
WAEYE 85 wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2021 R-—ZE-_—F—H—H 1,172 1,722 2,894
Additions IN=E 12,697 108 12,805
Depreciation charges WEEH (1,704) (195) (1,899)
Early termination RE&IE = (1,589) (1,589)
Exchange adjustments R 180 54 234
At 31 December 2021 ik
+=—A=+—8 12,345 100 12,445
Additions A=Y = 72 72
Depreciation charges meEER (1,478) (86) (1,564)
Exchange adjustments bE 5 & (889) (7) (896)
At 31 December 2022 NR=—TE——
+=—HA=+—A~ 9,978 79 10,057
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

20 EREERE ()

2022 2021

—g-= T4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Expense relating to short-term leases B35S HAFH S ARRA Y X 291 1,371
Total cash outflow for leases HEReRLAE 2,188 3,123

For both years, the Group leases office premises and car
parks for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term ranging from 2 to 10 years (2021: from 2 to 10
years) but may have termination option as describe below.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of
a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group entered into several short-term leases for carparks
for the operation of properties management segment and a
short-term lease for 1,000 networked computing nodes for
the cryptocurrency investment segment. As at
31 December 2022, the outstanding lease commitments
relating to these carparks is approximately HK$192,000
(2021: HK$195,000).

The Group has termination option for an office premise.
The Directors is reasonably certain the Group will not
exercise such termination option.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably
certain not to exercise a termination option, upon the
occurrence of either a significant change in circumstances
that is within the control of the leasee. During the year,
there is no such triggering event (2021: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

21. BEREE

Customers
relationship
EFBR
HK$’000
TAT
COST 2N
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—H—H 45,616
Exchange adjustment PE 5 FH 2 1,446
At 31 December 2021 WZZE-_—F+-A=+—H 47,062
Exchange adjustment bE W R (3,672)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+=-HA=+—H 43,390
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT iﬁ'ﬁﬁ‘ﬁ&/ﬁﬁ
At 1 January 2021 R-_ZE-_—F—H—H 25,096
Charge for the year $¢F§ Fic| 4,170
Impairment loss recognised in the year RAFEERERN B ERE 1,748
Exchange adjustment bE 5 3 2 886
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H 31,900
Charge for the year PINCS 3,604
Impairment loss recognised in the year RARFERERE R EESE 5,209
Exchange adjustment PE X, % (2,757)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZZE-_—F+=ZHA=+—H 37,956
CARRYING VALUES RHEE
At 31 December 2022 R=-ZB-ZZ=F+=A=+—H 5,434
At 31 December 2021 R-E-_—F+-_A=+—H 15,162

The customers relationship was acquired from third parties
through business combinations. It was amortised on a
straight-line basis over 10 years. The remaining useful life
of the intangible assets, customers relationship, was 3
years (2021: 4 years).
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21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of intangible assets

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, one of
the cash-generating unit, comprising Nuofute Property
Management Co., Ltd.* (EE#HERWEEERAR AR
(the “Nuofute CGU”) in the property management segment
has been underperformed. The management of the Group
concluded there was indication for impairment and
conducted impairment assessment on intangible assets,
customers relationship, attributable to the Nuofute CGU.

The recoverable amount of the intangible assets has been
determined based on their value in use calculation with
reference to a valuation carried out by Peak Vision
Appraisals Limited (“Peak Vision”) (2021: Roma Appraisals
Limited (“Roma Appraisals”)), an independent qualified
professional valuer. That calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management of the Group covering the remaining
three-year period (2021: four-year period) with a pre-tax
discount rate of 26.89% (2021: 26.10%) and the cash flow
within the three-year period (2021: four-year period) is
extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 2.00% (2021:
3.00%) per annum. Another key assumption for the value
in use calculation is the budgeted gross margin of 30.00%
(2021: 21.77%), which is determined based on the
Nuofute CGU’s past performance and management
expectations for the market development.

The discount rate reflects specific risks related to the
Nuofute CGU. The retention rates within the remaining
three-year period (2021: four-year period) have been
based on the past experience and management’s
expectation of market development.

Intangible assets were impaired to their recoverable
amount of approximately HK$5,434,000, which is their
carrying values at year end and impairment loss of
approximately HK$5,209,000 (2021: HK$1,748,000) has
been recognised in profit or loss during the year ended
31 December 2022.

* For identification purpose only
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B M BHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

22. GOODWILL 22. HE
Property
management
— Acquisition
of Chongging
Ailuojia
MEEE —
KBEEERR
HK$'000
FAET
COST DN
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-—F—HF—H —
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 39) BR Y B i B8 2 Rl i = A (P9 5E39) 3,265
At 31 December 2021 R—E—_—F+_A=+—8H 3,265
Exchange adjustment bE % (255)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—_F+=ZH=+—H 3,010
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT 2R E
R-_ZB_—%—H—H8-
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and —E-—fF+-_A=+—H8k
31 December 2022 —E-__F+-_A=+—H =
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+=-HA=+—8H 3,010
At 31 December 2021 R-_E-_—F+-A=+—H 3,265

For the purpose of impairment testing, the goodwill above
has been allocated to one cash-generating unit, comprising
Chongging Ailuojia Technology Service Limited* (BEE %
R BBk % B R A 7)) (“Chongging Ailuojia”) and its
subsidiaries in the property management segment (the
“Chongging Ailuojia CGU") with reference to a valuation

carried out by Peak Vision (2021: Valtech Valuation
Advisory Limited), an independent qualified professional

valuer.

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22. GOODWILL (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the Chongging Ailuojia CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group
covering a five-year period with a pre-tax discount rate of
18.76% (2021: 15.89%) and cash flow beyond the
five-year period is extrapolated using a steady growth rate
of 2.00% (2021: 3.00%) per annum. The growth rate used
does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the
relevant industry. Another key assumption for the value in
use calculation is the budgeted gross margin of 19.52%
(2021: 42.33%), which is determined based on the
Chongging Ailuojia CGU’s past performance and
management expectations for the market development.

As at 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of the
Chongging Ailuojia CGU exceed its carrying amount by
approximately RMB131,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$148,000)) (2021: RMB382,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$467,000)). Accordingly, no impairment
loss has been recognised against the carrying amount of
the Chongging Ailuojia CGU.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to the post-tax discount rate, long-term
growth rate and budgeted gross margin rate, representing
the key inputs to the determination to the recoverable
amount.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NT

B M HRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

22.

GOODWILL (Continued)

If the post-tax discount rate was changed from 15.20% to
15.70% (2021: from 12.68% to 13.18%), while other
parameters remain constant, the recoverable amount of the
Chongging Ailuojia CGU would be reduced to
approximately RMB2,720,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,068,000)) (2021: RMB2,919,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,572,000)) and no impairment loss
would be recognised against the carrying amount of
Gongging Ailuojia CGU.

If the long-term growth rate was changed from 2.00% to
1.50% (2021: from 3.0% to 2.5%), while other parameters
remain constant, the recoverable amount of the Chongging
Ailuojia CGU would be reduced to approximately
RMB2,755,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,108,000) (2021: RMB2,955,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,616,000)) and no impairment loss
would be recognised against the carrying amount of
Chongging Ailuojia CGU.

If the budgeted gross margin rate was changed from
19.52% to 18.52% (2021: from 42.33% to 41.33%), while
other parameters remain constant, the recoverable amount
of the Chongging Ailuojia CGU would be reduced to
approximately RMB2,659,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,000,000) (2021: RMB2,899,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,547,000)) and an impairment loss of
RMB13,000 (equivalent to HK$15,000) (2021: HK$Nil)
would be recognised against the carrying amount of the
Chongging Ailuojia CGU.

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

22. HE (B

it 8 1% BA 3R R §115.20% % £&15.70% (=
T —F:H12.68%%513.18%) * MH
ﬂﬂﬂ%(ffﬁhﬂﬁ AEEERRREESE

BUMAKEEBHERIENDARE
2,720,0007T (16 & 7 #3,068,000% 7T )
(T =——F: AR¥20919,0007T (&
MR #3,572,0008 7)) - METERERE
BRRIRNEEABNANREERZREE
e

MR EIE R RH2.00%% 51.50% (==

—¢ Ela3.0%“7%2 5%) + MEMBE
WIEFTE IEEERRBESELEENN
TH&Z@@%E%MQ\E?W\E%2 755,000
7T (A8 & 7 493,108,000 T) (=B = —
F£: AR®2 9550007 (HHERL
3,616,0007)) METEHMEEE S
RRSELEMMERAERZRERRE -

Tﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ R H19.52% % 518.52% (=

T —4F : f142.33% % 541.33%) * TH
@%@%hT ''''''' BIEEERRBEeESE
BEMNMAKESEERIEODARE
2,659,0007t (8 & R #73,000,0007% 7T )
—ET - —4%: AR#¥2899,0007T (HHE
R #)3,547,0008 L)) - MAREEE R
RIS ELEMNAREERDREREEA
FR#13,0007T (48 & 1 15,0008 7)) (=&
——F EET) e

RARRERZRARLDHE



23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Hotel operation

At 31 December 2022, the hotel operation segment
continued to underperform, the management of the Group
concluded there was indication for impairment and
conducted impairment assessment by determining the
recoverable amounts of development land and resort hotel
included in property, plant and equipment with an
aggregated carrying amounts of approximately
HK$6,052,000 (2021: HK$6,407,000) and HK$71,814,000
(2021: HK$77,444,000) respectively.

In determining recoverable amounts of development land
and resort hotel as at 31 December 2022, the Group
engages Peak Vision (2021: Roma Appraisals), an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected to
the Group, to perform the valuation. The Directors work
closely with the valuer, to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the models.

The recoverable amount of the development land has been
determined based on its fair value less costs of disposal.
The Group uses direct comparison approach to estimate
the fair value less costs of disposal by assuming sale of the
property in its existing status with the benefit of vacant
possession and by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the relevant market. The fair
value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value
hierarchy.

The recoverable amount of the resort hotel has been
determined with reference to a value in use calculation
based on discounted cash flow approach. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering a
10-year period. The pre-tax discount rate and terminal
capitalisation rate applied to cash flow projection is
11.74% (2021: 8.34%) and 6.5% (2021: 4.00%)
respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

23. IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Hotel operation (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, based on the result of the
assessment, management of the Group determined that
the recoverable amounts of the development land and
resort hotel exceed their carrying amounts by
approximately HK$1,787,000 (2021: HK$2,563,000) and
HK$2,996,000 (2021: HK$1,898,000) respectively.
Accordingly, no impairment loss would be recognised
against the carrying amount of the development land and
resort hotel included in property, plant and equipment.

Property management

At 31 December 2022, the Nuofute CGU of property
management segment continued to underperform, the
management of the Group concluded there was indication
for impairment and conducted impairment assessment on
of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the Nuofute CGU with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$327,000 and HK$9,876,000 (2021:
HK$494,000 and HK$11,953,000) respectively.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
Nuofute CGU to which the asset belongs when it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
including allocation of corporate assets when reasonable
and consistent basis can be established.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Property management (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the Nuofute CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group
covering the remaining lease term of the office premises of
approximately 8.7 years (2021: 9.7 years) with a pre-tax
discount rate of 21.30% (2021: 16.80%) as at
31 December 2022. The annual growth rate used for the
coming 5-year period is ranged from 6.50% to 2.00%
(2021: 3.00%) and the cash flows beyond the 5-year
period are extrapolated using a steady 2% (2021: 3%)
long-term growth rate. The long term growth rate is based
on the general inflation rate for the year 2022 and the
management of the Group believe that it is reasonable.
Another key assumption for the value in use calculation is
the budgeted gross margin of 30% (2021: 17.26%), which
is determined based on the Nuofute CGU’s past
performance and management expectations for the market
development. For the year ended 2021, the growth rates
and discount rate as at 31 December 2021 have been
reassessed taking into consideration higher degree of
estimation uncertainties due to uncertainty on how the
COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve.

As at 31 December 2022, based on the result of the
assessment, management of the Group determined that
the recoverable amount of the Nuofute CGU exceed its
carrying amount by approximately HK$6,315,000 (2021:
HK$11,645,000). Accordingly, no impairment loss has
been recognised against the carrying amount of those
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
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sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

M3 - B R
EiRE R (8)

BURERESR

YEEE (1K)

HEERESELBMN A IRE S IR A
BEFEMET - ZTEHEFERERA
SEEEEIENRERAEWETRIBRY
87FE (T - —F:97%) HEHMNIE
EEMELRIRESREEA M-
F+_A=Z+T—BHRBABERERXRAL
21.30% (ZF=—%F :16.80%) ° RHK5F
FTER BB F B K XN F6.50%£2.00%
T —F:300%) MAFHENIR
eREFABEREEER2% (=T ——
Fi3%) c REERERIER-_ZT -~
_ﬂXLHET $$@E‘£¥uu7lgﬁ/\}$ u+

HEREEMNS —EBRRERA30% (=
T —F:17.26%) TBEEFE - It T3
BEAERRCESAEVNBARBREE
BEHMSEROENMEE - #2
——FILFE - EEF2019F B TEAMRFIE
RIBERMBENTRETY {5t THRE
MHBRERS  HEBEE T —_—F+=
A=+—HEmMERERMREETERN
A o

ﬂ_§::¢+iﬂ_+ B - RBEFE

HER AEEEEEETHERRSES
ihmTW@ > HEHeREREEYD
6,315,000/ 7T (= Z = —4F : 11,645,000
BIC) c AL WERZEME EREX
BREARFERAEEENROERERRERS
e
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

24. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

24, R—EBEARZHER

2022 2021

—g-= T4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET AT

Cost of investment in an associate & — B &R T Z A 6,235 6,235

Share of post-acquisition loss (LI g1 B 1E (4,921) (4,921)

Exchange adjustments bE 5 B (199) (199)

1,115 1,115

Less: Accumulated impairment B RETRVE (1,115) =

— 1,115

Amount due from an associate JiE U — sl B & 8 B 50 13,808 13,808

Less: Allowance for credit losses B EE R R EE (13,808) =
Amount due from an associate, net (Note) JiE U — [l B & 8 B 50

FEE (faE) — 13,808

BEE

Note: The amount due from an associate is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2021, the Controlling Shareholders have
undertaken to indemnify the Group against any losses that may
result from the non-recovery of the amount due from an
associate of approximately HK$13,808,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the indemnity
provided by the Controlling Shareholder does not include the
amount due from an associate. The management of the Group
considered that the associate is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, the amount due
from an associate of has been fully impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

24. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

24. N—EBE AR 2 # & ()

AEEBE RN HEHROFFOT -

Place of
incorporation/ Proportion of Proportion of
principal place of ownership interest voting rights Principal
Name of entities operation held by the Group  held by the Group activities
EMRL HAXEEREZ rEBEHEEN
ERER FTERKE I FRERERER LB TORRELL Bl FEXEK
2022 2021 2022 2021
== —_= == —_=
——fF —F | Z=F —4F
Total Blossom Sdn Bhd Malaysia/Malaysia 49% 49% 49% 49% Properties
(“Total Blossom”) investment
for rental
Total Blossom Sdn Bhd SR/ BREE  49% 49% 49% 49% YIFEREED
([Total Blossom |) AR

The Group holds 49% of the ordinary shares in Total
Blossom. As major operating decisions are made by
another shareholder which holds 51% of the ordinary
shares, the Directors consider that the Group has
significant influence in Total Blossom and Total Blossom
was accounted for as an associate of the Group using the
equity method.
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sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

24. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the Total Blossom’s financial statements

24. R—REBE N ZEZE (E)

VAR B 75 & #LH3E 2 A Total BlossomiZ B &
B EREEARBRE P BERERMITZ S

prepared in accordance with HKFRS. H o
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Current assets mEEE — —
Non-current assets ERBEE 29,694 29,694
Current liabilities mEaE (27,418) (27,418)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities T EERBESERR

include the following: AT&IE:
Investment properties wEYE 29,694 29,694
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and &I @B E (TEEE S

other payables and provisions) K LAt FE AT BR SR B B 8 ) (27,418) (27,418)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B ERR M5

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

24. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

AN
IN=

24. N—EBE AR 2 # & ()

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—&F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FET FHET
Revenue Wz — —
Loss for the year REZEIR — (3,815)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AEEHMEES H — (149)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEEEEX LA — (3,964)

Dividends received from Total Blossom during
the year

7K € 5 Total Blossom
W B 2 % B

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in Total

Blossom recognised in the consolidated financial

3l BA 7S B R E 4T A B S TRk N AE R
Z Total Blossom# # < BR 1B 2 ¥ BF -

statements:
2022 2021
—E=-= —FE-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FTAT
Net assets of Total Blossom Total Blossom )% & & 2,276 2,276
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in N2 & A Total Blossom &)
Total Blossom AR 2 Ol 49% 49%
The Group’s share of net assets of Total 7K &2 [E & {fh Total Blossom
Blossom BREE 1,115 1,115
Less: Accumulated impairment W BETRVE (1,115) —
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Total 7<% B Total Blossom Y
Blossom w2 REE — 1,115
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rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

25. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 25. REELEZRE
Details of each of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of AEFEELENRRERRNFEBOT ¢

the reporting period are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
Principal Proportion of Proportion of
place of ownership interest  voting rights
Name of entities operation held by the Group held by the Group Principal activities
HEMRIL HAEEFEEz FEEREAN
= FTELKE MR FRERERER LG FTORRELEH FEXEK
2022 2021 | 2022 2021
—-_= —_= =-F —_=
—_—F |=Z— ——F |=Z—
Triple Market Limited BVI/BVI 49% 49% 49% 49% Investment holding
(“Triple Market”)
Triple Market Limited HBRRES/ REER
([ Triple Market |) RBELES
Daily Host Limited* Hong Kong/ 49% 49% 49% 49% Investment holding
Hong Kong
ERER AR B8/ B KREER
Chongging Shandu Corporate PRC/PRC 49% 49% 49% 49% Investment holding
Management Limited**
ERFEECEEEERARY HEHEH KREER
Chongging Shance Limited*# PRC/PRC 49% 49% 49% 49% Investment holding
EREREXBERAAM Hr R REER
Chongging Xingling Limited** PRC/PRC 49% 49% 49% 49% Property holding for
(“Chongging Xingling”) rental
BEREREXBRAA HE, A E FAEYMELE
(TEEEIR])
*  Wholly-owned subsidiary of Triple Market #  Triple Market®) 2 & M B A 7
& For identification purpose only * EH2E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(Continued)

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, unanimous consent
from both shareholders are required for certain key
corporate matters of Triple Market and its subsidiaries (the
“Triple Market Group”). Therefore, the Triple Market Group
is under the joint control of the Group. The Group has the
right to the net assets of the Triple Market Group.
Accordingly, the investment in the Triple Market Group was
accounted for as joint ventures of the Group using the
equity method.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, all of the
investment properties of the Joint Ventures, which were the
major assets of the Joint Ventures, were seized (the
“Seized Investment Properties”) by the Intermediate
People’s Court of Chongging (the “Court”) in relation to a
loan dispute with a financial institution (the “Court Case”).
The Directors inquired the management of the Joint
Ventures in relation to the Court Case, including the court
orders, the reason for the seizure and the latest
development of the case, but they were not able to obtain
all relevant information as at 31 December 2019.

As at 31 December 2020, as advised by the Company’s
PRC legal advisor, the Joint Ventures do not possess
control over the Seized Investment Properties because the
Seized Investment Properties of the Joint Ventures are held
under a compulsory auction as ordered by the Court during
the year ended 31 December 2020. The Directors were of
the opinion that the Joint Ventures are unlikely to repossess
the investment properties and therefore impairment loss on
the interests in Joint Ventures of HK$29,523,000 was
made during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Since 31 October 2021, the Directors lost contact with the
management of the Triple Market Group and the Directors
were unable to obtain the books and records of the Triple
Market Group, the Directors resolved that the Group no
longer had the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of the Triple Market Group, and the control over
the Triple Market Group was lost on 31 October 2021 and
the Group derecognised the interests in joint ventures
since 31 October 2021.
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25.

B M BHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

/\‘/T\

BECFERZHELE(E

%

BIE 2 Uk BE 177 3% - Triple Market & £ Ff B8
A @l ([Triple Market£ B |) B %& JFEEE’“
AIEEHAESHAREN—HEE

Itt » Triple Marketfs B AN &£ B /\HTI
#ll o NE B B #E = B Triple Marketss B A9
SREE o A - M Triple Market£E & 87 3%
BUEREARIATEENEERE -

BE_T-NFt-A=t—BLFE"
RECENMAREME (RAZLEN
FTREE)ASMESBEENERU D
(DERZED MR EEE —FRARER
(DR B (TREHNRENE]) - &
ERERR(BREESS)RAAZELE
ZEEREEHEHNRAREHNSEIE
B HER_T-NAF+_A=+—0 ®
FRARESHERBER -

RZZB-_ZF+-_A=+—H8 BEAR

PEUARERSA - AEE%IH%E%}}Z
Eiﬂxéﬁ%%ﬂ’ﬁ B - TIEAERER
EHNRENEREBE_T_FTF+_H

=t HLEFEEZLRHSRIA - EZR
e A**E%TKT EREIREYE - 8
RBE_ZT_TF+_A=1+—HLFE
EﬁBAA**E\%Z% =@ 5T 3R R 1 B 1R
29,523,000/ 7T °

BT —F+A=+—He EFEZX
Bt 48 Triple MarketS B EEE A A SEE
I8 B K ENS Triple Market £ B /9 BR 8 &
ik EFSREALAEETBAREE
Triple Market%s B B 75 K 4% & BUSK &9 7
71 ¥ Triple Market£s B &Y 12 &l 4 7R 7
T —FF+A=+—HEX AEEEB
ZE T —FT AT HBELEERRE
ERERER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
lﬂ‘ﬁlﬁﬁﬁ% &%%M#EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

25. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 25. REE LR #EE ()
(Continued)
The derecognition of the Triple Market Group resulted in a B IEHER Triple MarketE BEREHE -
loss of approximately HK$882,000 in the consolidated ——F+-_A=+—HIEFEMNGFEER
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income Ko H b 2 T Y 2 3% J85 18 49882,000% T HY
during the year ended 31 December 2021, calculated as FEAT
follows:
2021
T —F
HK$' 000
FET
Carrying amount of the 49% equity interest in the Triple  Triple Market £ & 49% I% #£ &9
Market Group BREE —
Release of cumulative exchange reserve upon BIrEREELERENK
derecognition of joint ventures RETIE H (882)
Loss on derecognition of joint ventures RIEEREGELEZER (882)
26. INVENTORIES 26. &
2022 2021
===z —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FET FHT
Food and beverages R &R 523 535
Hotel merchandise B JE 7 o 164 121
687 656
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
‘r e B TS ERR MY EE

27. CRYPTOCURRENCY

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHE_ZT-—F+-_A=+—HLEFE

27. & &

Filecoin
g
HK$'000
FHET

FAIR VALUE AREE
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—H—H —
Addition NE 7,623
Net decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss BRREBEEMN AR EEF D (2,253)
At 31 December 2021 R—E-_—F+=-A=+—H 5,370
Net decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss BRREBEEN AR EBEF D (4,304)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 40) & KT B A 7] (BT EE40) (1,066)

At 31 December 2022

R-B-—F+=-g=+—¢

The Group’s cryptocurrency is carried at a revaluated
amount, being the estimated fair value arrived at using
available information for the reference prices in the relevant
cryptocurrencies markets. The fair value was categorised
under Level 1 fair value hierarchy as the fair value was
based on a quoted (unadjusted) market price in active
markets for identical assets.

At 31 December 2021, cryptocurrency of approximately
HK$4,347,000 represented an initial pledge collateral
committed for the investment in Filecoin mining. No
restriction is placed on those Filecoins, the Group is able to
withdraw those Filecoins at any time.
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sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

28. B 5 R H it BULERK

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET AT

Trade receivables — contracts with customers Z ZEWRER — BEAH) 23,912 53,297

Less: Allowance for credit losses B EE RSB EE (19,444) (48,455)

Trade receivables, net (Note a) B S RWRFFRE (WHEa) 4,468 4,842

Other receivables (Note b) H b pE R SR (B 7 D) 6,501 7,344

Deposits 2e 1,597 766

Prepayments T FRIB 960 1,481

9,058 9,591

Less: Allowance for credit losses B EE R R EE (5,182) (6,266)

3,876 3,325

Trade and other receivables, net BESZREMERKRIERE 8,344 8,167
Analysed for reporting purpose as: MEMOWTAT

Non-current asset (Note b) JERBNE 2= (MizEb) — —

Current asset MENE E 8,344 8,167

8,344 8,167
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28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

As at 1 January 2021, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to approximately HK$5,915,000, net of
allowance for credit losses of approximately HK$44,346,000.

The Group allows an average credit period of O to 90 days to its
trade customers. The following is an aged analysis of trade
receivables, net of loss allowance for credit losses, presented
based on the date of delivery of goods or date of rendering of
services which approximated the respective dates on which
revenue was recognised.

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

28. B 5 K H B ERF (4

G

(a)

RZZB-—F—A—0 KETFAHH
Z 5 FEW IR TR 49 45,915,000/ 7T (B Mk
EE 1R H 444,346,000 7T)

AEBGETHESEF ZFHAEEHRO
2£90H - AN AREBEXNEmA B Hzz
HART RO B B (B AR W B IAEE) 2
FIMMBREEBEENERRENE SRR
ARTRERER DA

2022 2021

—E-= B

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT T

Within 90 days 90H A 2,757 597
91 to 180 days 91%180H 1,666 2
181 to 365 days 181 % 365H 1 439
1 to 2 years —EWF — 2,527
2 to 3 years MZE=4F 44 1,277
4,468 4,842

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$1,711,000 (2021:
HK$4,496,000) which are past due as at the reporting date.
Out of the past due balances, approximately HK$137,000
(2021: approximately HK$441,000) has been past due 90
days or more are not considered as default by considering
repayment history. Approximately of HK$44,000 (2021:
HK$3,804,000) is considered as default as it has been past
due over one year. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

As at 31 December 2021, the gross amount of other receivables
included an amount due from a third party of RMB5,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$6,118,000), which is
unsecured, interest bearing at 8% per annum and repayable
on demand. The amount has been considered as default and
has been fully impaired during the year ended 31 December
2021. The Group has taken legal action against the debtor to
recover the amount.
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R-ZE-_—F+_A=+—08 ' A£EHN
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BRIE - MARMBRNREBHE S - £
BARHEST - £9137,0008 T (ZF =
—4F : 49441,000/87T) E#EI90H sk A E
BTERABELN  REAHBENERT
Bk o #4944 0008 T (=& = — F :
3,804,000/ 1) B M HA R @ — & - IR
BEY AEBEYERZSEEHFTHEM
IR o

R-ZBE-_—F+-_HA=+—H HMEK
RRRBEEEER—EBE = AHEARE
5,000,0007T (18 & 7 #96,118,00078 7T)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

29.

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

On 27 December 2021, Yuzhong District People’s Court of
Chongging Municipality* (B 8+ & A R)EFT) has made
a civil judgement in favour of the Group. On 11 October 2022,
the Group and the debtor has reached a settlement that the
amount will be settled by 36 installments from 14 October
2022 to 10 August 2025. During the year ended 31 December
2022, RMB500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$587,000) has been settled and resulted in an equivalent
amount of a reversal of impairment loss being recognised on
other receivables. As at 31 December 2022, the gross amount
of amount due from a third party before impairment amounted
to RMB4,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,076,000). Considered the creditworthiness of the debtor,
the Directors consider that the other receivable is credit-
impaired and the balance has been fully impaired as at 31
December 2022.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are

28. E5RH

fi FEE Ut BR X (48)

PieE : ()

(b)

(&)

R-ZE-_—F+-_A-++H EFHH
Fa ARERE TEHASEEFNRER
HoRZTEZ—F+A+—RB ~NEEHHE
BEEANEXME  BEAFBEBHIR =T ==
¢+H+EEI777£¢AH+E@ﬁ
DICHBEE BHE_T-_—F+=-_F=+
— B IEEE - ARMS500,0007T (HHE R4
SWOW%ﬁﬂE%ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬁE@%W

PHEREEF BRI EBERD - N
2::¢+_HE+—E'WEW%W—
# 8= 75 FRIA K EE & N R #4,500,0007T

(FE R #5,076,000/87T) ° & EIEBA
WEE BEERAHMAIKERBEEE
BRE YR—FE-_—F+=-A=+—8
BAERME -

BRIE 5 M AR BAR R AR E R 5 BB

set out in Note 6(b). 6(b) °
* For identification purpose only * EHEER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 29. RERBREEEY
Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and ﬂijiZii%/\kka%WEdﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬂ¢¥mkliilﬂﬂ¢¥
short term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s ORI AR E MG ER AR - BEiR
short term cash commitments, which carry interest at ﬁi%i%'JZ‘ZO.OOlJ_ 0.625E (=& ——
market rates range from 0.001% to 0.625% (2021: from F :0.001EZE05E)FFE -
0.001% to 0.5%) per annum.
Included in bank balances and cash are the following RITHRB RS BE TIAEEERET
amounts denominated in currencies other than the group EEUINEBE BB 2SR
entities’ functional currencies:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amounts denominated in USD LAZETTFHERN SRR 60 2,399
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E TR ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 29. RERREEEY (E)
(Continued)
Included in the bank balances and cash are the following IRTTHERKRIR S BIE NI INEE FI#7 7E
amounts which are subject to foreign exchange control HERRTAIEBRAR R
regulations and not freely transferable:
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Amounts denominated in RMB RARKGHEN S 2,054 4,692
Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set IR1THER 2 RERH L B E T A KIRE6(b) ©
out in Note 6(b).
30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. ES REMESMRK
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables B F MR 1,742 953
Accruals (Note a) FEETB A (sEa) 2,453 4,427
Other taxes payables H b FE B K 3,849 3,947
Bond interest payable FERHEHF B 3,204 3,274
Other payables (Note b) E b e AR SR (B akb) 14,649 26,589
25,897 39,190
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sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables

30. B RH

it & 1+ BR X (45)

AT RENBZARZI 2 E 5 RMNERK

presented based on the invoice date: ZBRER AT

2022 2021
—E== —E=—

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within 90 days 90HN 1,495 899
91 to 180 days 912 180H 210 3
181 to 365 days 181365 H 1 —
Over 365 days 365H A £ 36 51
1,742 953

The average credit period on purchases of goods is O to 90
days.

Notes:

a) Accruals mainly included the legal and professional fee payable
of approximately HK$718,000 (2021: HK$1,746,000).

b) Other payables mainly include the followings:

(i) Approximately HK$3,014,000 (2021: HK$3,436,000)
represented properties maintenance fund collected
from customers for the payment on behalf of the
customers for the properties maintenance fee.

(i) At 31 December 2021, approximately HK$11,066,000
represented a loan from Rich Vision Developments
Limited (“Rich Vision”), a former controlling
shareholder, which was reclassified from loans from
controlling shareholders upon Rich Vision completed
the disposal of the Company’s shares and ceased to be
a controlling shareholder of the Company on
28 December 2021. The loan is unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on 30 June 2022.

The effective interest rate for the loan is 5% per annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the loan has
been assigned to the Controlling Shareholder.

(iii)  Approximately HK$6,450,000 (2021: HK$6,993,000)
represented the amounts due to third parties, which are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(iv)  Approximately HK$2,994,000 (2021: HK$2,915,000)
represented the amount due to Mr. Shen Yong, the
former director, former chairman and former ultimate
controlling party of the Company, which was unsecured,
interest bearing at 2.7% (2021: 2.7%) per annum and
repayable on 30 June 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

are MR R MY At

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. §X&a%’
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FHET FHT
Contract liabilities aHAE
— related to hotel operation — BARELE 4,310 4,304
— related to properties management — BAMEER 1,340 1,223
5,650 5,527
As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to RZEZ—F—H—H &6H8GBHOAR
approximately HK$4,284,000. 4,284,000 7T °
Contract liabilities, that are not expected to be settled FEHTeRNAEB I EEL2BEBRABRNGEEZ
within the Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as BHEBRRASERR B ES MRS
current and non-current liabilities based on the Group’s KRV EEDBEARDBBENIEREE
earliest obligation to transfer goods or services to the & o
customers.
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRINTERRYRFERAEBESNEESR
recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and AN BTHERTCBAEEER 2
how much relates to performance obligations that were DR o
satisfied in prior periods.
Hotel Properties
operation management Total
BIERE MEEE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FAT
For the year ended 31 December BE-ZE--F+=A
2022 =+—HLEFE
Revenue recognised that was SFAFVEHAEES
included in the contract liability 2 B iR
balance at the beginning of the year 2,346 1,047 3,393
For the year ended 31 December HE-ZT-_—%+=-H
2021 =t+t—HILFE
Revenue recognised that was FFAFEYIENEaEEH
included in the contract liability 2 B RS
balance at the beginning of the year 538 1,022 1,560
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Are BRI A

N

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

31.

32.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Hotel operation

The Group receives 100% of the face value of gift cards
and these gift cards are non-refundable and have no expiry
date.

Properties management

In general, the Group receives a one-month deposit in
advance for the provision of properties management
service, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of
a contract.

LOANS FROM A CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

As at 31 December 2022, the loans from Controlling
Shareholder are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand (2021: unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on 30 June 2022).

As at 31 December 2021, the effective interest rate for the
loan from Controlling Shareholder is 5% per annum.

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

33. SECURED LOAN 33. IKHER

Maturity date Effective interest rate 2022 2021
A BRAZ |Z=2== T
HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT T

Variable-rate secured bank
loan:
FEHRRERRITER
Canada prime rate + 1.5%
(2021: Canada prime rate +
1.75%)
MEXKEBMNEMLSE —E=-%=H+HhH
(ZE2=—F: NEX&EE
ME1.75/E)

15 March 2032

(ZZE=——F :422)

7.95% (2021 4.2%) 26,226 29,857

7.958

The secured bank loan is a commercial mortgage loan (the
“Loan”) granted by Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China (Canada) Limited (the “ICBC”). The banking facility
would be reviewed by ICBC periodically.

As at 31 December 2021, the Loan is repayable by
quarterly instalments up to 15 March 2032, bears an
interest rate of prime rate of ICBC plus 1.75% per annum,
and secured by the Group’s freehold land and buildings
held for own use with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$83,851,000 (Note 19) and personal guarantee for
CAD7,000,000 by Mr. Choi Yun Chor and Ms. Yeung So
Mui.

The banking facility has been renewed on 4 October 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Loan is repayable by
quarterly instalments up to 15 March 2032, bears an
interest rate of prime rate of ICBC plus 1.5% per annum,
and secured by Group’s freehold land and buildings held
for own use with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$77,866,000 (Note 19) and personal guarantee for
CAD5,000,000 by Mr. Choi Yun Chor.

As the Loan is subject to bank’s overriding right to demand
repayment even though the scheduled repayment dates
are twelve months after the date of the reporting period.
The Loan is classified as a current liability for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

33.

34.

SECURED LOAN (Continued)

The Group’s Loan is subject to the fulfilment of covenants
relating to certain of the Group’s financial statement ratios,
as are commonly found in lending arrangements with
financial institutions. If the Group were to breach the
covenants, the drawn down facility would become payable
on demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance
with these covenants. During the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group is required to
comply with the financial covenants throughout the
continuance of the relevant loan and/or as long as the loan
is outstanding which the ratio of debt coverage ratio shall
not be less than 1.25. The Group has complied with the
covenant throughout the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

33. mME(E)

AEBZERBETERBERNERE TH
BHRRLEEEB 2 RE  ZERHTT K
WSREEE LR E RNRHE - WASE
EEREBARZE BRI ZBMESR AR
BREE  AEETHELERZERLE
ZEBFER REBEZTE__FR=-F=
—F+-A=1+—HILFE AEEER
EHERZEBEFHEDR K SHEERY
KEE (HEEBERTEEN.25) H/H
BIMERGE AEEREBEE_T-_—F

T F+-A=+—HILFEEY—
BHEBTHBRE -

BONDS 34. &F
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FET
Current portion: BNHAER & -
Bonds carried at fixed coupon rate of 6% per  1REF6E EFE ZEEF
annum (Note a) KT EMES (Mista) — 20,000
Bond carried at fixed coupon rate of 8% per R F8EEFEREFH
annum (Note b) K ERES (FI5Eb) 10,000 —
Bond carried at fixed coupon rate of 3% per R 3)E B F = & F
annum (Note d) e BRES (FiFEd) 10,181 10,181
20,181 30,181
Non-current portion: JEBNEREE &
Bond carried at fixed coupon rate of 8% per R 8B EFEEmEF
annum (Note b) i ERES (Fiskb) — 10,000
Bond carried at fixed coupon rate of 3% per EEFI3EREERmFR
annum (Note c) K EWES (Fidkce) 10,000 10,000
10,000 20,000
30,181 50,181
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. BONDS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The Company entered into two placing agreements with a
placing agent issued two 6% coupon unlisted and unsecured
bonds on 6 August 2014 and 10 October 2014 with the
aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 each within the
placing period. The amounts are repayable within 96 months
from the date of issue, which are 5 August 2022 and 9 October
2022 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
entered into two settlement deeds with the bondholders to
settle the aggregated principal amount of HK$20,000,000 and
the aggregated outstanding interest of HK$1,200,000,
recognised as other payable, at an aggregated cash
consideration of HK$13,400,000. Gains on settlements of
bonds of HK$7,800,000 has been recognised in the profit or
loss for the year (Note 9).

The Company issued an 8% coupon unlisted and unsecured
bonds with the aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000
on 23 January 2015. The amount is repayable within 96
months from the date of issue, which is 22 January 2023.

The Company issued a 3% coupon unlisted and unsecured
bond with the principal amount of HK$10,000,000 on 1
December 2017 to Mr. Shen Ke, a former director of the
Company. The amount is repayable within 84 months from the
date of issue, which is 30 November 2024.

The Company issued an unlisted bond with the principal
amount of HK$10,181,000 to the vendor as part of the
consideration in respect of the acquisition of the joint ventures
on 6 March 2018. The bond bears interest rate at 3% per
annum and is unsecured. The amount is repayable on 5
March 2021 within 36 months from the date of issue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

34. &% ()

B eE

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

35. LEASE LIABILITIES 35. tHE&E
2022 2021
—E=-= T4
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FHET FET
Lease liabilities payable: FERTHHEZ N 2EE
BfE:
Within one year —F RN 1,125 1,371
Within a period of more than one year —FHRERPWEN
but not exceeding two years 939 1,094
Within a period of more than two years MEBBREER
but not exceeding five years 3,342 3,348
With a period of more than five years A% 5,198 6,932
10,604 12,745
Less: Amount due for settlement with B mBBEE TR
12 months shown under current EA12{IH A £ B
liabilities HEE 7R (1,125) (1,371)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 3Fb|u§7JET$IETﬁﬁ/T’\EA12
shown under non-current liabilities & A 1& 2| Bf 45 9,479 11,374
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities HEBEMERZEERENENT
range from 4.65% to 5.96% (2021: 4.65% to 5.45%). 465%&E596% (ZFE = —4F: 4.65%:.:

36. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

The following is the deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the end of each financial reporting period:

36.

5.45%) °

ETEHEEE (AR)

AT RN M BHRE RN S MBI
RABRZIBELERBEE (ARE) :

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FTAT

Balances presented in the consolidated FREBARRKRP 25/

statement of financial position R

Deferred tax assets EERRIBE = 11,028 8,514
Deferred tax liabilities BREHIEEE (816) (2,275)
Net balance EERFRE 10,212 6,239
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)
(Continued)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and
assets recognised and movement thereon during the
current and prior years.

Accelerated
tax

depreciation  Tax losses

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

6. EEHIREE (BE)(HF)

ATRRAFERBEFERRZERE
EHBABEREENEEZS -

Withholding
Loss tax on

allowance of undistributed
trade and  profits from

other the PRC Intangible

receivables  subsidiaries assets Total
EZRHE HEMNE
thEWERE 2 FRIK

2t HiE NHEE ZHEIz
wE BEEE & BB |BEEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TAET THEx BT TET TAEL
At 1 January 2021 R-ZB=-—%F
—H—H — = 3,875 (1,800) (3,555) (1,480)
Credited to profitor loss ~ 5F A 8%

(Note 12) (HzE12) 534 713 3,219 1,800 1,280 7,546
Exchange adjustments (B} 3% = — 173 = — 173
At31 December2021 R-E=—F

+=-A=1+-H 534 713 7,267 - (2,275) 6,239
Credited to profit or loss 5t AfB%

(Note 12) (BtaE12) 1,751 106 1,412 — 1,459 4728
Exchange adjustments (& 573 % (103) (45) (607) — — (755)
At31 December 2022 R-ZE-—F

+=-B=+—H 2,182 774 8,072 — (816) 10,212
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

36.

37.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)
(Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has tax losses
of approximately HK$126,061,000 (2021:
HK$121,767,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$2,867,000 (2021: HK$2,641,000) of
such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the tax losses of approximately HK$123,194,000
(2021: HK$119,126,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. These tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to approximately HK$58,701,000 (2021:
HK$49,920,000) as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

6. EEHIREE (BE)(HF)

RBEEHR AEE2HREBFBL
126,061,000 L (=T — — & :
121,767,000/ 70) AJ S R 2w Fll o E
L EEE 2,867,000 T (ZF = —
F :2,641,000870) BRELEHBEE -
R ETE AT AR 2 s F 2ROR + a I £ ph AR
T ET1849123,194,000/8 7T (ZE = —4F -
119,126,000/8 7T ) ERIELEFRIBEE © %
LR IEE BN ER AR A o

BECEMSHE AT N\F—F—
B - LA B B A R BEA R F AT E R
RN B BBNTEIT - ERA SRR F
I HL A BB A R R5Ha F B E
i Z 58 4758,701,0008 T (Z B = — % -
49,920,000/ 7T) fE IR EFR B BB - R
B 2 2N 55 (B 5 A 7 458 )48 [o) B By 2= KB A B
M- BINERIRE TS 7 ] B A% 2R = B s

SHARE CAPITAL 37. A&
Number
of shares Amount
BRHEE &5
‘000 HK$'000
T &% TAT
Ordinary shares issued and fully paid: ERTRAREER
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and R—ZE—_—F—H—H8"
31 December 2022 —E-—%+=H
=t—HAR=F=Z
+=—A=+—8H 1,092,878 441,350

In accordance with section 135 of the CO, the ordinary
shares of the Company do not have a par value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group operates a MPF scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs capped at HK$1,500 (2021: HK$1,500) per
month to MPF scheme, in which the contribution is
matched by employees.

The PRC

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the government of PRC. The subsidiaries in
the PRC are required to contribute a certain percentage of
the payroll cost to the retirement benefits scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

Canada

Employees in Canada participate in a Canada Pension Plan
(the “Plan”) which is a mandatory scheme under Canada
Pension Plan Regulations. The employer and the
employees are required to make a total contribution of
11.4% (2021: 10.9%) on the pensionable earnings,
subject to a cap of pensionable earnings of CAD64,900
(equivalent to approximately HK$391,000) (2021:
CAD61,600 equivalent to approximately HK$381,000).

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
approximately HK$2,778,000 (2021: HK$2,585,000)
represents contributions paid and payable to these plans
by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans. As
at 31 December 2022, no contributions (2021:
approximately HK$40,000) due in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2022 had not been paid over to the
plans.
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T o AREEERKEHGE 2 E—&H
RIRBEEUEL TR 2 3K -

mEx

meExXzEELHEMEABTERSTE
([3Z5T81)) - EA—HRBRZRRKREEX
S Z R HIERERET S o IRIBEZETE B
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

39.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 9 September 2021, Chongging Ailuojia entered into a
sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement”) with Mr. Yang Jin Zhu, Ms. Wang Jing
(collectively known as the “Vendors”), pursuant to which
Chongging Ailuojia agreed to acquire and the Vendors
agreed to sell the entire equity interest in i) Chongging
Haotai Property Management Company Limited* (2 & m
2R MEEE AR E TR A); i) Chongging Jia Duan
Technology Company Limited* (EE M a2 ixfH AR E T
73 A]); iii) Chongging Qi Chang Technology Company
Limited* (EE BRI AR 2 Al); and iv) copyrights of
smart home software (registration no. 1229777) and its
associated Android version (registration no. 3291622) in
the PRC registered in the name of Ms. Wang Jing, one of
the Vendors (collectively the “Chongging Business”) at the
consideration of RMB2,950,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,601,000).

The Vendors warrant to the Chongging Ailuojia that the
amount of the account receivables of the Chongging
Business (i.e. RMB1,400,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,713,000)) shall be more than 10% of the sum of (i)
renovation deposit; and (ii) management fee deposit. If the
inspection by the Chongging Ailuojia (which shall be
completed by 30 November 2021) reveals that any of the
account receivables of the Chongging Business cannot be
recovered, the amount of the consideration shall be
adjusted downward by deducting the amount equivalent to
the amount of the account receivables of the Chongging
Business cannot be recovered in the last instalment (i.e.
RMB950,000) before the adjustment (“Contingent
Consideration 1”) and which is subsequently waived.

*

For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

On the same date, Chongging Ailuojia subsequently
entered into a supplemental agreement to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement with the Vendors (the “Supplemental
Agreement”), pursuant to which, RMB200,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$245,000) of the consideration will be
upheld and will only be payable upon the successful
renewal of a property management agreement on or before
1 August 2022 (the “Contingent Consideration [1”).
RMB196,000 (equivalent to HK$240,000) represents the
estimated fair value of this obligation at the completion of
the acquisition.

The acquisition is completed on 9 September 2021.

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

39. WHEM B 7 (&)

AR EEESREEEZEBEAFILE
HEEmE A mE ((FREhzl) &
It KRB 2 A R#200,0007T (B E R4
245,000/ 70) 5L TEINWERYEE IR 1%
FR T —FN\A—BRZAKNESE
(HARAREB=ZDEBAHFTFEE - ARKE
196,0007T (#8 & 7 240,000/ 7T) % &
TRKETKBRZETAAEE -

WEER-_T-_—FALANBZK-

HK$' 000
FET

Consideration transferred HERE
Consideration payable FERTR(E 3,365
Fair value of the contingent consideration IAREBZAREE 240
3,605

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB164,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$198,000) have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense in the current year, within the
“administrative expenses” line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

U B BRER AN A R 164,0007T (FEE K
198,000/8 7T) W& AFTEZENRE - AR
AEEEGEBREEMEEKRERITT
BAXIEERERARY

HK$’000
FHT

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised RUER BRI ZFBKBEER

at the date of acquisition =L

Trade and other receivables B 5 N H At e AR K 480
Bank balances and cash IRTTEHRERE 2
Other payables HE b ERTER K (142)
340
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sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

39. WHEM B 7 (&)

(Continued)
HK$' 000
FHET
Goodwill arising on acquisition WESEEEZEHSE
Consideration transferred FreszE (B 3,605
Less: recognised amounts of net assets acquired B ERER KB EEFE (340)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEESEEEE CHE 3,265

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of the Chongqging
Business because the acquisition included the benefit of
expected synergies, revenue growth and future market
development after the acquisition. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not
meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible

AR FIR B R KRB 1R 2 TR H 19 (R 34 e
et WRBREARRTSER - B
ERFXBELRE - HRZFNETNA
Al BB EE  HERFE - A EER

assets.
HK$'000
FET
Net cash inflow on acquisition of Chongging Business WREEBRX£KcHER AN FE
Bank balances and cash acquired IRITER R FTNER & 2
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39.

40.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 is
the loss of approximately HK$466,000 attributable to the
additional business generated by the Chongging Business.
Revenue for the year includes approximately HK$964,000
generated from the Chongging Business.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2021,
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021 of the
Group would have been approximately HK$80,592,000
and loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 of the
Group would have been approximately HK$22,338,000.
The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only
and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January
2021, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 30 November 2022, the Company entered into a
disposal agreement with the Purchaser in respect of the
Disposal (as defined in Note 13). The Disposal was
completed on 30 November 2022. The principal activities
of the Disposed Subsidiaries are cryptocurrency
investment, which represents the cryptocurrency
investment segment of the Group.

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

. W BB 2 R (4R)

WREERHAKEXRENZE

BE-_E-_—F+-A=1+—HILFEEHN
EERERERESEANEINERER
#7466,0008 7T - FE WD IEEE X
7 A B 49964,0005% 7T ©

WKBEBEER _ZTE-_—F—A—AB%
K- AARREHE—S-_—F+=A=+
— B I FENFEUEE 480,592,000/
ThAEEEE T - —F+_-_A=1+—
H It FE R EIE5#722,338,0007%8 7T ° &
EZEHEM2E  BWIEAREBRRNKES
HERZZEZ—F—A—HEZXBEAT
B E B A e RS R IEIE  hIE
FAETERI R R ZE 4R -

Consideration received:
Cash received

40. HEME A A
RZEBE-_—_F+—HA=+H AQFHEF
FREEEHE (T RNFIILHE
W HEEHEEN S - —F+—A=
+HZEK - HEHBARMNEZES) AN
BEEKLE BAEENZEBRE D
8 o
HK$'000
FET
BURIE :
2 3R 1,291
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rE BT ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

40.

41.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. HEMB AR (48)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was REEFIRENEEHRESE S :
lost:
HK$’000
FHExT
Cryptocurrency =g 1,066
Amount due to the Company JE AR RIFIA (8,958)
Net liabilities disposed of HEBBER (7,892)
Gain on disposal of the Disposed Subsidiaries: HECHEHMB LIRS :
HK$’000
FTHET
Consideration received 2R E 1,291
Net liabilities disposed of HEBEFHE 7,892
Assignment of shareholder’s loan EERREN (8,958)
Gain on disposal (Note 13) & e (FEE13) 225
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEXENEESRAZFE:
Cash consideration received BB KE 1,291
CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE 41. B HARE

Pursuant to the supplemental sale and purchase
agreement entered between Chongging Ailuojia, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, with the Vendors
(as defined in Note 39), RMB200,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$245,000) of the consideration will be
upheld and will only be payable upon the successful
renewal of property management agreement on or before
1 August 2022.

On 9 September 2021, the acquisition was completed. The
fair value of the contingent consideration payable is valued
by Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent
professional valuer. The valuation of the contingent
consideration payable is mainly based on effective interest
method on expected future cash flows.

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

REARFNEZRE2EMNBARNEEE S
REET (EZRMEIDTLNFEREE
BE#E - AR®200,0007T (HERL
245,000/ 7T) R ERSEFIE - WIEE
TR CFN\RA-BRZAKNERDE
EE MR E AT o

RZZF-_—FAANLE WBFHED T
B o BN SARENRABEARBLER
EEMTEFEBERAREITHE - BN
HERENEEEBREBRHARTRE R
ENBERFEEL -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE

(Continued)

At 9 September 2021, the fair value of the contingent
consideration payable is estimated to be approximately
RMB196,000 (equivalent to HK$240,000). The contingent
consideration payable is remeasured at 31 December
2021 on the same basis as above and the fair value of the
contingent consideration payable is estimated to be
approximately RMB196,000 (equivalent to HK$240,000)
as a result of the consideration of effective interest accrued
and other factors remain the same. Hence, no changes in
fair value of contingent consideration payable is recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the property
management agreement has been renewed and
approximately RMB200,000 (equivalent to HK$245,000)
has been paid to the Vendor.

Movement of the contingent consideration payable for

sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

41. FEfT s PR IR 1B (4E)

R—ZE-—FNANE » BAIARRED
DR EEGTHAARE 196,000 (HHE
#momw%wofﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ_?_
—F+-_A=Z+—HBRELAREE
TEHE  MAEKRE ;.ﬁIJEE‘MﬂE
HAERIFITE  BARARENLA
BEMGTHAARK196,0007T (FHE R
240,000/87C) ° Aty - WERBE T =
—F+-_A=+—BHUIFENEMHAR
EBENARBEERED -

HE-ZE-_—F+=-_A=+—HIFEE -
MEEBGZCESE  WERZ A
#) N R #200,0007T (18 & 1 245,0007
JC) °

KRB _FR-F-—F+-A=+—

31 December 2022 and 2021 are as below: BEMAIARENERSAT :
HK$’000
FBT
At 1 January 2021 B‘/\\:g_—i A—H =
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B B B A 240
At 31 December 2021 RZFB-_—F+=-A=+—H 240
Fair value changes (Note 9) /Aft BEZE (KF9) 5
Settlement P (245)

At 31 December 2022

R-B-__H+_-A=+—H —
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sre SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated

42. MEEFMELERNEEYK

TRAMIEBRETHAEENAIEER
BE&¥e  BEAERIFRENEE @B
/E@Jﬁff?img1fﬂﬁ£ﬁimi_jﬁixfﬁ
i//lbiﬁ/\$§.,m/\iﬁium§§§q:‘a \*E
SN EAREESAEENRSREN

statement of cash flows from financing activities: BE:
Loans from third
parties and
interest payables Loans from
included in other controlling
payables  Secured loans shareholders Bonds Lease liabilities Total
E‘ME%EE
EXREMFE EREN BERRREX &% HEAE it
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
THT TRT THT THT TRT THT
(Note 30) (Note 33) (Note 32) (Note 34) (Note 35)
(Fi#E30) (Ki7E33) (Fi5E32) (FizE34) (Ki7E35)
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-—%—f—H 5,770 33,667 20,558 50,181 3,250 113,426
Changes from cash flows: RemERE:
Repayment of secured loans ~ {EEEFEH — (3,973) — — — (3,973)
Payment of lease liabilities YRAEEE = = = (1,512) (1,512)
Interest paid ERFE (2,000) (1,473) — — (240) (3,713)
Total changes from financing ~ BERE&RELHEE

cash flows (2,000) (5,446) — — (1,752) (9,198)
Non-cash changes: FERET
Finance costs (Note 11) AR (1) 2,958 1,452 513 = 240 5,163
Entering into new lease VR ik — — — — 12,805 12,805
Reclassified to other payables — E #7182 H i (TR X 10,527 = (10,527) — — —
Offset by trade receivables REZEKERMEH

(Note 45) GEZD) — — — = (243) (243)
Early termination of lease RATRIEHRE = = = = (1,725) (1,725)
Exchange adjustments ERTAEES — 184 — — 170 354
Total other changes EtEEHaE 13,485 1,636 (10,014) — 11,247 16,354
At 31 December 2021 WZEZ—F

+-A=+—"H 17,255 29,857 10,544 50,181 12,745 120,582
Changes from cash flows: ReRERE:
Advance from a controlling —REREEBR

shareholder — — 16,000 — — 16,000
Repayment of secured loan & t?ﬁﬁ%m = (2,064) = (2,064)
Repayments of bonds BEES - — — (12,200) (12,200)
Payment of lease liabilities TRAERME = = = (1,897) (1,897)
Interest paid ERFE (2,000) (1,608) — — = (3,608)
Total changes from financing ~ BERE&RELHEE

cash flows (2,000) (3,672) 16,000 (12,200) (1,897) (3,769)
Non-cash changes: FREEE
Finance costs (Note 11) RMEKA (1) 2,009 1,607 430 — 608 4,704
Entering into new lease HNE i = = — — 72 72
Assignment of loan to a BT —AIERRRE

controlling shareholder B 31 (BT RE30(b)i))

(Note 30(b)(ii)) (11,066) — 11,066 — — —
Gains on settlements of bonds & & EH Uz = = (7,800) — (7,800)
Exchange adjustments ERTAEES = (1,566) = = (924) (2,490)
Total other changes EtEEHaE (9,057) 41 11,546 (7,800) (244) (5,514)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-_%

+=A=+-H 6,198 26,226 38,090 30,181 10,604 111,299
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43.

44.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PLEDGE OF OR RESTRICTIONS ON
ASSETS

Pledge of assets

The Group’s secured loan has been secured by the pledge
of the Group’s assets and the carrying amounts of the
respective assets are as follows:

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

43. & & K 1 3 BR

& E i

AEBEREFTABAEEE R 2 EERF
B HREEZREENT

2022 2021
===z —T_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Property, plant and equipment (Note 19) S E T YN e
(BFsE19) 77,866 83,851

Restrictions on assets

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately
HK$10,604,000 (2021: HK$12,745,000) are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$10,057,000 (2021: HK$12,445,000). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor and the relevant leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

B ERH

4 - FHE B E#10,604,0008 T (==
— —4F : 12,745,000 7T ) H2 4 78 {5 A A
& E#10,057,0008 T (Z T = — 4 :
12,445,000/ 70) —HFRERR - BRI A AR
HEEEFAZEMPERI  HEHREL
EINEMRE  UANEEEEEETS
REEE 2 HIRM -

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 44. B XK
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
Contracted for but not provided in the KEBEITHNERREGS
consolidated financial statements in M mRPEE
respect of:
Unpaid registered capital for subsidiaries MY E A B R E A 14,665 16,564
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment ~ UREE¥IZE - HEES K R 1E 2,219 312

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SEFH



292

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

/\\/T\

B M HRRM T

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-T——

FH-A=1t—HILFE

45. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(c)

On 31 August 2021, the Group entered into a lease
agreement (“Lease Agreement”) for the office
premises for ten years. On the commencement of the
lease arrangement, the Group recognised right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of approximately
RMB10,022,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$12,075,000) and approximately
RMB10,022,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$12,075,000) respectively.

Pursuant to the Lease Agreement, the landlord and
the Group agreed partial of the lease liabilities
payable to the landlord to offset with the property
management fee due to the Group. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, lease liabilities of
approximately RMB202,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$243,000) was set off against with
the trade receivables of approximately HK$243,000.

On 1 August 2021, the Group entered into a lease
agreement with Key Target Investments Limited, a
connect party of the Company, for the office
premises for two years. On the commencement of the
lease arrangement, the Group recognised right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$622,000 and HK$622,000 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into various new lease agreements for the
use of car parks for lease term at two years. Upon the
lease commencement, the Group recognised
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$72,000 and HK$72,000 (2021:
HK$108,000 and HK$108,000), respectively.

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

45. ZERER 5

(a)

(c)

R-E-_—FN\A=1+—H K&
BT HERH =z ((HERRE] KU
HERAZEWELTF REAETH
AR AEBERRFEAREER
HEBEDHIA ARK10,022,000
7T (FHE 7 4912,075,0008 7T ) K& 49
AR #10,022,0007C (& R4
12,075,000/ 7T) °

BEREDSZ ¥ RAEERE
BEoENEE2HERERNUIK
HENAKEBEZERBE -HE_FT

—_—f+-_A=t+t—HIFE" A
EaEHARK202,0007T (FHE R
#9243,000/870) B FAIKSEE 5 &
U BR 3K #49243,0007 7T, ©

R-_ZE-_—FNA—HB A&£EH
INE B B8 77 Key Target Investments
Limited3] 32 7 AR FEHHRA T
*¥HEWE RN HEHERHERRKRE
AEELQRBREAREEREE
B & 49622,000/% 7T &622,000%
=5

BEZ-_—_F+=-_A=+—H1t
FE AEERFEAEESIVE
HEHER: HHAMTE - KA
ERRE  AEERAFERAEEE

kHEESA 1% #972,0007T &.72,0007%
JL(ZZF = —F : 108,0005 Tt &
108,000/ 7L ) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following material related party
transactions:

(@) Material transactions with related
parties

Apart from the balances and transactions with related
parties as set out elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Company had no other
transactions with related parties during the reporting
period.

(b) Key management personnel
compensation

The remuneration of the Directors and other
members of key management personnel during the
year were as follows:

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

. BB R

BRAARE IR E M T PR 2 X5
RAESRIN - ANE BRI LA T B KRR 77 2
5

(@) HEBANEXR S

IRER B B 5 ik E A3 05 P8 /Y
EELE,\\D%&Q%QI\ P KRR AR
SHIRY EEET A TMEMR
5o

(b) TEEEBAEBZME

EXERHEMIBEEEEABRFENRN
ZBiEE5an T

2022 2021

—Eg-= —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Short-term benefits EEIE A 931 2,345
Post-employment benefits BB 2R A 30 77
961 2,422

The remuneration of Directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee of the
Company having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

Other than the related party transactions disclosed
above, no other transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company or a
connected entity of the director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ire IR R MO T

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 47. AR B X EM B QA
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the RB|ERAR - ARG EEREERE W
Company at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BARIFIBIT :
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and fully
establishment/  paid share capital/ Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries __Operation  registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company Principal activities
#MAL/ MY/ BRIRAER ‘
WEAR £ TERY A/FRMEAFE AR AR 2B ERSLA AR AREEZREELS TEER
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
B ] B ]
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
=% = =% = =% = =% =
—ZE| =% —ZE| =% —ZE| =% —CZE ==k
Times Universal Canada Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - = 100% 100% - = 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
BRBERNEAGRAR B 1% 18T REER
Times Universal Group Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 100% 100% - = 100% 100% - — Investment holding
Limited
BREREEERAA B 18 187 REER
Times Universal Victoria Canada 1 share, CAD1 - — 100% 100% - — 100% 100% Hotel operation
Holdings Limited*
Times Universal Victoria mex 15+ 17t BEEE
Holdings Limited*
Times Universal Enterprise Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 100% 100% - = 100% 100% - — Investment holding
Limited
BREREZFERAR Eif 1% 18T RAER
Times Universal China Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - = 100% 100% - = 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
BRERTEERAA Bt 18 18 RE#R
Times Universal Hong Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - = 100% 100% - = 100% 100% Provision
Kong Limited of
administrative
support to
group companies
BREFEAERAR B 1% 18T ARER AR
THX R
Ultimate Frontier Limited BVI 1 share, US$1 - — 100% 100% - — 100% 100%  Investment holding
Ultimate Frontier Limited ABRAES I ENESH REER
Times Universal Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - = 100% 100% - = 100% 100% Inactive
Healthcare and Hotel
Management Service
Limited
BRIBRERBEEER B 1% 18T EEEK
RBAERAR
Capital Knight Limited BVI 1 share, US$1 - — 100% 100% - — 100% 100%  Investment holding
Capital Knight Limited EREAES 1% 1%x REARR
Easy Chase Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - — 100% 100% - — 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERARAA B 1% 187 RE#R
Forebase US Holdings USA 100 shares, 100% 100% - = 100% 100% - — Investment holding
Limited UUS$31 each
Forebase US Holdings EL 1004 - RARR
Limited FR3IET
Wanwei (Chongging) PRC US$400,000 - — 100% 100% - — 100% 100%  Investment holding
Business Management paid-up
Co., Ltd.** registered capital
5% (ER) 0 2ER ®8  H000ET AR
ARARF B mER
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T E TR ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_Z-_—#+-_fA=+—HAIFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 47. AR B ETEMB L RAFE (E)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and fully
establishment/  paid share capital/ Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation  registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company Principal activities
EMAL/AY/ ERARARR ‘
WEARZRE Lens A/EMEAHE mAARRE 2 ARERLA HARAREEZRERL A TEEH
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
B Gl B Gl
2022 2021 2022 202 2022 2021 2022 202
t 4 -z -z -z -z == -z ==
—ZE| —— —ZE| % —ZE| % —ZE ——F
Chongging Wanwei PRC RMB2,000,000 - — 100% 100% - — 100% 100%  Investment holding
Trading Development paid-up
Co., Ltd.** registered capital
EEERESERAR B AR¥?20000007 RE#R
G EoERAR
Nuofute Property PRC RMB5,000,000 - = 100% 100% - = 100% 100% Properties
Management Co., paid-up management
[td.** registered capital
BRAERVEERAR WE  ARK50000007 NEER
AR ESGMER
Freemaster Limited BVI 1 share, US$1 100% 100% — = 100% 100% — — Investment holding
Freemaster Limited KRRLHS 1% 1% RERER
Cherish Possession BVI 1 share, US$1 — = 100% 100% — = 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
Cherish Possession ABRAES 1% 15T RAER
Limited
Wise Profusion Enterprises BVI 1 share, US$1 100% 100% — = 100% 100% — — Investment holding
Limited
BEAEARAR B e IS RERR
Dragon Delight Group BYI N/A (2021: - 100% - - - 100% - — Investment holding
Limited (Note d) 1 share, US$1)
EREEERAT EREAES TaH RE#R
(Frzkd) (ZZB=—-%:
1%+ 1%7)
Best Master Limited Hong Kong N/A (2021 - = - 100% - = - 100% Cryptocurrency
(Note d) 1 share, HK$1) business
RAERAA (Wzd) A ( Kgﬁ MEEEEH
—EZF:
1% 1%71)
Ultimate Well Limited BVI 1 share, US$1 100% 100% — = 100% 100% — — Investment holding
(Note a)
Ultimate Well Limited RERRES 1% 157 REER
(Hizta)
Easy Reward Holdings BVI 1 share, US$1 100% 100% - = 100% 100% - — Investment holding
Limited (Note a)
Easy Reward Holdings EERTEE 1% 1%t RERR
Limited (Ff¥a)
Million Goal Limited Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - = 100% 100% - = 100% 100% Inactive
(Note a)
ERERAA (Mira) B 1% 187 TEER
Global Winner Hong Kong 1 share, HK$1 - = 100% 100% - = 100% 100%  Investment holding
Development Limited
_ (Notea) } \
REERARAA B 18 187 REHR
GED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=t+—HIFE

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 47. B AR T EW B~ EFFE (&)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and fully
establishment/  paid share capital/ Proportion of ownership Proportion of voting power
Name of subsidiaries operation  registered capital interest held by the Company held by the Company Principal activities
HMAL/RY/ EBRTRHER
WEAEER TEnd K/AMERRE MAA R A RERL A HARAREZREELS TEER
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE B BE B
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
ut 3 -z ut 3 s 4 ut 3 s 4 - k4
—ZE| ——-% —ZE| ——-% —ZE| ——-% et ——fF
Chongging Ailucjia** PRC RMB5,000,000 - — 100% 100% - — 100% 100%  Investment holding
(Note b) unpaid
registered capital
BRERRNBRBAR HE AR% RARR
MR 5,000,0007c
Chongging Haotai** PRC RMB500,000 - = 100% 100% - = 100% 100% Properties
(Note b) paid-up management
registered capital
BEEMERNEERAR E  ARM500,0007T NEEE
BERA (Hiztb) REEMER
Chongging Jia Duan PRC RMB2,000,000 - = 100% -100% - = 100% 100% Inactive
Technology Company unpaid registered
L|m|ted*“ (Note b) capital
ﬁ%ﬁ“ﬁﬂ&
LGN
(Note b)
BRTRANRARRE FE AR% EEEH
Aa)* (HizEb) 2,000,0007c
Chongging Qi Chang PRC RMB5,000,000 - = 100% 100% - = 100% 100% Inactive
Technology Company unpaid registered
Limited** (Note b) capital
BERLERR
HRAF (Note b)
EECERRARAA i AR% TEEK
(Fztb) 5,000,0007C
RETEMER
Chongging Ailo Foods PRC RMB1,000,000 - — 100% — - — 100% — Catering
Limited** (Note c) unpaid registered
capital
EEERRMARAH HE AR% %
#(fitsEc) 1,000,0007¢
2 For identification purpose only * el
# Wholly-owned foreign enterprises # INEBERE -
* Not audited by Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited ¢ WL R (BB) ST EHAER A A

Eix
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) These subsidiaries were newly incorporated during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

(b)  These subsidiaries were newly acquired during the year ended
31 December 2021. Details are disclosed in Note 39.

(c) These subsidiaries were newly incorporated during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

(d)  These subsidiaries were disposed during the year ended 31
December 2022. Details are disclosed in Note 40.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of both years or during both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

47. XA BT EMB A RS (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

ZEMNBARIINBE_T - —F+_H
=+—BIEFEHMEMAKL -

REWBAANRBE-S=—F =7
=+— R FRAAMATE o FERH
0B -

ZEMNBRARIIREBEE_TE=-_—_F1+=A
=t+—BIEFEHEMK ©

ZEMBARIIRNBE T _—F+_A
=+—HIEFELE - FIBERKIF40HE -

AL o B /B8 7 R 170 R 118 6 FE R kA P 1]
FEBTEMNEHES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

=

BT FFA=+—HIEFE

48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

TIMES UNIVERSAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

THE COMPANY

48. AR ZBM BRI R

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
Note HK$’000 HK$' 000
B 5 FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B AR — 24
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other receivables H b R UL BR 3K 40 341
Amounts due from subsidiaries A= NGIE ] 3,379 58,683
Cash and cash equivalents HekREEEY 11,984 14,650
15,403 73,674
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables H b ERTER SR 8,651 22,007
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN NGRS 6 —
Loans from a controlling — BRI ERER
shareholder 38,090 10,544
Bonds BE% 20,181 30,181
Tax liabilities HIEAE 4,000 4,000
70,928 66,732
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) (BB BEEFEE
ASSETS (55,525) 6,942
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERRBER
LIABILITIES (55,525) 6,966
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY ERBERE
Bonds (£ 10,000 20,000
NET LIABILITIES EEEHE (65,525) (13,034)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXRE#E
Share capital LN 441,350 441,350
Reserves f# (a) (506,875) (454,384)
TOTAL DEFICITS 48 55 4b (65,525) (13,034)
The Company’s statement of financial position was KRR R ZBBARRZ AR R 2 AR E
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of R-E_=ZF=—A=tHEZEEZSHER
Directors on 30 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf BHEETIZE - WU TATRERESE

by:

Choi Yun Chor

-9
Director

=

Tai Kwok Keung Kenny

=&
Director

=

RARRERZRARLDHE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E TR ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__HF+_A=+—HLFE

48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 48. KRR Z AR IR & (
THE COMPANY (Continued)

&)

Note (a): MEE(a)
Contribution Exchange Accumulated
reserve reserve losses Total
HERE E R S 3 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FHEIT FHET FHBT
At 1 January 2021 R-ZZE=-_—%—H—H 8,478 (12,623) (427,586) (431,731)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEEEBEEREERSYBE
for the year = — (22,653) (22,653)
At 31 December 2021 RZT=—F
+=-A=1+—8 8,478 (12,623) (450,239) (454,384)
Loss and total comprehensive expense AEEEEMNEERAY B8
for the year = = (52,491) (52,491)
At 31 December 2022 R-B_-—F
+=ZHA=+—H 8,478 (12,623) (502,730) (506,875)
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Five-year Financial Summary

AFETBHRE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
TN\ ZE-NAF —F-TF —T-——F | -B==Z
(Restated) (Restated)
(251) (2%1))

Consolidated statement of profit or loss #ZHEBERHEMEE

and other comprehensive income Wk (FEx)

(HK$'000)
Revenue from continuing operations FER S T W 94,582 92,228 58,803 77,700 96,055
Loss before tax from SIE R R PSR AT

continuing operations &8 (20,584) (30,816) (79,969) (24,728) (28,313)
Loss after income tax and attributable to B Ei5 R & AN A B HA A

owner of the Company FEIEEE (21,820) (30,444) (78,780) (20,940) (28,348)
Basic loss per share/(HK cents) FREARERE W)

— From continuing operations — FELEER (4.11) (4.00) (8.52) (1.60) (2.21)

— From discontinued operation — BRIEREER = = = (0.38) (0.32)
Diluted loss per share/(HK cents) SR EE OBIL)

— From continuing operations —RELEER (4.11) NATER NATEA NATER | NAFREA

— From discontinued operation — BRIERE X — — — — —
Consolidated statement of SBAEMBRRER (FBT)

financial position (HK$’000)
Nonsclirtentassets e EREIRE T (O = G e | 108,584
Current assets TEEE 46,306 36,027 61,233 56,294 28,727
Current liabilities TEARE (37,756) (100,057) (88,549) (131,786) (131,882)
Netcurrentassets (lablities) ~~HBREREFE 8550, 640301 | (@73l6) | U78d93)|  (103,155)
Non-ourentliabiliies Fm@afE  (103802) 67229 ©6645) (33649) |  (20,293)
Net assets (liabilities) BE (BFE)#E 64,119 61,120 35,726 16,274 (14,866)
Share information (HK$) RABER (Ex)
Highest share price RERE $0.58 $0.55 $0.26 $0.14 $0.136
Lowest share price HERE $0.26 $0.22 $0.12 $0.07 $0.060
Year end closing share price FRMARE $0.34 $0.26 $0.13 $0.07 $0.088
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